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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
X  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-35003

RigNet, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 76-067720¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 30t
Houston, Texas 77074760
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codg281) 674-0100
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere

Common Stock, $0.001 par val NASDAQ Global Select Marke

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co8#turities Act. Yes™ No x
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes™ No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:h@dg filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtl3 or 15(d) of the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 moffthsfor such shorter period that the registrans wequired to file such reports),
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementdtfe past 90 days. Yeg No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hémsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokéfeb site, if any, every Interacti
Data File required to be submitted and posted @untsio Rule 405 of RegulationSduring the preceding 12 months (or for such srqueriot
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yesx No ©

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquélers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkSs not contained herein, and will not
contained, to the best of registranknowledge, in definitive proxy or information weents incorporated by reference in Part Il @ #orm
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axcelerated filer, or a smaller repor
company. See the definition of “large acceleratted,f “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportimpmpany” in Rule 1212 of the Exchange A«
(Check one):

Large accelerated file ~ Accelerated filel X
Non-accelerated file - Smaller reporting compar

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbel company (as defined in Rule -2 of the Act). Yes™ No x



As of June 30, 2011, the aggregate market valdibeofegistrant's common stock, $0.001 par valuespare (the “Common StockRelc
by nonaffiliates of the registrant on such date was apiprately $261.4 million. For purposes of this céétion, only executives and direct
are deemed to be affiliates of the registrant. Ardh 1, 2012, there were outstanding 15,443,30fesldd the registrant’'s Common Stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrast'definitive Proxy Statement for its 2012 Annual édeg of Stockholders to be filed with the Comnus
within 120 days of December 31, 2011 are incorgatdierein by reference in Part Ill of this Annuaip@rt.
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PART |
Item 1.Business
Overview

We are a leading network infrastructure providenvisg the remote communications needs of the od gas industry. Through
controlled and managed IP/MPLS (Internet Protocaltidrotocol Label Switching) global network, welider voice, data, video and otl
collaborative services under a mubiinant revenue model. Our customers use our semmenunications and private extranet to ma
information flows and execute missiantical operations primarily in remote areas wheamventional telecommunications infrastructui
either unavailable or unreliable. We offer our otewhat is often the sole means of communicatiitis their remote operations, includ
offshore and landhased drilling rigs, offshore and onshore produrctarilities, energy maritime vessels and regiaglport offices. To enst
the maximum reliability demanded by our customers,deliver our services through our IP/MPLS globatwork, tuned and optimized
communications with remote endpoints, that seniésarmd gas customers both in the United States ianghternational markets. As
December 31, 2011, we were the primary provideremiote communications and collaborative serviceggproximately 400 custom
reaching about 1,000 remote sites located in oQ@ezaBintries on six continents. For the twelve memhded December 31, 2011, our rewv
generated from countries outside of the U.S. regmtes! 68.0% of total revenue.

The emergence of highly sophisticated processidgvésualization systems has allowed oil and gaspzories to make decisions base:
reliable and secure retine information carried by our network from anywién the world to their home offices. We deliverrtkey solution
and valueadded services that simplify the management ofipleltommunications services, allowing our cust@nerfocus their attention
their core oil and gas drilling and production agigms. Our customer solutions enable broadbara datce and video communications v
quality, reliability, security and scalability thistsuperior to conventional switched transporvoeks. Key aspects of our services include:

* managed services solutions offered at a per s#iedpy subscription rate primarily through custoragreements with terms t|
typically range from one month to three years, witme customer agreement terms as long as five;

» enhanced er-to-end IP/MPLS global network to ensure significarghgater network reliability, faster trouble shogtiand servic
restoration time and quality of service for varidosns of data traffic

* enhanced end-tend IP/MPLS network allows new components to bggdal into our network and be immediately availdbfeuse
(plug-anc-play);

* a network designed to accommodate multiple custagneups resident at a site, including rig ownerdljeds, operators, servi
companies and p-pel-use individuals

» value-added services, such as -Fi hotspots, Internet kiosks and video conferencioenefiting the multiple customer gro
resident at a site

* proactive network monitoring and management throaigietwork operations center that actively managaork reliability at a
times and serves as ar-bound call center for trouble shooting, 24 hounsdzg/, 365 days per ye:

» engineering and design services to determine thepapate product and service solution for eacharusr;
* installation of o-site equipment designed to perform in extreme awdmenvironments with minimal maintenance;

* maintenance and support through loc-deployed engineering and service support teamsedlsas warehoused spare equipr
inventories

We believe our solutions help our customers ina@dhsir revenue and better manage their costs eswlirce allocations through
delivery, use and management of risade information. We believe our commitment to eustomers and the embedded nature of our soll
strengthens and extends our customer relationships.

We have lower capital expenditures than other remotmmunications providers because we do not ovaperate any satellites, deve
or manufacture communications or networking equiptnewn terrestrial wireless facilities and lanékn or, as a general rule, own or ope
teleport facilities and data centers. In order ovjzle our end-to-end services, we procure bandwidim independent fixed satelliservice
operators and terrestrial wireless and landline
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providers to meet the needs of our customers fdrterend IPbased communications. We own the network infratirecand communicatio
equipment we install at remote sites as well agocated equipment in third party teleport facilitiand data centers, all of which we pro
through various high quality equipment providery. &vning the network infrastructure and communimagi equipment on the custor
premises, we are better able to ensure the higltygqo&our products and services and agnosticadliect the optimal equipment suite for €
customer. Our network and communications serviceslasigned to accommodate all customers at reoilcded gas sites including rig own
(drillers), operators, service companies and paydge individuals, such as afiaty rig workers and visiting contractors, vendarsl othe
visitors. Our communications services are initiaffered to drillers, and the initial capital inte®nt is scaled by ugelling communicatior
services to other parties present on the rigs, sischperators, service companies and pay-per-ubéadnals, as well as through the cross-
selling of value-added services.

For convenience in this Annual Report on Form 104RigNet”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and “ourtefer to RigNet, Inc. and
subsidiaries taken as a whole, unless otherwissdnot

Our Industry

The remote telecommunications industry is highlynpetitive with a wide variety of companies and raatential entrants from adjac
vertical markets and from within the broader vathain. Within the remote telecommunications indysire serve oil and gas companies
operate their remote locations through global “gisvaonnectedhetworks driving demand for communications servimed managed servic
solutions that can operate reliably in increasingiyote areas under harsh environmental conditions.

The oil and gas industry depends on maximum rdifgpguality and continuity of products and seesc Oil and gas companies v
geographically dispersed operations are partioutadtivated to use secure and highly reliable comigations networks due to several fact

» 0il and gas companies rely on secure tieaé data collection and transfer methods for tfe sind efficient coordination of rem
operations

» technological advances in drilling techniques, enivoy declining production from existing oil andsdelds and strong hydrocark
demand, have enabled increased exploitation ohofés deepwater reserves and development of unctiomahreserves (e.l
shales and tight sands) that require-time data access by personnel in field and headesfto optimize performance; a

» transmission of increased data volumes and thee-data management and access to key decisioermakable customers
maximize operational results, safety and finang@&aformance

While we experience competition in our markets, edieve that our established relationships witht@uers and proven performai
serve as significant barriers to entry.

Operations

Our business operations are divided into threertaple segments: eastern hemisphere, western heenéspnd U.S. land. For financ
information about our reportable segments, see Ndte— “Segment Informationin our consolidated financial statements includedhis
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Eastern Hemisphere

Our eastern hemisphere segment services are pedoout of our Norway, Qatar, United Kingdom anddgajpore based offices -
customers and rig sites located on the easternafittee Atlantic Ocean primarily off the coaststbé U.K., Norway and West Africa, arot
the Indian Ocean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and Indiund the Pacific Ocean near Australia, and witthie South China Sea. As
December 31, 2011, this segment was serving appeigly 147 jack up, senskbmersible and drillship rigs which we approximitebe i
28.7% market share of such rigs based on anREtfedata RigBase Current Activity report as of &@aber 1, 2011. As of December 31, 2
this segment also was serving approximately 18@radftes, which include production facilities, egyesupport vessels, land rigs, and rel
remote support offices and supply bases.
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Western Hemisphere

Our western hemisphere segment services are pexfoout of our United States and Brazil based offif® customers and rig si
located on the western side of the Atlantic Oceamarily off the coasts of the United States, Mex&nd Brazil, and within the Gulf
Mexico, but excluding land rigs and other ldpased sites in the U.S. As of December 31, 2014 stgment was serving approximately 81
up, semi-submersible and drillship rigs which weragimate to be a 33.1% market share of such raggeth on an IHPetrodata RigBa:
Current Activity report as of December 1, 2011.fDecember 31, 2011, this segment also was seappgoximately 144 other sites, wh
include production facilities, energy support véssad related remote support offices and suppbeda

U.S. Land

Our U.S. land segment provides remote communicsi$envices for drilling rigs, completions and proitilon facilities located onshore
the U.S. Our U.S. land segment services are dotemi¢ of our Louisiandased office for customers and sites located irctimtinental Unite
States. We further provide installation and sensapport from ten other service centers and equiprdepots located in key oil and
producing areas around the continental United State of December 31, 2011, this segment was sgproximately 338 onshore drilli
rigs and 157 other remote sites that consist ofptetion, production and other sites. We have apprately a 17.2% market share for onsi
drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes North AmericatdRy Rig Count report for December 31, 2011. Owdpct suite consists of voice, di
Internet access and emergency response serviceg alth communications services within the rig lboa such as wired and wirele
intercoms and twevay radios. This segment leverages the same netimbdstructure and network operations center ugeour other tw:
operating segments.

Our Strategy
To serve our customers and grow our business, teadrito pursue aggressively the following strategie
« expand our share of the growing number of offslaor onshore drilling rigs
* increase secondary customer penetration on outirexigmote sites
» develop and market additional va-added products and services; i
« extend our market presence into complementary rec@nmunications segments through organic growdhstnategic acquisition

Expand our share of the growing number of offshoend onshore drilling rigs:We intend to expand our drilling rig market shap
increasing our penetration of the market for neldy# rigs, capturing existing rigs from competdobecause of our superior performa
landing fleetwide opportunities with major drillers made avalals a result of drilling rig industry consolidati improving penetration
underserved and new geographic markets and cagtopiportunities for reactivated stacked rigs (tarking refers to when a rig is expecte
be taken out of service for a protracted periodira€). For example, several of our largest custen@wve recently completed acquisition
rigs that are currently served by competitors. éligh there is no contractual obligation by our comsdrs to transition these rigs to us,
believe we are strongly positioned to competetiesé new rigs. Because of our established reldtipssvith our customers, reliable and rol
service offerings and best-in-class customer servie believe that we are wglbsitioned to capture new build and reactivatedk&td rigs the
our customers add to their fleets as well as tamigglly gain market share against other providéne table below presents global fixed
floating rigs which, as of December 30, 2011, ateeduled to be delivered between 2012 and 2015.

5
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Fixed and Floating Rigs Scheduled for Delivery
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We intend to continue to expand our penetratiothefU.S. and international onshore drilling rig keir Global onshore drilling rig cot
is expected to increase by a consolidated annoalthrrate (CAGR) of 3.2% between 2012 and 2015 raieg to projections provided by 1
Spears & Associates Drilling and Production Outlodle believe we are weflesitioned to increase our penetration in this sagrbecause
our experience in the U.S. onshore drilling rig kedy our indepth understanding of the needs of oil and ga®mess, high quality of servi
and global data network infrastructure.
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Increase secondary customer penetratio/e intend to continue to scale our initial capitatestment with rig owners by using
incumbent position at remote sites to serve otseraion the rigs. We will seek to increase revemitie low incremental capital costs by up-
selling our services to other parties on the figeduction platforms and energy support vessetdyding drillers, operators, services compa
and pay-per-use individuals.

Develop and market additional value-added producied services:We intend to continue to serve our customengeds b
commercializing additional products and serviceg ttomplement our wide array of available remotamanications services. We expect
over the next several years our customer baseevjllire a variety of new services such as tiea¢- functionality, videoconferencing, softw
acceleration technology, WiFi hotspots and media, e will seek to position ourselves to capture meisiness opportunities. Additiona
with the continuously growing demand for commurimabased products and increased network speed inilth@d gas industry, we exp:
bandwidth requirements for our existing customerscontinue to increase. Through our engineeringedige, technical sales force
operational capabilities, we will continue to p@sitourselves to offer our customers a full ranffeemote communications services at diffe
levels within customer organizations.

Extend our market presence into complementary reenobmmunications segments through organic growthdastrategic acquisition:
Our market presence and proven quality of servifar gignificant organic growth opportunities indated adjacent upstream energy segr
where we are well positioned to deliver remote camitations solutions. Targeted segments includdreg® energy vessels (includ
seismic and offshore support and supply vessefghare fixed and floating production facilities caiternational onshore drilling rigs &
production facilities. In addition, we will contieuo look for and review opportunities in other sencommunications market adjacencies
offer significant opportunities for growth and whewe are well positioned to take advantage of tbgpertunities.

We are also focused on expanding our competitivik@bgosition through strategic acquisitions. As eeatinue to focus on expand
the target markets for our products, services asidtiens, we plan to selectively acquire comparaesi/or technologies that would
complementary to our existing business. Strategiiigition opportunities may be pursued to enhangeoperations and further our stratt
objectives. We have no agreements or commitmerlsrespect to any acquisitions at this time.

Competitive Strengths
As a leading communications network infrastructur@vider within the oil and gas industry, our cotilpee strengths include:
* missior-critical services delivered by a trusted providéhva global network and operatior
» high-quality customer support with full time monitoriagd regional service cente
» operational leverage and multiple paths to growgtpsrted by a pl.-anc-play IP/MPLS global platforrr
» scalable systems using standardized equipmenietreriage our global infrastructui
» flexible, provide-neutral technology platform; ar
* long-term relationships with leading companies in tHend gas industry

Mission-critical services delivered by a trustedopider with global operationsOur focus on the oil and gas industry provides itk ar
in-depth understanding of the missioritical needs of our customers that enables usitor our services to their requirements. Our roek
reliability and responsive customer service, alaiitp the high switching costs associated with cliag@ut remote communications provid:
provide us with a high rate of customer retentiOnir global presence allows us to serve our cligriterever they may operate around
world, except where U.S. government restrictiony rapply. Our global terrestrial network also allows to provide quality of service
prioritize various forms of data traffic for a mopéeasing end user experience. Our ability to offer customers such global coverage se
apart from regional competitors at a time whenaustomers are expanding the geographic reach wfdiva businesses, exploring for oil ¢
gas reserves in more remote locations and seekiriggys that can match the breadth of their glopatations and speed of deployment.

High-quality customer support with full-time moniting and regional service centersOur IP/MPLS global network allows us
provide high quality customer care by enablingambnitor the network end-terd so that we can easily and rapidly identify segblve an
network problems that our customers may experiehsaf December

7
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31, 2011, we had 28 service operations centersvareéhouses to support and service our custonrerabte sites. A Global Netwc
Operations Center located in Houston, Texas idesté#4 hours per day, 365 days per year. We provatestop, end-t@nd monitoring ar
technical support for every customer. This proa&ctietwork monitoring allows us to detect problenstdantly and keep our services runnir
optimum efficiency. Fully managed technology is ey kreason why we can support solutions that delhigh performance and n
technologies that improve productivity. As of Dedmn31, 2011, our U.S. land segment, which is oheun three reportable segme
discussed below, was supported through a netwollBdfeld service centers and equipment depotstéatin major oil and gas regions in
continental United States. Our onshore footpritdved us to respond with high quality sai&y service for the shorter drilling cycles inhe
in onshore drilling where rapid installation, deguissioning and repair services are required. Wentag field technicians as well as adeq
spare parts and equipment inventory levels in teeséce centers.

Operational leverage and multiple paths to growthipported by a plug-and-play IP/MPLS platformOur scalable, standardiz
communications platform provides us with plug-guidy capabilities to easily expand or improve ssvofferings. Our IP/MPLS glok
platform allows us the ability to add additionahdees to our standard offerings or change ouriserefferings on a rig, production platforr
energy support vessel with little incremental aoste installed onsite. We can offer these sentized! users of the rig, production platforn
energy support vessel, including drillers, opetservice companies and pay-per-use individualsh as offduty rig workers and visitir
contractors, vendors and others. We expect thisatipg leverage to help drive an expansion in odjusted EBITDA, which is defined
Item 6. “Selected Financial Data” of this Annualgee on Form 1K. We expect the demand for our products and sesvio continue -
increase as oil and gas producers continue to tinmethe infrastructure needed to commercially e deepwater reserves. Our IP/MI
global platform gives us an important advantageoffgring greater reliability, scalability, flexilify and security than conventional switc
transports and accounts for what we believe to lkeyareason for the market share we have todambte installations on offshore ¢
onshore drilling rigs with the potential that wenddt that market share over time.

Scalable systems using standardized equipment inatrages our global infrastructureWWe have built our global satellite and terres
network with a significant amount of excess capatttsupport our growth without substantial increxad capital investment. Our knowlec
and capabilities can be applied to rigs and otberate sites located anywhere in the world. We Instandardized equipment on each ri
remote site, which allows us to provide support amaintenance services for our equipment in a effgtient manner. Not all of tt
components of equipment that we install on eaclarggthe same, but the components that vary aretinm number and tend to be the s
for rigs located in the same geography. As of Ddmam31, 2011, we leased capacity from 22 satellited are cdecated in 21 teleports and
datacenters worldwide in order to provide our em@itd solutions. By leasing rather than owning retwork enablers and owning the site
equipment on each rig, we are able to both minintiee capital investment required by the base nétvifrastructure and maintain 1
flexibility to install high quality equipment on earig tailored to its locale and environmental ditions. We do own and manage the IP |
end-toend. The standardized nature of our equipment nimeisnexecution risk, lowers maintenance and inwgntarrying costs and enak
ease of service support. In addition, we are abfernain current with technology upgrades due tabagk-end flexibility.

Flexible, provider-neutral technology platformBecause we procure communications connections etwbrks and equipment from th
parties, we are able to customize the best soldtorour customersheeds and reduce our required fixed capital investsa We aim 1
preserve the flexibility to select particular seevproviders and equipment so that we may acceliphaproviders and avoid downtime if ¢
of our initial providers were to experience anylpemns. By procuring bandwidth from a variety of commications providers instead of own
our own satellites, we are able to minimize capitabstment requirements and can expand our gebigrapverage in response to customers’
needs with much greater flexibility. Our productdagervice portfolio offers best-iclass technology platforms using the optimal ¢
communications and networking capabilities for oostrs. This best-dfreed approach does contrast with some of ourdagapetitors wh
are more backward integrated in the value chainhave a more limited solutions toolkit as a result.

Long-term relationships with leading companies ihe oil and gas industryWe have established relationships with some ofdtges
companies in the global oil and gas industry. Saheur key customers are the leading contractedsllaround the globe, with combil
offshore fleets of hundreds of rigs. In many caslesse customers are investment grade rated coewpaith high standards of service
favor strategic providers such as RigNet and worgartnership with us to serve their remote openati

8
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Service Offerings

We offer a comprehensive communications packag®ick, data, video, networking and real-time datmagement to offshore and land-
based remote locations. We are a single sourcéicmduprovider that links multiple offshore or retasite rigs and production facilities w
real-time onshore decision centers and applications

The main services we offer are high quality voieerelnternet-protocol, or VolP, data and higjpeed Internet access. In addition,
increasingly provide other valsded services, such as video conferencing sokjtibarboNet WAN (for wide area network) accelena
solutions, real-time data management solutionsFiMietspots and Internet kiosks, Secure Oil InfdramaLink (SOIL), wireless intercoms a
handheld radios. The price for these vahdeled services is generally included in the dag estd becomes incorporated into the recu
revenue from our customers.

Video Conferencing Solutions

The oil and gas industry increasingly uses videaf@®ncing to save significant amounts of time asdlice costs. As an alternative
excessive travel and traditional meetings, videofe@ncing improves collaboration and expeditedsifat making. We provide a comple
highperformance video conferencing solution scalableafavide range of uses. Video conferencing sercae be delivered securely ¢
reliably over our SOIL private extranet and is theanded as SOIL Meeting. Increasingly, we are al@py videoconferencing solutions
remote sites, allowing our customers to conduatiseand reliable videoconferences between theicasffand their remote sites.

In addition, in 2009, we began offering higésolution hand held wireless cameras through emdRe View service that allows expert
offices to troubleshoot equipment at remote sitdsch can save customers time and money, with tesigrcessful deployments in the Gul
Mexico and the North Sea. This service is alsovdedid over our SOIL network.

TurboNet Solutions

Our customers are increasingly pushing softwardicgipn use to the edge of their networks (remsites such as drilling ric
production facilities and vessels). While VSAT centions are reliable, many software applicatiorsrant designed to perform optimally o
highly latent satellite links. Working with RiverbeTechnology, Inc., or Riverbed, we deploy infrasture appliances to improve
performance of clienserver interactions over WANs without breaking sleenantics of the protocols, file systems or apptoa. Whether ot
customers are copying a file from a distant fileveg getting mail from a remote exchange servackimg up remote file servers to a i
datacenter or sending very large files to colleagat headquarters, slow WANs cost time and monég dosts are borne in redunc
infrastructure, over-provisioned bandwidth, and [m®ductivity.

Working with Riverbed’'s appliances, RigNet's TurbetNsolution can improve the performance, or thrgugh of clientserve
interactions over WANs by up to 100 times, givilg tend user the appearance that the server is fattedr than remote. That degret
apparent network speed improvement enables ouproess to centralize currently distributed resouriles storage, mail servers and
servers and deliver new WADBased IT services that have not been possible dadftt only do the software applications perfornmrenas the
would in offices, but our customers may bettermpte the use of expensive satellite bandwidth.
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Wi-Fi Hotspot and Internet Kiosk

We offer WiFi hotspot and Internet kiosk solutidhat facilitate access to the Internet by bsed personnel. This is advantageous fi
owners who seek to improve the quality of life é&nployees by providing Internet access in the ¢j\goarters, and for service companies
seek officelike connectivity for their technicians and engireeeThe WiFi hotspot and Internet kiosk solutiomevide ready access witt
familiar user interface without requiring specializequipment to connect to the service. Theseisntitare either paid for by the busir
customer as a benefit to its remote employeeseopaid for on a pay-per-use basis by individuals.

SOIL (Secure Qil Information Link)

In addition to the services we provide to offsharel onshore remote sites, we also operate a ptagriexranet enabling oil compar
and their counterparties, such as rig owners, ceresdmpanies and application service providergotimect and collaborate on a higppeec
secure and reliable basis. We acquired SOIL in 2868ugh the acquisition of 100% of OilCamp, AQ\arwegianbased provider that bec
operating the network in 1998.

As of December 31, 2011, SOIL’s valadded services were being provided to more thano#0&nd gas operators, service compe
and other industry suppliers throughout the Norta 82gion. These customers use our SOIL serviceglliimborate with partners and suppl
or for internal company communications. We inteagxtend the SOIL network to our other geographéas of high oil and gas drilling &
production activity.

Our SOIL network is a fully managed, high-perform@nmemberenly communications network hub that enables collative partner
suppliers and customers to transfer and shareqiatkly, reliably and securely. We believe thatstione-tomany private extranet is a ¢
effective and easy-to-deploy alternative to buiddout point-topoint VPN (virtual private network) connections.eThetwork members do t
have to extend the extranet to other partnersmplgrs individually. With one link to SOIL, cliestare connected to all other members.

With a service level uptime commitment of 99.7%r @OIL network supports a wide range of bandwidtiosn 64 Kbps to 1 Gbp
offering speed and reliability ideal for a varietfyapplications used in the oil and gas industryvali as valueadded services we provide s
as SOIL Meeting (video conferencing) and SOIL Huogtiapplication hosting). SOIL offers clients gtyalof service and a guarants
bandwidth that may be increased or decreased d@ngarequirements.

We charge a monthly subscription fee for accessutoSOIL network depending on the desired accessdsgdn addition, we charge
installation of the required equipment and valudeatiservices.

Customer Contracts

In order to streamline the addition of new projeants solidify our position in the market, we haigned agreements with most custor
that define the contractual relationship with aidagas producers, service companies and drillimgpamies for our offshore and labdse!
telecommunications services. The specific servilmng provided are defined under individual senadcders that have a term of one to tl
years with renewal options, while le-based locations are generally shorter term or teabié on short notice without penalty. Service o
are executed under the customer agreements fatidodi remote sites or groups of sites, and gelyenasdy be terminated early on short no
without penalty in the event of force majeure, breaf the agreement or cold stacking of a drilliigg

Customers

We have an international customer base comprisiagynof the largest drilling contractors, exploratiand production companies
oilfield services companies. Our largest custorNehle Corporation, accounted for approximately %2 @f our total revenue for 2011.
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Suppliers

Although we have preferred suppliers of telecommatidons and networking equipment, nearly all tedban utilized in our solutions
available from more than one supplier. The staridaddequipment may be deployed across any sitig@n any geographic area.

In addition, we do not rely on one satellite pravridor our entire satellite bandwidth needs exdéeptertain instances in which only ¢
satellite bandwidth provider is available in an &g location, which is typically due to licenginestrictions. This approach generally all
us flexibility to use the satellite provider thdtess the best service for specific areas and sngk providers if one provider experiences
problems.

Competition

The remote telecommunications industry is highlynpetitive. We expect competition in the marketd tha serve to persist, intens
and change, consistent with recent industry codatitin. We face varying degrees of competition fimmvide variety of companies, includ
new potential entrants from providers to adjacentizal markets and from forward integration by soaf our suppliers deeper in the indu
value chain, since successful service and systerdamment is not necessarily dependent upon sufetéinancial resources.

Our primary global competitors in upstream oil ajas include Harris CorporatigHarris CapRock Communiations and a portion ¢
enterprise segment of Inmarsat pldnmarsat Solutions. Most recently, our industectsr has experienced consolidation with H
Corporation’s acquisitions of CapRock Communicatidmc. and Schlumberger LeiGlobal Connectivity Services division. In additjgher:
are a range of regional providers serving smallestamers. Specifically in our U.S. land segment,als face competition from: drillir
instrumentation providers; living quarters compangnd other pure-play providers like us.

Our customers generally choose their provider(sgan the quality and reliability of the serviceldhe ability to restore service quic
when there is an outage. Pricing and breadth oficeeiofferings is also a factor. The oil and gadustry depends on maximum reliabil
quality and continuity of products and service.dbfished relationships with customers and provefopeance serve as significant barrier
entry.

Government Regulation

The provision of telecommunications is highly regatd. We are required to comply with the laws asgllations of, and often obt:
approvals from, national and local authorities @ammection with most of the services we providetha United States, we are subject tc
regulatory authority of the United States, primatihe Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Retigin of the telecommunicatio
industry continues to change rapidly. Our U.S. isexvare currently provided on a private carriesidand are therefore subject to light o
regulation by the FCC and other federal, statelacal agencies. However, if the FCC or one or nstage public utility commissions determ
that our services or the services of our subsigsaor affiliates constitute common carrier offesraubject to Title Il of the Communicatic
Act, associated FCC regulations, and similar skaves, we may be subject to significant costs tousmsompliance with the applica
provisions of those laws and regulations. We maguigect to enforcement actions including, butliited to, fines, cease and desist orc
or other penalties if we fail to comply with thasguirements.

Further, VolP services that permit subscribers gndscalls to and receive calls from the traditiotelephone network, known
interconnected VolIP services, are generally sulifethe regulatory authority of the FCC. We do hetieve that the VoIP services that
currently provide were intended by the FCC to besodered “interconnected VolPHowever, if our VoIP services were determine
constitute interconnected VolP, we would becomgesuifto a number of regulatory requirements inalgdbbligations to pay into the Univer
Service Fund, accommodate the needs of disablesbp®r protect customer proprietary network inforamt provide E911 services, ¢
Compliance with those requirements may involve ifiggmt costs, and we could be subject to enforggraetions including, but not limited
fines, cease and desist orders, or other penéltiesfail to comply with those requirements.

We are subject to export control laws and regutatidrade and economic sanction laws and regukatibhe United States with resg
to the export of telecommunications equipment amises. Certain aspects of our business are alsiec to state and local regulation.
typically have to register to provide our teleconmications services in each country in which we deitess. The laws and regulati
governing these services are often complex andesuti) change. At times, the rigs or vessels orclwbur equipment is located and to wi
our services are provided will need to operate mew location on short notice and we must quicldgister to provide our services in s
country.
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Failure to comply with any of the laws and reguat to which we are subject may result in varioasctons, including fines, loss
authorizations and denial of applications for nawharizations or for renewal of existing authoriaas. We are also subject to the For
Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits payment obes or giving anything of value to foreign goverent officials for the purpose of obtain
or retaining business or gaining a competitive atige.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately 24B time employees consisting of 24 employees ilesand marketing, !
employees in finance and administration, 146 engsgyin operations and technical support and 19@mees in management. We believe
employee relations are good.

Geographic Information

See Note 14—"Segment Information,” to our consaidafinancial statements included elsewhere in Ameual Report on Form 1R-
for more information regarding geographic areasenve.

Other Information
Corporate Structure and History

We were incorporated in Delaware on July 6, 2004r. @edecessor began operations in 2000 as Rigidetd Texas corporation. In J
2004, our predecessor merged into us. The commtionisaservices we provide to the offshore drillamgd production industry were establis
in 2001 by our predecessor, who established irdfedrations in the Asia Pacific region. Since wguated our predecessor in 2004, we |
evolved into one of the leading global providerseshote communications services in the offshorirdgiand production industry. In 2006,
expanded our services to labdsed, coastal and some shallow water drilling thiggugh the acquisition of a controlling interestandTel, i
leading provider of remote communications to thetéthStates onshore drilling industry. We acquiréd0% of LandTel in September 20
We acquired the remaining 25.0% of LandTel betweeoember 2008 and December 2010.

Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 1&88ry Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77077r @wain telephone number
(281) 674-0100.

Company Website

The Company’s internet website_is www.rig.ndthe Company makes available free of charge oneétssite Annual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reporid=orm 8K, and amendments to those reports filed or fuedspursuant to Section 13
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934amgnded.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements, within the meaning of Secti@A »f the Securities Act of 192
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities BgehAct of 1934, as amended, that are subjectimaber of risks and uncertainties, m
of which are beyond the Company’s control. Theatestents may include statements about:

» potential impact of the recent rig explosion in @Gelf of Mexico and resulting oil spil

» competition and competitive factors in the marketwhich we operate

» demand for our products and servic

» the advantages of our services compared to ot

» changes in customer preferences and our abiliaggdépt our product and services offerir

» our ability to develop and maintain positive redaships with our customer

» our ability to retain and hire necessary employaresappropriately staff our marketing, sales asttibution efforts.
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e our cash needs and expectations regarding casHrbomvoperations

» our ability to manage and grow our business andwreour business strateg
e our strategy

« our financial performance; ar

» the costs associated with being a public comp

These forward-looking statements may be foundemli. “Business;” Item 1A. “Risk Factors;” ltem“Managements Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gqiems” and other items within this Annual Repomntfeorm 10-K. In some cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by terminolaggh as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “would,”“may,” “expect,” “plan,” “project,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “pmdict,” “potential,” “pursue,” “target,” “continue,’the negative of such terms or of
comparable terminology that convey uncertainty wiufe events or outcomes. All of these types ofestants, other than statement:
historical fact included in this Annual Report oorf 10-K, are forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements contained in thisda Report on Form 1B-are largely based on Company expectations, wtgtiaci
estimates and assumptions made by Company managefiese estimates and assumptions reflect managereest judgment based
currently known market conditions and other factédshough the Company believes such estimatesaasdmptions to be reasonable, the
inherently uncertain and involve a number of rigksl uncertainties beyond its control. In additimanagemens$ assumptions may prove tc
inaccurate. The Company cautions that the fori@o#ling statements contained in this Annual Repan¢ not guarantees of fut
performance, and it cannot assure any reader tichtstatements will be realized or the forwlrdking statements or events will occur. Fu
results may differ materially from those anticighter implied in forward looking statements due dotbrs listed in the “Risk Factorseéctiot
and elsewhere in this Annual Report on FornKL0f one or more of these factors materializeif @ny underlying assumptions prove incorr
our future results, performance or achievements vaay materially from any future results, perforroaror achievements expressed or imj
by these forward-looking statements. The forwlamking statements speak only as of the date maa,other than as required by law,
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly updateevise any forwartboking statement, whether as a result of new mftdion, futur
events or otherwise.

About Third-Party Information

In this report, the Company relies on and refermtormation regarding industry data obtained fromarket research, publicly availa
information, industry publications, and other thpdrties. Although the Company believes the infdromais reliable, it cannot guarantee
accuracy or completeness of the information anc ment independently verified it.

Ite m 1A. Risk Factors

Our business has many risks. Factors that coul@nally affect our business, financial position,ecgting results or liquidity and t
trading price of our units are described below sTihformation should be considered carefully, thgetwvith other information in this report ¢
other reports and materials we file with the Semgiand Exchange Commission, or the SEC.

Any loss of a rig on which our equipment is locatedll likely lead to a complete loss of our equipmnteon that rig and a loss of the
revenue related to that rig.

At the commencement of a new service contract fig,ave generally install approximately $100,0005400,000 worth of equipment
each offshore drilling rig. If a rig were to sinkiacur substantial damage for any reason, we wmgdt likely lose all of our equipment. We
not insure for such losses as we believe the dastiah insurance outweighs the risk of potentiakldn addition to the loss of the equipm
we would likely lose the revenue related to thgtumnder the terms of most of our existing contragtso, we may be committed to paying
costs to secure satellite bandwidth for that rigarmagreements with third party satellite commutidcaproviders even after the rig is no lor
in service. Losses of rigs can occur as a resuttatdistrophic events such as hurricanes, firerdirg). Such catastrophic events can o
without notice, but have historically been infreque
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Many of our contracts with customers may be termied by our customers on short notice without pegaltvhich could harm ou
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

Customers may switch service providers without iring significant expense relative to the annuastcof the service, and ¢
agreements generally provide that in the eventrofopged loss of service or for other good reasons,customers may terminate ser
without penalty. In addition, many of our custoragreements may be terminated by our customersofeeason and upon short notice. Te
of customer agreements typically vary with a ranfjene month to three years, with some customereagent terms as long as five years,
work orders placed under such agreements may Heorées terms than the relevant customer agreemena result, we may not be able
retain our customers through the end of the tepesiied in the customer agreements. If we areabtd to retain our customers, we would
receive expected revenues and may continue to oasis, such as costs to secure satellite bandfadduch customers under agreements
third party satellite communication services prevglwhich may not be as easily or as quickly teat@d without penalty, resulting in harn
our business, financial condition and results ofrations. The loss of a drilling contractor custorsiée can limit or eliminate our ability
provide services to other customers on the affedtiichg rigs.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived fro two customers and the loss of either of thesetomeers would materially harm ot
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

We receive a significant part of our revenue fromelatively small number of large customers. Fa ylear ended December 31, 2(
Noble Corporation and Ensco plc represented apmprabely 12.0% and 5.9%, respectively, of our conlswéd revenue. Similarly, for the y
ended December 31, 2010, these two significantoousts, Noble Corporation and Ensco plc, represeaggutoximately 10.6% and 6.5
respectively, of our consolidated revenue. If githiethese two customers terminates or signifigargHuces its business with us, our busit
financial condition and results of operations woloddmaterially harmed.

Our industry is highly competitive and if we do nobmpete successfully, our business, financial citimh and results of operations w
be harmed.

The telecommunications industry is generally higbbmpetitive, and we expect both product and pgicdempetition to persist a
intensify. Increased competition could cause redueenue, price reductions, reduced profits ars$ lof market share. Our industr
characterized by competitive pressures to provideerced functionality for the same or lower prigthveach new generation of technology
the prices of our products decrease, we will needgell more products and/or reduce the ym@t-costs to improve or maintain our result
operations. Our primary global competitors includarris Corporatiors Harris CapRock Communications and elements ofetiterpris
segment of Inmarsat pk'Inmarsat Solutions, as well as many regional aitgrs. Some of our competitors have longer ofregahistories
substantially greater financial and other resoufoesleveloping new solutions as well as for retingi and retaining qualified personnel. TI
greater financial resources may also make theneraliie to withstand downturns in the market, egpato new areas more aggressivel
operate in developing markets without immediataritial returns. In addition, in certain marketsside of the U.S., we face competition fi
local competitors that provide their services &waer price due to lower overhead costs, includmger costs of complying with applical
government regulations, and due to their willingnés provide services for a lower profit marginrddy competition and significe
investments by competitors to develop new and bsttieitions may make it difficult for us to maimasur customer base, force us to reduct
prices or increase our costs to develop new salsitio

Furthermore, competition may emerge from compatfi@s we have previously not perceived as compstitsr consolidation of o
industry may cause existing competitors to becoiggds and stronger with more resources, market ewesms and market share. As we ex
into new markets and geographic regions we mayrexme increased competition from some of our cditgee that have prior experience
other business in these markets or geographicnegla addition, some of our customers may deadeadource some of the communicati
services and managed services solutions that wederoin particular our terrestrial communicatioandces (e.g., terrestrial line-sfghr
transport, microwave, Worldwide Interoperabilityr fdicrowave Access, or WiMax), which do not requihe same level of maintenance
support as our other services. Our success wikkidgmn our ability to adapt to these competitiveds, to adapt to technological advance
develop more advanced products more rapidly areddegensively than our competitors, to continudeteelop and deepen our global sales
business development network, and to educate patenstomers about the benefits of using our smistrather than our competitopoduct:
and services or in sourced solutions. Our failaresuccessfully respond to these competitive chgdlercould harm our business, finar
condition and results of operations.
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We rely on third parties to provide products andnhgees for the operation of our business. Failuréy third party providers could har
our business and reputation and result in loss afstomers and revenue.

A significant part of our operations and growth elegs on third party providers delivering reliablemenunications connectiol
networks, equipment, and satellite transponder agpasubjecting our business, reputation and custorevenue to risks beyond our con
such as:

» telecommunications failure
» saturation of communication connection points, roeks and thir-party facilities

* in-orbit risks for satellites including malfunctiongommonly referred to as anomalies, and collisionish wneteoroid:
decommissioned spacecraft or other space de

» satellite manufacturing or control system errc
* lack of communication service alternativ

» providing access to faulty equipme

* human error

* natural disaster:

* unexpected equipment failut

e power loss

» unauthorized access or security risks;

» sabotage or other intentional acts of vandal

Even if we take precautions, the occurrence of @mhese risks or other unanticipated problemsrayifrom third party services cot
result in interruption in the services we providectistomers. Any of these occurrences could hambasiness, financial condition and res
of operations.

Any failure on our part to perform under our cusésrservice contracts due to the failures of ourdtiparty providers could result
(i) loss of revenue despite continued obligationdar our leasing arrangements; (ii) possible cdatt@h of customer contracts; (iii) incurret
of additional expenses to reposition customer argerto alternative satellites or otherwise fingrlate service (iv) inclusion in third pe
claims; and (v) damage to our reputation, whichl¢megatively affect our ability to retain existiogstomers or to gain new business. U
most of our contracts with satellite service preve] our satellite service providers do not inddynas for such loss or damage to our busi
resulting from satellite failures. If any potent@aims result in liabilities, we could be requiredpay damages or other penalties, which ¢
harm our business, financial condition and resaflperations.

Our networks and those of our thirgrarty service providers may be vulnerable to setgurisks and any unauthorized access to
clients’ data or systems could harm our busineseahcial condition and results of operations.

We expect the secure transmission of confidenti@rination over public networks to continue to beritical element of our operatiol
Our networks and those of our thiparty service providers and our customers may freevable to unauthorized access, computer viruse
other security problems. Persons who circumvenurggcmeasures could wrongfully obtain or use infation on the network or cat
interruptions, delays or malfunctions in our opierag, any of which could harm our business, finahcondition and results of operations.
may be required to expend significant resourcgeatect against the threat of security breachese atleviate problems, including reputatic
harm and litigation, caused by any breaches. Intiad¢g our customer contracts, in general, do rwttain provisions which would protect
against liability to thirdearties with whom our customers conduct businekboAgh we have implemented and intend to conttnueplemer
industry standard security measures, these measagprove to be inadequate and result in systdorda and delays that could lower sys
availability and have a material adverse effecbonbusiness, financial condition and results afrafions.
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We compete for satellite capacity for our serviegsl any capacity constraints could harm our busise$inancial condition and results
operations.

We compete for satellite capacity with a numbecahmercial entities, such as broadcasting compaares governmental entities, s
as the military. In certain markets, the availapifind pricing of capacity could be subject to cefitijve pressure, such as during renewals
there is no guarantee that we will be able to sethe capacity needed to conduct our operatioosragnt rates or levels going forward. 1
could harm our business, financial condition arglits of operations. In certain markets, the abditg of bandwidth may be restricted by
local government when needed to support its mylitand in the event of such an action, there iguerantee that we will be able to secure
capacity needed to conduct our operations, whidildcbave a material adverse effect on our busini@sancial condition and results
operations.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers to paevikey portions of our equipment and the loss ofyanf these key suppliers cot
materially harm our ability to service our clientand could result in loss of customers and harm oregputation, business, financi
condition and results of operations revenue.

We currently rely upon and expect to continue tg tpon a limited number of thirgarty suppliers to supply the equipment require
provide our services, such as the equipment wallrst offshore drilling rigs in order to providemote communication services. Although
equipment is commercially available from more tlware supplier, there are a limited number of supplef such equipment and price
quality vary among suppliers. If the suppliers eiriéo competition with us, or if our competitonster into exclusive or restrictive arrangem
with our suppliers, the availability and pricing thie equipment that we purchase could be materalyersely affected. In addition, we like
use a small group of suppliers and standardize¢emnt as much as possible so that we are ingjadjanerally the same equipment anc
can maintain smaller quantities of replacementspantd equipment in our warehouses. If we have amgh suppliers for any reason, we
incur additional costs due to the lack of unifoyrdand need to warehouse a broader array of repktgparts and equipment.

We are subject to the volatility of the global @ihd gas industry and our business is likely to ftuate with the level of global activity fi
oil and natural gas exploration, development andopluction.

Our business depends on the oil and natural gassindand particularly on the level of activity foil and natural gas exploratit
development and production. Demand for our remarounication services and collaborative applicatiaepends on our customers’
willingness to make operating and capital expeméguo explore, develop and produce oil and nagaalin the regions in which we operat
may operate. Our business will suffer if these exiiteires decline. Our customersgillingness to explore, develop and produce oil aatura
gas depends largely upon prevailing market contlitihat are influenced by numerous factors oveclwvhie have no control, including:

» the supply and demand for oil and natural |

» 0oil and natural gas prices and expectations ahautd prices

» the expected rate of decline in producti

» the discovery rate of new oil and gas reser

» the ability of the Organization of Petroleum ExjugtCountries, or OPEC, to influence and maintaidpction levels and pricing
» the level of production in n-OPEC countries

» the worldwide political and military environmenfjcluding uncertainty or instability resulting froam escalation or additior
outbreak of armed hostilities or other crises inooinatural gas producing areas of the Middle East other crude oil and natt
gas producing regions or further acts of terrorisrihe United States, or elsewhe

» the impact of changing regulations and environnleata safety rules and policies, including chantgesegulations, rules a
policies, following oil spills and other pollutidsy the oil and gas industry, and legislative argllatory interest to limit or furth
regulate drilling and hydraulic fracturing acties;

» advances in exploration, development and produd¢dohnology

» the global economic environme!

» the political and legislative framework governig tactivities of oil and natural gas companies;
» the price and availability of alternative fue
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The level of activity in the oil and natural gagpkration and production industry has historicdigen volatile and cyclical. Although
believe our customers will be dependent upon tiea- voice and data communication services to dpéntheir oil and gas production ¢
development in an environment with lower energygsj a prolonged significant reduction in the po€eil and natural gas will likely affe
oil and natural gas production levels and there&dfect demand for the communication services vewige. In addition, a prolonged signific
reduction in the price of oil and natural gas coulake it more difficult for us to collect outstandiaccount receivables from our customel
material decline in oil and natural gas prices brand natural gas exploration, development or potidn activity levels could harm ¢
business, financial condition and results of openat

Bad weather in the Gulf of Mexico or other areas ete we operate could harm our business, financiaindition and results ¢
operations.

Certain areas in and near the Gulf of Mexico artteioareas in which our clients operate experiemfavorable weather conditiol
including hurricanes and other extreme weather itiong, on a relatively frequent basis. A majorrstor threat of a major storm in these a
may harm our business. Our clientsllling rigs, production platforms and other vessia these areas are susceptible to damage atodé
loss by these storms, which may cause them to mgetoneed our communication services. Our equiproerhese rigs, platforms or ves:
could be damaged causing us to have service iptByns and lose business. Even the threat of a kaege storm will sometimes cause
clients to limit activities in an area and thusrhaur business.

The loss of key personnel or the failure to attraantd retain highly qualified personnel could comprose our ability to effectively mana
our business and pursue our growth strategy.

Our future performance depends on the continuedcgeof our key technical, development, sales,isesvand management personne
particular, we are heavily dependent on the follmviwo key employees: our Chief Executive Officad @resident, who has been critice
establishing our strategy and executing on ourrassi model over the past four years; and our Viiesithent of Global Engineering, who is
technical architect of our global network and whedsponsible for our global netwoskieliability, performance and security and thel@atior
of technological developments and their impact on lousiness. The loss of key employees could resuftignificant disruptions to o
business, and the integration of replacement pasaould be costly and time consuming, could caditional disruptions to our busine
and could be unsuccessful. We do not carry keyopdife insurance covering any of our employees.

Our future success also depends on our continuiity db attract and retain highly qualified teckal, development, sales, services
management personnel, including personnel in alhefvarious regions of the world in which we operdhe current increase in the acti
level in the oil and gas industry and the limitegaly of skilled labor has made the competitiomettain and recruit qualified personnel inte
A significant increase in the wages paid by conmmgemployers could reduce our skilled labor foinerease the wages that we must pe
motivate, retain or recruit skilled employees ottho

In addition, wage inflation and the cost of retagbur key personnel in the face of competitionsiach personnel may increase our ¢
faster than we may offset these costs with inciepsiees or increased sales volume.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our kiness may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth in our businesgdent periods, which has strained our managenerational, financial and ott
resources. We plan to continue to grow our businegsanticipate that continued growth of our operatwill be required to satisfy increas
customer demand and avail ourselves of new maiadreunities. The expanding scope and geograpleiaddh of our business and growt|
the number of our employees, customers and locatiili continue to place a significant strain onr ananagement team, informat
technology systems and other resources and maydidtey personnel from other key operations. Tapprly manage our growth, we n
need to hire and retain personnel, upgrade outiegi®perational, management and financial repgrsgstems, and improve our busir
processes and controls and implement those pracasskcontrols in all of our geographic locatidrailure to effectively manage our gro
in a costeffective manner could result in declines in sexvigiality and customer satisfaction, increasedscmstisruption of our operatiol
Our rapid growth also makes it difficult for usadequately predict the investments we will neegh&le in the future to effectively manage
world-wide operations.
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We may need to raise additional funds to pursue guowth strategy or continue our operations, andwe are unable to do so, our grov
may be impaired.

We plan to pursue a growth strategy. We have miggiéfisant investments to grow our business. Aduditl investments will be requir
to pursue further growth and to respond to tectgiold innovations and competition. There is no gngee that we will be able to obt
additional financing or financing on favorable tetrif financing is not available on satisfactorgnts, or at all, we may be unable to expanc
business or to develop new business at the rabeedesnd our business, financial condition andltesf operations may be harmed.

Our term loan agreement places financial restrictis and operating restrictions on our business, whimay limit our flexibility tc
respond to opportunities and may harm our busineisancial condition and results of operations.

The operating and financial restrictions and cowémnan our term loan agreement restricts and amyrdufinancing agreements co
restrict our ability to finance future operatiorrscapital needs or to engage, expand or pursubuginess activities.

For example, our term loan agreement restrictsability to:
» dispose of property
* enter into a merger, consolidate or acquire capitather entities
» incur additional indebtednes
» incur liens on the property secured by the term lagreement
* make certain investment
» enter into transactions with affiliate
e pay cash dividend:
» commit to make capital expenditures not in thermad course of business; a
» enter into sales and lease back transact

These limitations are subject to a number of impargualifications and exceptions. Our term loareagent also requires us to main
specified financial ratios. Our compliance with gaeprovisions may materially adversely affect obility to react to changes in mar
conditions, take advantage of business opportgnitie believe to be desirable, obtain future finagcifund needed capital expenditu
finance acquisitions, equipment purchases and dprednt expenditures, or withstand a future downiiwur business.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and resions contained in our term loan agreement magffected by events beyond
control. If market or other economic conditionsetigtrate, our ability to comply with these coversamtay be impaired. If we violate any of
restrictions, covenants, ratios or tests in oumté&yan agreement, a significant portion of our inteelness may become immediately due
payable, and our lendersbmmitment to make further loans to us may terneindife might not have, or be able to obtain, swdfitifunds t
make these accelerated payments. Even if we cdotigiroalternative financing, that financing may @ on terms that are favorable
acceptable to us. If we are unable to repay amoomtowed, the holders of the debt could initiatbamkruptcy proceeding or liquidati
proceeding against the collateral. In addition, @bligations under our term loan agreement arersedoy substantially all of our assets ar
we are unable to repay our indebtedness undeeourlban agreement, the lenders could seek tolémeon our assets.

If we infringe or if third parties assert that wenfringe third party intellectual property rights weould incur significant costs and inct
significant harm to our business.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherliet¢éual property claims against us, which couldutein substantial damages if it
ultimately determined that our services infringéhed party’s proprietary rights. Even if claims are withoutrihedefending a lawsuit tak
significant time, may be expensive and may diveahagement'’s attention from our other business ¢osce
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Most of our contracts are on a fixed price basisaif our costs increase, we may not be able to rerdhese cost increases.

Most of our contracts provide for a fixed price ponth for our services. If our costs increasertivide those services, such as the cc
secure bandwidth or personnel costs, we may nathie to offset some or all of our increased cogtsnbreasing the rates we charge
customers until our next contract renewal, whicluldochave a material adverse effect on our busin@sancial condition and results
operations.

Many of our contracts are governed by ndhS. law, which may make them more difficult or expsive to enforce than contrac
governed by United States law.

Many of our customer contracts are governed by ddh-law, which may create both legal and practiifficulties in case of a dispute
conflict. We operate in regions where the abildyprotect contractual and other legal rights mayilbé&ed compared to regions with better-
established legal systems. In addition, having uosye litigation in a notJ.S. country may be more difficult or expensivenhaursuin
litigation in the United States.

Our industry is characterized by rapid technologicghange, and if we fail to keep up with these chms or if access
telecommunications in remote locations becomes easr less expensive, our business, financial cdiahi and results of operations m
be harmed.

The telecommunications industry is characterizedrdpid changes in technology, new evolving stanglaegnerging competition a
frequent new product and service introductions.afssexample of technological change, in August 20@6arsat plc announced a m:
commitment to a new constellation of satellitesggihe Ka frequency band (branded as GlobalXpresshpared to our use of the Kianc
and C-band satellite space segment today. Whekéisand service is made available in late 2013 anlg 2844, we may have to adapt tc
use, contracting with either Inmarsat or otherlsteperators, which might impair our businesstifier providers are more successful in u
Ka-band services to meet customer needs than us. Wunefbusiness prospects largely depend on ouityatil meet changing custon
preferences, to anticipate and respond to techimalbghanges and to develop competitive produét&lécommunications to remote locati
becomes more readily accessible or less expensare dur services, our business will suffer. Newugisve technologies could make
VSAT-based networks or other services obsolete or lespetitive than they are today, requiring us toucedthe prices that we are abli
charge for our services or causing us to undergersive transitions to new transport technologiés.may not be able to successfully resy
to new technological developments and challenge@enmtify and respond to new market opportunitissrvices or products offered
competitors. In addition, our efforts to respondteohnological innovations and competition may reggignificant capital investments ¢
resources. Furthermore, we may not have the negesssources to respond to new technological chargel innovations and emerg
competition. Failure to keep up with future teclogital changes could harm our business, financiadlition and results of operations.

Many of our potential clients are resistant to neselutions and technologies which may limit our grtiw

Although there is a strong focus on technology tpmaent within the oil industry, some of the comigsnin the upstream oil and ¢
industry are relatively conservative and risk agergith respect to adopting new solutions and teldyies in the area of remc
communications due to our services being so integgrahighly-complex drilling, completion and production opevats. Some drillin
contractors, oil and gas companies and oilfieldisercompanies may choose not to adopt new solitgon technology, such as our rer
communications and collaboration applications sohs, which may limit our growth potential. The rker for IP/MPLS based communicat
services is in a relatively early stage, and soihanal gas companies may choose not to adopt dWIFR.S based communications technolc
This may in turn limit our growth.

We may face difficulties in obtaining regulatory @povals for our provision of telecommunication seces, and we may face changes
regulation, each of which could adversely affectroaperations.

In a number of countries where we operate, theigi@v of telecommunication services is highly reget. In such countries, we
required to obtain approvals from national and ll@ghorities in connection with most of the seeddhat we provide. In many jurisdictic
we must maintain such approvals through compliavitie license conditions or payment of annual retpriafees.

Many of our customers utilize our services on nmlissels or drilling platforms that may enter inéw countries on short notice. If
do not already have a license to provide our seriidhat country, we may be required to obtaiit@nise or other regulatory approval on s
notice, which may not be feasible in some countf@dure to comply
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with such regulatory requirements could subjecttasvarious sanctions including fines, penaltiesests or criminal charges, loss
authorizations and the denial of applications fewrauthorizations or for the renewal of existinghawizations or cause us to delay or termi
our service to such vessel or platform until suckrise or regulatory approval may be obtained.oimes areas of international waters,
ambiguous as to which countsyregulations apply, if any, and thus difficult azmstly for us to determine which licenses or ottegulaton
approvals we should obtain.

In such areas, we could be subject to various ieralr sanctions if we fail to comply with the ¢pable country’s regulations.

Future changes to the regulations under which vegatde could make it difficult for us to obtain oaimtain authorizations, increase
costs or make it easier or less expensive for ompetitors to compete with us.

Changes in the regulatory framework under which weperate could adversely affect our business prospec results of operations.

Our U.S. services are currently provided on a pevearrier basis and are therefore subject to laghho regulation by the Fede
Communications Commission, or FCC, and other fddstate and local agencies. As a private carfie¥, may not market and prov
telecommunications service to the general publiotherwise hold our services out “indifferentl{d the public as a common carrier. A
private carrier, we are not entitled to certairhtigafforded to or subject to certain obligatiomposed on common carriers.

However, the FCC or one or more state public ytitidmmissions could determine that our servicetherservices of our subsidiat
and/or affiliates constitute common carrier offgsrsubject to Title 1l of the Communications Adisaciated FCC regulations, and similar ¢
laws. Among other things, common carriers mustro$fervice on a nondiscriminatory basis at just eesbonable rates. The FCC and :
public utility commissions have jurisdiction to mezomplaints regarding the compliance or rmmmpliance with these and other comi
carrier requirements of the Communications Act #rel FCCS rules, and similar state laws. If our servicedher services provided by ¢
subsidiaries or affiliates are found to be provideda common carrier basis, we may be subjectgimifgiant costs to ensure compliance \
the applicable provisions of these laws and reguiat. We may be subject to enforcement actionsidirag, but not limited to, fines, cease
desist orders, or other penalties if we fail to phnwith those requirements.

Our international operations are regulated by wexrioonU.S. governments and international bodies. Thegelatory regimes frequen
require that we maintain licenses for our operatiand conduct our operations in accordance withcpiteed standards. The adoption of
laws or regulations, changes to the existing reagntdramework, new interpretations of the lawsttijaply to our operations, or the loss of,
material limitation on, any of our material licessmuld materially harm our business, results efrafions and financial condition.

VoIP services that permit subscribers to send dalland receive calls from the traditional telephaoretwork, known as interconnec
VolIP services, are generally subject to the reguyaduthority of the FCC and certain regulatoryuiegments. We do not believe that the v
services that we currently provide were intendedhgyFCC to be considered “interconnected Volowever, the FCC could determine 1
our services or the services of our subsidiarieBaraffiliates constitute interconnected VolP, ehtould subject such services to a numb
regulatory requirements including obligations toy pato the Universal Service Fund, accommodatertbeds of disabled persons, prc
customer proprietary network information, provid@l® services, etc. We cannot predict whether th€ R@y classify our VoIP services
interconnected VolP, and if so, what other regujatibligations, if any, will be imposed on our Vodervices or interconnected VolP serv
generally. To the extent that our services or #rgises provided by our subsidiaries or affiliaées deemed to be interconnected VolP sen
we may be subject to significant costs to ensuraptiance with the applicable FCC requirements gowey the provision of those servic
Further, we may be subject to enforcement actionkding, but not limited to, fines, cease and stegiders, or other penalties if we fai
comply with those requirements.

Changes to the FC& USF Regime or state universal service fund reginue findings that we have not complied with USFoudrement:
or state universal service fund regimes may advirsdfect our financial condition.

A proceeding pending before the FCC has the patetatisignificantly alter our Universal Service Byor USF, contribution obligatior
The FCC is considering changing the basis uponhwbiSF contributions are determined from a revereregntage measurement, as we
increasing the breadth of the USF contribution lasaclude certain services now exempt from ctution. Adoption of these proposals cc
have a material adverse effect on our costs ofigimy service, our ability to separately list USehtributions on endser bills, and our abili
to collect these fees from our customers. We aablgrto predict the timing or outcome of this prediag.
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We cannot predict the application and impact ofnges to the federal or state universal service fonribution requirements on !
communications industry generally and on certairowf business activities in particular. We recemtbsessed the nature and extent o
federal and state universal service fund obligatidhthe FCC or any state determines that we liraa@rectly calculated or failed to remit ¢
required universal service fund contribution, wellddbe subject to the assessment and collectigrasif due remittances as well as interes
penalties thereon. Changes in the federal or stateersal service fund requirements or findingd thea have not met our obligations cc
materially increase our universal service fund dbaotions and have a material adverse effect orbasmess, financial condition and result
operations.

We may be subject to a variety of federal and statgulatory actions that may affect our ability wperate.

Federal and state telecommunications regulatore kia right to sanction a service provider or teoke licenses if a service provi
violates applicable laws or regulations. If anyulagory agency were to conclude that we were pingidelecommunications services with
the appropriate authority or are otherwise notampliance with applicable regulations, the agenayld initiate enforcement actions, wh
could result in, among other things, revocatioraothority, the imposition of fines, a requiremeatdisgorge revenues, or refusal to g
regulatory authority necessary for the future psmn of services.

Our business operations in countries outside theitéd States are subject to a number of United S$atederal laws and regulatior
including restrictions imposed by the Foreign Comt Practices Act as well as trade sanctions adntiied by the Office of Foreig
Assets Control of the United States Department oédsury and the United States Department of Comneenehich could adversely affe
our operations if violated.

We must comply with all applicable export contralvs and regulations of the United States and atbantries. We cannot provi
services to certain countries subject to UnitedeSt&rade sanctions administered by the Officearkign Asset Control of the United St
Department of the Treasury or the United Statesabigpent of Commerce unless we first obtain the sssy authorizations. In addition,
are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Aat,thenerally, prohibits bribes or unreasonables gd nont.S. governments or officials a
may be subject to antierruption laws of other countries in which the GQ@amy may operate or may otherwise have a subdtdmitines
connection. Violations of these laws or regulatiaosild result in significant additional sanctiomeluding fines, more onerous complia
requirements, and more extensive debarments frqroreyprivileges or loss of authorizations neededdaduct aspects of our internatic
business. In certain countries, we engage thirty @aents or intermediaries to act on our behatféalings with government officials, suct
customs agents, and if these third party agentstermediaries violate applicable laws, their agsionay result in penalties or sanctions b
assessed against us.

Our international operations are subject to additial or different risks than our United States opdians, which may harm our busine
and financial results.

We operate in approximately 30 countries aroundwbed, including countries in Asia, the Middle Eaéfrica, Latin America an
Europe and intend to continue to expand the nurobeountries in which we operate. There are masksrinherent in conducting busin
internationally that are in addition to or diffeteéhan those affecting our United States operatimasuding:

* sometimes vague and confusing regulatory requirésrtaat may be subject to unexpected changeseampietations
e import and export restriction
» tariffs and other trade barriel

» difficulty in staffing and managing geographicatiyspersed operations and culturally diverse wornicde and increased tra
infrastructure and legal compliance costs assatiatth multiple international location

« differences in employment laws and practices anubfigrent countries, including restrictions on témating employees
» differing technology standard
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» fluctuations in currency exchange rat

* imposition of currency exchange contrc

* potential political and economic instability in semegions

* legal and cultural differences in the conduct ddibass

» less due process and sometimes arbitrary applicafiaws and sanctions, including criminal charged arrests
« difficulties in raising awareness of applicable tédi States laws to our agents and third partyrméeiaries

» potentially adverse tax consequenc

» difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectirgceivables

+ difficulties and expense of maintaining internatibgsales distribution channels; &

» difficulties in maintaining and protecting our itleztual property

Operating internationally exposes our businesadeeased regulatory and political risks in some-bdB. jurisdictions where we oper:
In addition to changes in laws and regulationsngea in governments or changes in governmentatipslin these jurisdictions may a
current interpretation of laws and regulations etffegy our business. We also face increased riskaiflents such as war or other internati
conflict and nationalization, and possible exprapion of our assets. If a ndh-S. country were to nationalize our industry opmpriate oL
assets, we could lose not only our investmenténadsets that we have in that country, but alsof @llr contracts and business in that country.

Many of the countries in which we operate have llsgatems that are less developed and less prbtidfaan legal systems in West
Europe or the United States. It may be difficult d@ to obtain effective legal redress in the cooftsome jurisdictions, whether in respect
breach of law or regulation, or in an ownershipdie because of: (i) a high degree of discretiothenpart of governmental authorities, wt
results in less predictability; (ii) a lack of jwihl or administrative guidance on interpreting laggble rules and regulations; (iii) inconsisters
or conflicts between or within various laws, rediglas, decrees, orders and resolutions; (iv) thegive inexperience of the judiciary and co
in such matters or (v) a predisposition in favotaafal claimants against United States companies.

In certain jurisdictions, the commitment of localsiness people, government officials and agencidstlae judicial system to abide
legal requirements and negotiated agreements manitediable. In particular, agreements may be u#fule to revision or cancellation &
legal redress may be uncertain or tioegsuming. Actions of governmental authorities flicers may adversely affect joint ventures, lices
license applications or other legal arrangememid,saich arrangements in these jurisdictions maypeaffective or enforced.

The authorities in the countries where we operaag mtroduce additional regulations for the oil agab and communications indust
with respect to, but not limited to, various lawss/grning prospecting, development, production, $apeice controls, export controls, curre
remittance, expropriation of property, foreign istraent, maintenance of claims, environmental lagah, land use, land claims of lo
people, water use, labor standards, occupatiorsithretwork access and other matters. New rulds@gulations may be enacted or exis
rules and regulations may be applied or interpréteal manner which could limit our ability to prae our services. Amendments to cur
laws and regulations governing operations and iiesvin the oil and gas industry and telecommutiocs industry could harm our operati
and financial results. Compliance with and chariggax laws or adverse positions taken by taxinthetities could be costly and could aff
our operating results.

Compliance related tax issues could also limitathitity to do business in certain countries. Charigetax laws or tax rates, the resolu
of tax assessments or audits by various taxingogitits, disagreements with taxing authorities ower tax positions and the ability to fu
utilize our tax loss carrjerwards and tax credits could have a significamdricial impact on our future operations and thg wa conduct, or
we conduct, business in the affected countries.
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Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomesulting from examination of our income or otheex returns could adversely affe
our operating results and financial condition.

Our future effective tax rates could be subjectdfatility or adversely affected by a number ofttas, including:

» earnings being lower than anticipated in countvidere we have lower statutory rates and higher #maticipated earnings
countries where we have higher statutory re

» changes in the valuation of our deferred tax as
» repatriation of cash; ¢
e expiration or no-utilization of net operating losses or cred

We conduct our worldwide operations through varicudbsidiaries. Tax laws and regulations are higtdyplex and subject
interpretation. Consequently, we are subject tonghey tax laws, treaties and regulations in andvbeh countries in which we oper:
including treaties between the United States ahdratations. Our income tax expense is based upomtzrpretation of the tax laws in eff
in various countries at the time that the expenss imcurred. A change in these tax laws, treatiesegulations, including those in ¢
involving the United States, or in the interpreiatihereof, could result in a materially higher &epense or a higher effective tax rate or
worldwide earnings.

In addition, tax returns filed are subject to exaation by the Internal Revenue Service and otheatdhorities. We regularly assess
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from thesaminations to determine the adequacy of ourigiav for income taxes. Outcomes fr
these continuous examinations could have a matadiagrse effect on our financial condition, resoltoperations or cash flows. Our 2(
United States federal income tax return is curyentider audit by the United States Internal Reve®ervice. We may incur material cost
support the audit and /or defend our tax positions.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangates and limitations on the expatriation or comagon of currencies, which me
result in significant financial charges, increasetbsts of operations or decreased demand for ourdourets and services.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, 20.5%upfevenues were earned in ndrs. currencies, while a significant portion of
capital and operating expenditures and all of austanding debt, was priced in U.S. dollars. Initialdl we report our results of operation:
U.S. dollars. Accordingly, fluctuations in exchangges relative to the U.S. dollar could have aemat adverse effect on our earnings o1
value of our assets. In the future, a greater gortif our revenues may be earned in kb8- currencies, increasing this risk of fluctuatiar
exchange rates.

Any depreciation of local currencies in the cowegrin which we conduct business may result in esed costs to us for impor
equipment and may, at the same time, decrease defoamur products and services in the affectedketar If our operating compan
distribute dividends in local currencies in theuf, the amount of cash we receive will also beaéd by fluctuations in exchange rate:
addition, some of the countries in which we haverapons do or may restrict the expatriation ornvesgsion of currency.

We have not implemented any hedging strategiesitigate risks related to the impact of fluctuationexchange rates. Even if we w
to implement hedging strategies, not every exposarebe hedged, and, where hedges are put in ptesrl on expected ndhS. exchanc
exposure, they are based on forecasts which may arawhich may later prove to have been inaccurBtglure to hedge successfully
anticipate currency risks accurately could harmhaginess, financial condition and results of ofiens.

Some of our stockholders could together exert cahtvver our Company.

As of March 1, 2012, funds affiliated with Altirar@up LLC, or Altira, owned in the aggregate shaegwesenting approximately 14..
of our outstanding voting power. Additionally, alshdarch 1, 2012, funds associated with Cubera Séagn(GP) AS, or Cubera, owned in
aggregate shares representing approximately 26f58a@rooutstanding voting power. As a result, thesekholders could together potenti
have significant influence over all matters presdrib our stockholders for approval, including gtecand removal of our directors and che
of control transactions. The interests of thesek$tolders may not always coincide with the intesedtthe other holders of our common stock.

Provisions in our organizational documents and ihe Delaware General Corporation Law may prevent éaker attempts that could
beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation ahglaws and in the Delaware General Corporation Leway make it difficult an
expensive for a thirgharty to pursue a takeover attempt we oppose dvarchange in control of our Company would be biefafto the
interests of our stockholders. Any provision of oartificate of incorporation or
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bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delgr deterring a change in control could limi thpportunity for our stockholders to rece
a premium for their shares of our common stock, @ndd also affect the price that some investoesvéling to pay for our common stock.
our certificate of incorporation, our board of diters has the authority to issue up to 10,000,0@0es of preferred stock in one or more s
and to fix the powers, preferences and rights oheseries without stockholder approval. The abiityissue preferred stock could discoul
unsolicited acquisition proposals or make it maféadilt for a third party to gain control of ourdnpany, or otherwise could adversely ai
the market price of our common stock. Further, &ekaware corporation, we are subject to Sectidh@he Delaware General Corpora
Law. This section generally prohibits us from eriggdgn mergers and other business combinations stdbkholders that beneficially own 1.
or more of our voting shares, or with their affidia, unless our directors or stockholders apprbeebtisiness combination in the prescr
manner. However, because funds affiliated withrAltCubera and Sanders Morris Harris Inc. acquhed shares prior to the IPO, Section
is currently inapplicable to any business comborator transaction with them or their affiliates. rCwylaws require that any stockhol
proposals or nominations for election to our boafrdirectors must meet specific advance notice ireqents and procedures, which mal
more difficult for our stockholders to make proplgesar director nominations.

We have a small market capitalization and lower diag volume compared to most publicly trading conmies. If, due to our siz
securities analysts do not publish research or regaabout our business or if they publish negatigealuations of our stock, the price
our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock dependsaith on the research and reports that industrinan€ial analysts publish about u:
our business. If one or more of the analysts cageour business downgrade their evaluations oécommendations regarding our stock,
one or more of the analysts cease providing rekearecerage on our stock due to our small markeitalgation or low trading volume, tl
price of our stock could decline. If one or morettidse analysts cease providing research coveragerastock, we could lose visibility in 1
market for our stock, which in turn could cause stock price to decline.

Item 1 B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Iltem 2. Properties

Facilities

Our headquarters are located in Houston, Texasles® our headquarters facility, which comprisgg@pgmately 15,206 square fee!
office space as of December 31, 2011. The ternhisflease runs through June 30, 2015. We havenalgaffices under lease in Lafaye
Louisiana; Aberdeen, U.K.; Stavanger, Norway; DoQatar and Singapore, and additional leased officek service centers in the Uni
States, Brazil, Nigeria and Saudi Arabia. We baieur current facilities are adequate for our aurreeeds and for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Le gal Proceedings

From time to time, we have been subject to varidasns and legal actions in the ordinary coursewfbusiness. We are not curre
involved in any legal proceeding the ultimate ouateoof which, in our judgment based on informatianrently available, would have
material impact on our business, financial conditio results of operations.

Item 4. Mine SafetyDisclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Reqgistrants Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters anduer Purchases of Equity Securities

RigNet’s common stock, $0.001 par value, is traded onNAEDAQ Global Market Exchange (NASDAQ), under thekér symbc
RNET and began trading on December 15, 2010.

QUARTERLY COMMON STOCK SALES PRICE (HIGH & LOW SALE S PRICE)

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $ 16.7¢ $ 14.52

Third Quartel $ 1750 $ 13.3i

Second Quarte $ 20.0¢ $ 15.5(

First Quarte! $ 1882 $ 13.27
Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarter From December 15, 20 $ 13.7C % 12.5¢

There were approximately 72 holders of RigNet’'s own stock on record as of March 1, 2012.
Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comnmek sand do not intend to do so in the foreseeflilgre. Further, our term lo
agreement restricts our ability to pay cash divitteer\We currently intend to retain all available darand any future earnings to suppor
operation of and to finance the growth and develemnof our business.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See the information incorporated by reference urigen 12. ‘Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners &f@nagement ar
Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual Repamt Form 10-K regarding securities authorized feu@&nce under the Compasyequity
compensation plans, which information is incorpeddby reference into this Item 5.

Stockholder Return Performance Presentation

The following graph compares the change in the dative total stockholder return on our common staktking the period froi
December 15, 2010 (the first day our stock begadirtg on NASDAQ) through December 31, 2011, wite tdumulative total return on 1
NASDAQ Composite Index, the Oil Service Sector dmd the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. The &8frvice Sector Index is
priceweighted index composed of the common stocks ofdrBpanies that provide oil drilling and productieervices, oil field equipmel
support services, and geophysical/reservoir sesvithe comparison assumes that $100 was investékoember 15, 2010 in our comn
stock and in each of the foregoing indices andrassureinvestment of dividends, if any.
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

e RipMet, Inc,  =@=MNASDAQ  =be=0il Service Scotor =s=NASDAQ Telecommunications
$150

5130
-
X
-
-_-‘, 5110
=
00
870 T
12/15/2010 12431520010 331201 1 i A02011 Q302011 12:31/2011
ASSUMES 5100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 15, 2010
ASSUMES IMYIDENDS REINVESTED
12/15/201¢ 12/31/201C 3/31/2011 6/30/2011 9/30/2011 12/31/2011
RigNet, Inc.® $ 10C $ 10¢ $ 145 $ 13t % 126 $ 133
NASDAQ $ 10C $ 101 $ 106 $ 106 $ 92 $ 10C
Oil Service Secto $ 10C $ 104 $ 128 $ 115 % 81 $ 92
NASDAQ Telecommunication $ 10C $ 10z % 101 % 9% $ 80 $ 89

(1) Based on the last reported sale price of the Cogipastock as reported by NASDAQ on the discloseid e nearest date prior
disclosed date on which a sales occu

Investors are cautioned against drawing any coitelasrom the data contained in the graph as m@asstlts are not necessarily indica
of future performance.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set fartrany of the Compang’ previous or future filings under the Securitiect Af 1933 ¢
the Securities Act of 1934 that might incorpordtes tAnnual Report on Form 1K-or future filings with the SEC, in whole or in pathe
preceding performance information shall not be dmo be “soliciting material” or to be “filediith the SEC or incorporated by refere
into any filing except to the extent this perforroampresentation is specifically incorporated byrefice therein.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected cordaikd financial data for the periods indicated.aDabts derived from RigNet, Ing.’
audited consolidated financial statements. The datdorth should be read together with Item 7. filsigemens Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” arith Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplemeniaita.” Our historical results for a
prior period are not necessarily indicative of thsults to be expected in the future.
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During 2006, the Company acquired 100% of OilCam§, Ar OilCamp, as well as a 75.0% controlling iestrin LandTe
Communications LLC, or LandTel, which established5a0% redeemable, nawontrolling interest. The Company subsequently aeduthe
remaining norcontrolling interest in LandTel with purchases mad®ecember 2008 (10.7%), February 2009 (7.3%)Aumglst 2010 (7.0%
As a result, the comparability of the financialaldisclosed in the following table may be affected.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock.
Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) ar
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Data:

Revenue $ 109,358 $§ 92927 $§ 80,93t $ 89,90¢ $§ 67,16¢
Expenses
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitn) 48,64" 42,47¢ 35,16¢ 39,29¢ 29,74%
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,58¢ 14,98: 12,55¢ 10,51¢ 9,451
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢ — —
Selling and marketin 2,27¢ 2,10z 2,18 2,60t 2,40t
General and administrati\ 26,96( 20,75¢ 16,44« 21,27 20,33¢
Total expense 92,46¢ 80,32 69,24¢ 73,69 61,94.
Operating incomi 16,89( 12,60( 11,68¢ 16,21« 5,22:
Interest expens (2,249 (1,618 (5,146 (2,464 (5,497
Other income (expense), r 613 (399) 304 27 (63)
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — (17,190 (21,009 2,461 (1,156
Income (loss) before income tax 16,25¢ (6,607) (14,169 16,23¢ (1,499
Income tax expens (6,502 (8,669 (5,457 (5,882 (62§)
Net income (loss 9,752 (15,27¢) (19,620 10,35¢ (2,12))
Less: Net income (loss) attributable
Non-redeemable, nc-controlling interes 234 292 292 23t 167
Redeemable, ni-controlling interes — 25 10 1,71 971
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &tomiders $ 951¢ $ (1559) $ (19,92) $ 8,40t $ (3,259)
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder $ 951¢ $ (18,80) $ (22,119 $ (4,190 $ (3,93))
Net income (loss) per share attributable to RigN&t, commor
stockholders
Basic $ 0.6z $ (3.3¢) $ (4.1¢) $ (0.79 $ (0.79)
Diluted $ 057 $ (3.3¢9) $ (4.1¢) $ (0.79 $ (0.79)
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 15,38 5,571 5,312 5,301 5,27¢
Diluted 16,81« 5,571 5,312 5,301 5,27¢
Other Non-GAAP Data:
Gross Profii $ 60,71 $ 5044: $ 4577: $ 50,61t $ 37,41
Adjusted EBITDA $ 3345¢ % 29,74C $ 29,090 $ 30,40¢ $ 17,53¢
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December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 53,106 $ 5043t $ 11,37¢ $ 1537t $ 6,86:
Restricted cas—current portior — 2,50( 2,50( 775 —

Restricted cas—long-term portion — 7,50( 7,50( — —

Total asset 140,92: 129,78! 88,81( 89,517 72,92¢
Current maturities of lor-term debi 8,73t 8,65¢ 8,66¢ 5,75: 11,80
Long-term deferred revent 457 32t 34¢ 1,51¢ 67¢
Long-term debt 14,78t 23,48¢ 21,02: 18,32 20,421
Preferred stock derivative — — 30,44¢ 8,41: 9,80¢
Preferred stoc — — 17,33 16,25} 14,097

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We define Gross Profit as revenue less cost ofnexeThis measure is used to evaluate operatinginsaand the effectiveness of ¢
management.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) ploterest expense, income tax expense (benefipredation and amortizatic
impairment of goodwill, (gain) loss on retiremefitpooperty and equipment, change in fair value exfivdhtives, stockbased compensation ¢
IPO costs and related bonuses. Adjusted EBITDAfinancial measure that is not calculated in acaoce with generally accepted accour
principles, or GAAP. The table below provides aoreliation of this nonGAAP financial measure to net income (loss), thestmirectly
comparable financial measure calculated and predentaccordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA shonlat be considered as an alterne
to net income (loss), operating income (loss) gr @her measure of financial performance calculated presented in accordance with GA
Our Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to simyjiaitled measures of other companies becauser athmpanies may not calcul
Adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures in theme manner as we do. We prepare Adjusted EBITD&liinate the impact of items tl
we do not consider indicative of our core operaiegformance. We encourage you to evaluate thgsstatents and the reasons we con:
them appropriate.

We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investanseivaluating our operating performance for theofelhg reasons:

» Securities analysts use Adjusted EBITDA as a supeigal measure to evaluate the overall operatimfppeance of companie
and we understand our investor and analyst presamianclude Adjusted EBITDA

» By comparing our Adjusted EBITDA in different pedi® our investors may evaluate our operating reswithout the addition
variations caused by items that we do not consideicative of our core operating performance andctvtare not necessar
comparable from year to year; a

» Adjusted EBITDA is an integral component of thegfirtial ratio covenants of our debt agreem
Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA:
» To indicate profit contribution and cash flow aeaility for growth and/or debt retiremel
» For planning purposes, including the preparatioawfannual operating budget and as a key elenfemtrmial incentive program
» To allocate resources to enhance the financiabpadnce of our business; a
* In communications with our board of directors canagg our financial performanc
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Although Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by irsters and securities analysts in their evaluat@fnsompanies, Adjusted EBITC
has limitations as an analytical tool, and you $thawt consider it in isolation or as a substitfde analysis of our results of operation:
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

» Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash experétuor future requirements for capital expenditunesother contractu
commitments

» Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, othcaejuirements for, our working capital nee

» Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest exper

» Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requiremdatsncome taxes

» Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the stock baseghgensation component of employee compensa

« Although depreciation and amortization are maish charges, the assets being depreciated orizedowill often have to
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA doetreflect any cash requirements for these replaognanc

» Other companies in our industry may calculate Aid€EBITDA or similarly titted measures differentligan we do, limiting it
usefulness as a comparative meas

The following table presents a reconciliation of imeome (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for each of theriods presented. Net income (lc
is the most comparable GAAP measure to AdjustedrBBL

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBIDA:

Net income (loss $ 9,75 $ (15,27¢ $ (19,6200 $ 10,35¢ $ (2,127
Interest expens 1,24¢ 1,61¢ 5,14¢ 2,46/ 5,49i
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,58¢ 14,98: 12,55« 10,51¢ 9,451
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢ — —
(Gain) loss on retirement of property and equipn (165) 294 111 (92 (27)
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — 17,19( 21,00¢ (2,467 1,15¢
Stock-based compensatic 1,53¢ 437 2771 231 16¢
Initial public offering costt — 1,82¢ 1,261 3,51( 2,78:
Income tax expens 6,50z 8,66¢ 5,45 5,88 62¢
Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $ 3345¢ $ 2974 $ 29,09 $ 3040¢ $  17,53¢

Item 7. Managements Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition AhResults Of Operations

General

The following discussion should be read togethéhwur consolidated financial statements and thatesl notes included elsewhere¢
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontaims forwardlooking statements about our business and operstiGur future resul
may differ materially from those we currently aigate as a result of the factors we describe urf@Risk Factors” and elsewhere in tt
Annual Report on Form -K.

Executive Overview

We, along with our wholly and majoritgwned subsidiaries, provide information and comroatidn technology for the oil and ¢
industry through a controlled and managed IP/ MBld®al network, enabling drilling contractors, cdmpanies and oilfield service compa
to communicate more effectively.

We enable our customers to deliver voice, fax, @idad data, in redalme, between remote sites and home offices througthe worl
while we manage and operate the infrastructure foomlandbased network operations center. We serve offsthidltang rigs and productic
platforms, land rigs and remote locations includifiices and supply bases, in approximately 30 ti@son six continents.
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Our Operations

We focus on developing customer relationships withowners and operators of drilling rig fleetsutésg in a significant portion of o
revenue being concentrated in a few customersdditian, due to the concentration of our customerthe oil and gas industry, we face
challenge of service demands fluctuating with tkgl@ation and development plans and capital experes of that industry.

Network service customers are primarily served ufiged-price, dayrate contracts, which are based on the concepyoppr day of us
and are consistent with terms used in the oil aagligdustry. Our contracts are generally in thenfof Master Service Agreements, or MS
with specific services being provided under indixatiservice orders that have a term of one to thesgs with renewal options, while land-
based locations are generally shorter term or teahié on short notice without a penalty. Servicdess are executed under the MSA
individual remote sites or groups of sites, andegally may be terminated early on short notice aithpenalty in the event of force maje!
breach of the MSA or cold stacking of a drilling fwhen a rig is taken out of service and is exgettd be idle for a protracted period of tir
In the year ended December 31, 2011, our largetbier, who has been our customer for over fivesygaovided approximately 12.0%
our total revenue. In the year ended December@10,2his same customer provided approximately%@6our total revenue.

We operate three reportable business segments baggebgraphic location, which are managed asdishusiness units.

» Eastern Hemisphere.Our eastern hemisphere segment provides remote uoomoations services for offshore drilling ri
production facilities, energy support vessels atitioremote sites. Our eastern hemisphere segraentes are performed out
our Norway, Qatar, United Kingdom and Singaporeebasffices for customers and rig sites located han g¢astern side of t
Atlantic Ocean primarily off the coasts of the U.lKlorway and West Africa, around the Indian Ocea@atar, Saudi Arabia a
India, around the Pacific Ocean near Australia,sitlin the South China Se

*  Western HemisphereOur western hemisphere segment provides remote cmioations services for offshore drilling ri
production facilities, energy support vessels athetioremote sites. Our western hemisphere segmevitas are performed out
our United States and Brazil based offices foramustrs and rig sites located on the western sidbeoAtlantic Ocean primarily ¢
the coasts of the United States, Mexico and Branitl within the Gulf of Mexico, but excluding lands and other lantiased site
in North America.

* U.S. Land.Our U.S. land segment provides remote communicatiervices for drilling rigs and production faddg locate
onshore in North America. Our U.S. land segmentises are performed out of our Louisiana basedeffor customers and
sites located in the continental United Sta

Cost of revenue consists primarily of satelliterges, voice and data termination costs, networkadjpms expenses, Internet connect
fees and direct service labor. Satellite chargesisb of the costs associated with obtaining seddandwidth (the measure of capacity) us¢
the transmission of service to and from leasedlgate Network operations expenses consist prilypafi costs associated with the operatio
our network operations center, which is maintai@ddhours a day, seven days a week. Depreciationagmattization is recognized on
property and equipment either installed at a cust&srsite or held at our corporate and regional offiGes well as intangibles arising fr
acquisitions. Selling and marketing expenses copsimarily of salaries and commissions, travelts@nd marketing communications. Gen
and administrative expenses consist of expensesiatsd with our management, finance, contractpsaand administrative functions.

Profitability increases at a site as we add custerard valueadded services. Assumptions used in developingalyeates for a site m
not cover cost variances from inherent uncertantie unforeseen obstacles, including both physicalditions and unexpected proble
encountered with third party service providers.fitability risks include oil and gas market trendsrvice responsiveness to remote locat
communication network complexities, political armbromic instability in certain regions, export redions, licenses and other trade barr
These risks may result in the delay of servicedtidn, which may negatively impact our resultopérations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Certain of our accounting policies require judgmbptmanagement in selecting the appropriate assongpfor calculating financi
estimates. By their nature, these judgments argestulo an inherent degree of uncertainty. Theslgrjuents are based on our histol
experience, terms of existing contracts, observaftends in the industry,
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information provided by our customers, and inforioratavailable from other outside sources, as apatg Future results may differ frc
these judgments under different assumptions oritiond. Our accounting policies that require mamaget to apply significant judgme
include:

Revenue Recognition

All revenue is recognized when persuasive evidefi@ga arrangement exists, the service is compllegeamount is fixed or determina
and collectability is reasonably assured. Netwank/ise fee revenue is based on fixed-price, iddag-contracts and recognized monthly a:
service is provided. Generally, customer contrats® provide for installation and maintenance sewi Installation services are paid u
initiation of the contract and recognized over lifie of the respective contract. Maintenance chargee recognized as specific services
performed and are generally billed on a time antknads basis. Deferred revenue consists of iradtah billings, customer deposits and o
prepayments for which services have not yet beedeam®d. Revenue is reported net of any tax assemsédcollected on behalf of
governmental authority. Such tax is then remittiedadly to the appropriate jurisdictional entity.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as custoane billed in accordance with customer contraéfe report an allowance !
doubtful accounts for probable credit losses exjsiin accounts receivable. Management determinesaliowance based on a review
currently outstanding receivables and our histbrazdlection experience. Significant individual e#e¢ables and balances which have |
outstanding greater than 90 days are reviewed iohaidly. Account balances, when determined to beoliectible, are charged against
allowance.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which consists of (i) tetemunication and computer equipment and (ii) fum@it and other, is stated
acquisition cost net of accumulated depreciatioeprBciation is calculated using the strailtijie- method over the expected useful lives o
respective assets, which range from one to sevarsy®e assess property and equipment for impairmmban events indicate the carry
value exceeds fair value. Maintenance and repaisare charged to expense when incurred. Duregéhrs ended December 31, 2011, .
and 2009, no events have occurred to indicate aainment of our property and equipment.

Derivatives

All contracts are evaluated for embedded derivatiwich are bifurcated when (a) the economic chearistics and risks of su
instruments are not clearly and closely relatetheoeconomic characteristics and risks of the predestock agreement, (b) the contract is
already reported at fair value and (c) such insamit® meet the definition of a derivative instrumant are not scope exceptions unde
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) guickaon derivatives and hedging.

In connection with the Comparg/IPO completed in December , 2011, its prefertedksderivatives were settled with the conversi€
preferred stock to common stock. Previously idedifembedded derivative features within its prefgrstock agreements which qualifiec
derivatives were reported separately from prefestedk. Preferred stock derivatives representedamsion and redemption rights associ
with the series A, B and C preferred stock, whigrenbifurcated based on an analysis of the featnnesation to the preferred stock. Prefe
stock derivatives were non-current and reportddiatalue as of December 31, 2009.

Fair values of the preferred stock derivatives wlEtermined using a combination of the expectedgmievalue of future cash flows ar
market approach. The present value of future dastsfwas estimated using the Companyiost recent forecast and its weighted averag
of capital. The market approach used a market pleltn the related cash generated from operat®igsificant estimates for determining
value included cash flow forecasts, estimates ef @mmpanys weighted average cost of capital, projected iredax rates and marl
multiples.

Goodwill

Goodwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTel adidCamp as the consideration paid exceeded the/dduie of acquired identifiable r
tangible assets and intangibles. Goodwill is regdvior impairment annually, as of July 31st, withiliional evaluations being performed w
events or circumstances indicate that the carryaige of these assets may not be recoverable.
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Goodwill impairment is determined using a tetep process. The first step of the impairmentigegsed to identify potential impairm:
by comparing the fair value of each reporting taithe book value of the reporting unit, includigpgodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit
determined using a combination of the reporting’aréxpected present value of future cash flows améket approach. The present valu
future cash flows is estimated using our most reéemcast and our weighted average cost of capiita¢ market approach uses a me
multiple on the reporting un’cash generated from operations. Significant esésfor each reporting unit included in our impent analys
are cash flow forecasts, our weighted averageafastpital, projected income tax rates and markgtipies. Changes in these estimates c
affect the estimated fair value of our reportingisiand result in an impairment of goodwill in dufte period.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thigmbook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isrsidered to be impaired and the set
step of the impairment test is performed to meatheeamount of impairment loss, if any. The secsteg of the impairment test compares
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwilith the book value of that goodwill. If the boetlue of the reporting ung’ goodwil
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,iarpairment loss is recognized in an amount equahat excess. The implied fair value
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportumgit’s fair value to all of its assets and liabilitigher than goodwill in the same manner
purchase price allocation.

Any impairment in the value of goodwill is chargedearnings in the period such impairment is deireech In 2009, we recognized $
million in impairment of goodwill. Such impairmentas a result of a significant reduction in the Uad rig count as of June 30, 2009
result of reduced natural gas and oil prices. Thisumstance resulted in a reduction in our casW fbrojections utilizing Spears & Associa
Inc. forward landbased rig count projections in the revision of ing forecasts, which reduced the estimated fdiwev®f our U.S. lan
reporting unit below its carrying value. Our prdjens in 2009 provided for a slow recovery of rewerand Adjusted EBITDA (noGAAP
measure) from 2010 through 2014, which is consistéth our results since 2009.

We recorded no goodwill impairments in 2011 or 2048 of July 31, 2011, our latest completed goodimipairment testing date, t
fair values of our reporting units are substantiallexcess of their carrying values. As such,tést resulted in no impairment and no additi
impairment indicators have been identified throl@gtember 31, 2011. While we believe that there aggpt® be no indication of current
future impairment, historical operating results nmay be indicative of future operating results aveénts and circumstances may occur cal
a triggering event in a period as short as thresthso

Long-Term Debt

Longterm debt is recognized in the consolidated balaeets net of costs incurred in connection wittaioing the financing. De
financing costs are deferred and reported as actieduto the principal amount of the debt. Suchte@se amortized over the life of the ¢
using the effective interest rate method and iretlith interest expense in the Compangbnsolidated financial statements. We believ:
carrying amount of our debt, which has a floatinigiest rate, approximates fair value, since tter@st rates are based on sherth maturitie
and recent quoted rates from financial institutions

Stock-Based Compensation

We have three stock-based compensation plansOth@ @mnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan), the Righwt, 2006 LongFerm Incentiv:
Plan (2006 Plan) and the RigNet Inc. 2001 Perfomaabtock Option Plan (2001 Plan). All equity ingtients granted under either the 2
Plan or the 2006 Plan are settled in stock. Allitygumstruments currently outstanding under the @®lan will be settled in stock, howe
future awards granted subsequent to December 31, @@y be settled in stock or cash and may beifitabss equity or liability instrumen
as determined by the type of award granted.

Our policy is to recognize compensation expensedovice-based awards on a strailyig-basis over the requisite service period fe
entire award. Expense for stoblsed compensation related to equity awards isdedausing the calculated fair value of optionsttua gran
date of the awards. Fair value of options on tlgdate is determined using the Bl&tholes model, which requires judgment in esting
the expected term of the option, risk-free interast, expected volatility of our stock and dividepield of the option.
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The fair value of each option award is estimatedtien grant date using a Bla8choles option valuation model, which uses ce
assumptions as of the date of grant:

» Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsieglent to the expected term of the opti

» Expected Term—expected life adjusted based on manage’s best estimate for the effects of -transferability, exercis
restriction and behavioral consideratic

» Risk-free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contractual temfishe options, is based on the U.S. Treasund
curve in effect at the time of gra

» Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com/'s historical dividend rate at the date of g1

Additionally, in connection with RigNet’ acquisition of LandTel, LandTel issued share agiation rights (SARs) to certain employt
The value of these SARs is based on the valueeoE#imdTel subsidiary only. These SARs will be setih cash upon exercise by holders
are classified as liability awards by the Compaie record expense for these awards based on thealae of the awards at each bale
sheet date.

Stockbased compensation expense is based on awardstelijnexpected to vest. We did not issue fracti@halres nor pay cash in |
of fractional shares.

Taxes

Current income taxes are provided based on thiates and rates in effect in the jurisdictions andrdries that the Company operate
and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxes téfectax effect of net operating losses, foreigx dredits and the tax effects of tempo
differences between the carrying amount of asseddiabilities for financial statement and incona& purposes, as determined under en
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are dstedl when management determines that it is mkedylthan not that some portion or
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. Be8Beral deferred tax liabilities are recordedtfa unremitted earnings of foreign subsidie
that are not permanently reinvested, net of paéeritireign tax credits; otherwise, no U.S. Fedelaferred taxes are provided on fore
subsidiaries. The financial effect of changes il&avs or rates is accounted for in the periodraatment.

From time to time, the Company engages in tranzastin which the tax consequences may be subjestdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngtased on interpretation of tax laws and reguls, which are subject to examinatior
various taxing authorities. Such examinations nesylt in future tax and interest assessments Isettexing authoritiesWe evaluate our t:
positions and recognize only tax benefits for fitiah purposes that, more likely than not, will bestgined upon examination, includ
resolutions of any related appeals or litigatioogeisses, based on the technical merits of theiqrosit

New Accounting Pronouncements

No standard implemented during 2011 or 2010 hadagermal effect on our financial position, cash flawresults of operation. See
audited consolidated financial statements incluelsdwhere in this Annual Report on FormK@er more details regarding our implementa
and assessment of new accounting standards.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected financiadl mperating data for the periods indicated.

Percentage Change

Year Ended December 31, 2010 to 2009 to
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue $ 109,35 $ 92,92, $ 80,93¢ 17.7% 14.£%
Expenses

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ametitin) 48,64t 42,47¢ 35,16¢ 14.5% 20.8%

Depreciation and amortizatic 14,58« 14,98: 12,55¢ (2.7% 19.2%

Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢ — % (200.0%

Selling and marketin 2,27¢ 2,10: 2,18i 8.2% (3.9%

General and administrati\ 26,96( 20,75¢ 16,44 29.€% 26.2%
Total expense 92,46¢ 80,32: 69,24t 15.1% 16.(%
Operating incomi 16,89( 12,60( 11,68¢ 34.(% 7.8%

Other income (expense), r (63€) (19,207 (25,85) (96.1)% (25.10)%
Income (loss) before income tax 16,25¢ (6,607) (14,169 (346.0% (53.9%
Income tax expens (6,502 (8,669 (5,457 (25.0% 58.£%
Net income (loss 9,752 (15,27¢) (29,620 163.8% (22.1%
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to -controlling interest: 234 317 30z (26.2)% 5.C%
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &tvalders $ 951¢ $ (15,599 $ (19,92) 161.(% (21. )%
Other Non-GAAP Data:
Gross Profil $ 60,71 $ 50,44: $  45,77: 20.2% 10.2%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 33456 $ 29,74C % 29,09: 12.5% 2.2%
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Our business operations are managed through tbpeetable operating segments: eastern hemisphestem hemisphere and U.S. I
The following represents selected financial opagatesults for our segments:

Percentage Change
Year Ended December 31, 2010 to 2009 to
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
(in thousands, except percentage

Eastern Hemisphere:

Revenue $ 68,15 $ 61,39C $ 60,91° 11.(% 0.8%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitn) 25,50! 24,01¢ 23,24, 6.2% 3.3%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 42 ,65: 37,37" 37,67( 14.1% (0.8%
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,02( 8,02( 6,894 — % 16.5%
Selling, general and administrati 8,97( 6,83: 5,81¢ 31.% 17.2%
Eastern hemisphere operating incc $ 2566 $ 22520 $  24,95¢ 13.9% (9.8%
Western Hemisphere:
Revenue $ 22,17¢ $ 19,01: $ 11,220 16.6% 69.4%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitn) 10,55( 8,91¢ 4,841 18.52% 84.2%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 11,62 10,09¢ 6,381 15.1% 58.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,89( 3,97: 2,42¢ 23.1% 63.6%
Selling, general and administrati 4,08t 2,36/ 1,834 72.8% 28.€%
Western hemisphere operating inco $ 2,64¢ $ 3,751 $ 2,11¢ (29.5% 77.2%
U.S. Land:
Revenue $ 19,34 § 12,84¢ $ 9,85( 50.6% 30.4%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitn) 9,93¢ 6,94 5,19¢ 43.1% 33.6%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 9,41( 5,90z 4,65¢ 59.4% 26.8%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,85: 3,122 3,20¢ (40.6% (2.€)%
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢ — % (100.0%
Selling, general and administrati 3,80¢ 2,58( 2,74¢ 47.€% (6.1)%
U.S. land operating income (los $ 3,74t $ 20C $ (4,196 1,774.(% (104.6)%

NOTE: Consolidated balances include the three segmenteationg with corporate activities and intercompaliminations.
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Revenue Revenue increased by $16.5 million, or 17.7%, 094 million for the year ended December 31, 20binf$92.9 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increassé@mue was primarily attributable to a $6.5 million50.6%, increase in U.S. Land reve
resulting from the continued growth of the U.S.ddrased drilling market and our widening geograpbitfrint in this market. Additionall
Eastern Hemisphere revenues increased $6.8 miltiod,1.0%, and Western Hemisphere revenue incred3&dmillion, or 16.6%. Both tl
Eastern and Western Hemisphere changes are psntard to increases in deepwater contract ordecseased unit counts and incree
bandwidth requirements for existing units.

Cost of RevenueCosts increased by $6.1 million, or 14.5%, to $48ilion for the year ended December 31, 2011 f@42.5 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily duedemental network services and capacity requineskrve the increased unit counts. G
Profit increased by $10.3 million, or 20.4%, to $nillion for the year ended December 31, 201Infi$50.4 million for the year end
December 31, 2010. As a percentage of revenue sGhasit increased to 55.5%, for the year endedeDdxer 31, 2011 compared to 54.3%
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increadeeingerating profitability as a percentage of reseresulted primarily from increases
Gross Profit as a percentage of revenue for Eastemisphere, to 62.6% in 2011 from 60.9% in 201@ H.S. Land, to 48.6% in 2011 fri
45.9% in 2010. This increase is primarily attrithiéato efficiencies in our management of bandwidtpacity.
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Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expenses decreas&d dymillion, or 2.7%, to $14.6 million for the a1
ended December 31, 2011 from $15.0 million for trear ended December 31, 2010. The decrease redutted reduced intangib
amortization expense as certain intangibles recbideonnection with our 2006 acquisitions of LaeiCommunications LLC and OilCat
AS became fully amortized in the fourth quarter 26f10. This decrease is partially offset by an iasesin acquisitions of ribase:
telecommunication equipment, which were acquirecbimunction with growth initiatives during 2011ch2010.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased by $0IRomior 8.2%, to $2.3 million for the year en
December 31, 2011 from $2.1 million for the yeadesh December 31, 2010.

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses increased 2yriflion, or 29.9%, to $27.0 million for the yeande:
December 31, 2011 from $20.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2010. The increase was primdti/ to increases in (i) east
hemisphere technical personnel to support growthatives, (ii) development of our Brazil regionaffice as an expansion effort and (iii) cc
related to operating as a publidhaded company including costs for additional mamagnt and directors, additional audit costs anarisfftc
strengthen our internal control over our financggorting.

Other Income (Expense)The change in other income (expense) is comprisiedaply of expense related to the change in failue o
preferred stock derivatives which totaled $17.2iamlfor the year ended December 31, 2010. Uponptetion of the IPO in December 20
the preferred stock derivatives were settled uperconversion of the preferred stock to commonkstas such, no further expense is incurred.

Income Tax ExpenseOur effective income tax rate was 40.0% and (134.29r the years ended December 31, 2011 and
respectively. Our effective tax rates are affedigdactors including fluctuations in income acrasternational jurisdictions with varying t
rates, nordeductibility of changes in fair value of preferrstbck derivatives, changes in the valuation allowearelated to operating in a |
jurisdiction for which a benefit cannot be claimeshd changes in income tax reserves. See N—"Income Taxes,to our consolidate
financial statements included elsewhere in thisuwatrReport on Form 18-for more information regarding the items comprgsiour effectiv
tax rates.

Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Revenue Revenue increased by $12.0 million, or 14.8%, t3.$9Million for the year ended December 31, 2000nfi$80.9 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increasevenue was primarily attributable to a 69.4% inseetn western hemisphere reve
resulting from our expansion in Brazil and from iaorease in contract orders and unit counts in iBeaxd other markets. Demand for
service and revenue may change in as little ag threnths for our U.S. land operations as drilliggaounts change in response to oil anc
prices and, in 2010, U.S. land revenue increasetd@@due to increased U.S. land rig counts driveinbseased natural gas and oil prices.

Cost of RevenueCosts increased by $7.3 million, or 20.8%, to $4filion for the year ended December 31, 2010 f&86.2 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2009, primarily duedemental network services and capacity requineskrve the increased unit counts. G
Profit increased by $4.6 million, or 10.2%, to $60nillion for the year ended December 31, 2010 fi$45.8 million for the year end
December 31, 2009. As a percentage of revenue sGrasit decreased to 54.3%, for the year endecibber 31, 2010 compared to 56.6%
the year ended December 31, 2009. The declinedroperating profitability as a percentage of reeenesulted from decreases acros
operating segments. These decreases in Gross &dipercentage of revenue are consistent witin¢hease in cost of revenue resulting f
increased contracted satellite bandwidth costogitipn our business for future growth. As a petage of revenue, eastern hemisphere (
Profit decreased to 60.9%, in 2010 from 61.8% i@ Avestern hemisphere Gross Profit decreased.1843n 2010 from 56.9% in 2009, ¢
U.S. land Gross Profit decreased to 45.9% in 204 £47.3% in 2009. The future relationship betwt#enrevenue and Gross Profit growt!
our operating segments will depend on a varietiaators, including the timing of major contractsy @bility to leverage existing infrastruct
and our exploitation of market opportunities, whéke difficult to predict.

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expenses increaseiPbymillion, or 19.3%, to $15.0 million for theg
ended December 31, 2010 from $12.6 million forytear ended December 31, 2009. The increase redrdiadan increase in the acquisitior
rig-based telecommunication equipment, which wagimed in conjunction with growth initiatives dugr2010 and 2009.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses decreased by $0llormior 3.8%, to $2.1 million for the year en
December 31, 2010 from $2.2 million for the yeadesh December 31, 2009.
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General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses increased yrilion, or 26.2%, to $20.8 million for the yeande:
December 31, 2010 from $16.4 million for the yeaded December 31, 2009. The increase was primduiéyto norrecurring costs of $1
million incurred during 2010 in preparation for d&O of our common stock, which closed on Decen®er2010. In addition, general ¢
administrative cost increases resulted from in@eas (i) eastern hemisphere technical personmalpport growth initiatives, (ii) developm:
of our Brazil regional office as an expansion ffard (iii) senior level staff in anticipation operating as a public company.

Other Income (Expense)The change in other income (expense) is comprisethply of changes in interest expense and chairgésr
value of preferred stock derivatives. Interest eiggedecreased $3.5 million, or 68.6%, to $1.6 amillior the year ended December 31,
from $5.1 million for the year ended December 3102 The decrease in interest expense reflectsahe of warrants issued in connec
with stockholder notes repaid during 2009 beindyfuécognized in interest expense through 2009.HAf no interest expense during 2
related to warrants.

Expense related to the change in fair value ofgurefl stock derivatives decreased by $3.8 millorri,8.1%, to $17.2 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2010 from $21.0 million in inedior the year ended December 31, 2009, as a m@fsthie increased fair value of cert
bifurcated derivatives related to the conversiod aedemption features of our preferred stock. Aatiog standards require the sepe
valuation and recording of certain features of praferred stock until such shares are converteg@deemed. Those features are revaluet
reported each period at the then fair value, witlangies in fair value recorded in the Consolidatéate®hents of Income (Loss) ¢
Comprehensive Income (Loss). The increase in vafube conversion option was in part due to theeased probability of an IPO in 20
Upon completion of the IPO, the preferred stockwddives were settled upon the conversion of tiedgered stock to common stock.

Income Tax ExpenseOur effective income tax rate was (131.2)% and 5B88. for the years ended December 31, 2010 and
respectively. Our effective tax rates are affedigdactors including fluctuations in income acrasternational jurisdictions with varying t
rates, nordeductibility of changes in fair value of preferrstbck derivatives, changes in the valuation allowearelated to operating in a |
jurisdiction for which a benefit cannot be claimeshd changes in income tax reserves. See Nc—"Income Taxes,"to our consolidate
financial statements included elsewhere in thisuairReport on Form 10-K for more information redagdthe itemscomprising our effectiy
tax rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital sireag formation have been proceeds from private ggssuances, stockholder loans, «
flow from operations, bank borrowings and our IF©.date, our primary use of capital has been td faur growing operations and to fina
acquisitions. Prior to our IPO, we raised approxetya$38.3 million of net proceeds through privaféerings of our common and prefer
stock. In December 2010, we received net procemas dur IPO of $35.4 million, after deducting undsting discounts and commissions
$2.8 million and additional offering related expessof $1.8 million, of which $0.8 million was paitlring the twelve months enc
December 31, 2010, with the balance paid duringl2@& a result of the underwriters’ exercise of @eerAllotment in January 2011, \
received net cash proceeds of $5.5 million, afelutting underwriting discounts and commission$@# million and additional offerir
related expenses of $0.1 million paid during tlreétmonths ended March 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2011, we had working capital of 85&illion, including cash and cash equivalent$%8.1 million, accounts receiva
of $26.4 million and other current assets of $3iBian, offset by $5.5 million in accounts payabk7.1 million in accrued expenses, {
million in current maturities of long-term debt,.$5nillion in tax related liabilities and $1.5 nidh in deferred revenue.

Over the past five years, we have spent $7.2 mili@$19.0 million annually on capital expenditurBased on our current expectatic
we believe our liquidity and capital resources Wwél sufficient for the conduct of our business apdrations for the foreseeable future. We
also use a portion of our available cash to finagaavth through the acquisition of, or investmentioj businesses, products, service
technologies complementary to our current busingssugh mergers, acquisitions, and joint ventwe®therwise. However, we have
agreements or commitments for any specific acqoistat this time.
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During the next twelve months, we expect our ppatisources of liquidity to be cash flows from agérg activities and available c:
and cash equivalents, which includes the proceédsinlPO and the sale of stock related to undeensi OverAllotment. In forecasting o
cash flows we have considered factors includingtreated services related to loterm deepwater drilling programs, U.S. Land rig rd
trends, projected oil and natural gas prices amdraoted and available satellite bandwidth.

Beyond the next twelve months, we expect our ppaicsources of liquidity to be cash flows providedoperating activities, cash ¢
cash equivalents and additional financing actigitiee may pursue, which may include equity offerings

While we believe we have sufficient liquidity andpital resources to meet our current operatingireouents and expansion plans,
may want to pursue additional expansion opportemitvithin the next year which could require addiibfinancing, either debt or equity. If
are unable to secure additional financing at falvieréerms in order to pursue such additional exjpaissopportunities, our ability to maint:
our desired level of revenue growth could be maligradversely affected.

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Cash and cash equivalents, Janual $ 5043t $ 11,37¢ $  15,37¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 16,59: 19,89¢ 26,18¢
Net cash used by investing activit (8,99¢) (13,449 (19,309
Net cash provided (used) by financing activi (4,310 33,48( (10,779
Changes in foreign currency translat (615) (871 (107)
Cash and cash equivalents, Decembe $ 5310¢ $ 5043t $  11,37¢

Currently, the Norwegian kroner and the British pdsterling are the currencies that could mategriatipact our liquidity. Our historic
experience with exchange rates for these currer@asbeen relatively stable and, consequently, evaal currently hedge these risks,
evaluate these risks on a continual basis and ragjinancial instruments in place in the futuredldemed necessary. During the years €
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, 79.5%, 77.5% a3 of our revenue was denominated in U.S. dylka@spectively.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $16iléon for the year ended December 31, 2011 caeghao $19.9 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in cashdptblay operating activities during 2011 of $3.3liorl was primarily due to the timing
collections of our accounts receivable, partialfiset by the increased profitability of our coreesgtions. Net cash provided by opera
activities was $19.9 million for the year ended &mber 31, 2010 compared to $26.2 million for tharyended December 31, 2009.
decrease in cash provided by operating activitiging 2010 of $6.3 million was primarily due to reased billings compared to prior pel
and the timing of collections of our accounts reable.

Our cash provided by operations is subject to meamables, the most significant of which is theatdity of the oil and gas industry al
therefore, the demand for our services. Other fadtopacting operating cash flows include the allity and cost of satellite bandwidth,
well as the timing of collecting our receivablesur@uture cash flow from operations will depend aur ability to increase our contrac
services through our sales and marketing effortiteviveraging the contracted satellite and otlwenmunication service costs.

Investing Activities

Net cash used by investing activities was $9.0lionil $13.4 million and $19.3 million in the yeagaded December 31, 2011, 2010
2009, respectively. Of these amounts $19.2 mill&t3.5 million, and $10.2 million, respectively, iefor capital expenditures. For the
ended Deceber 31, 2011, net cash used by investingties also included cash provided of $10.0ionlrelated to a decrease in our restri
cash. The continued growth in capital expenditwés5.7 million and $3.3 million for the years edd®ecember 31, 2011 and 2C
respectively, compared to each of the respectii@ periods. We expect capital expenditures to ioomet this growth during 2012 primar
resulting from growth opportunities arising fronctiaasing demand for deepwater drilling. While drgl programs and timing change du
various factors beyond our control, we currentlypent that our Western Hemisphere operations witiefie from the majority of capit
expenditures to be spent in the near future.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided (used) by financing activitiess\v#4.3) million, $33.5 million and $(10.8) million the years ended December
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Cash used layéing activities during the year ended DecembefB811 was attributable to $8.8 mill
of principal payments on our long-term debt. Thigflow was partially offset by net proceeds frone thnderwriters’ exercise of the Over-
Allotment in January 2011, from which we received cash proceeds of $5.5 million, after deductindeswriting discounts and commissi
of $0.4 million and additional offering related exyses of $0.1 million paid during the period. Cpsebvided by financing activities during 1
year ended December 31, 2010 was attributable t@meeeds from our IPO of $35.4 million, after deting underwriting discounts a
commissions of $2.8 million and additional offeriredated expenses of $1.8 million, of which $0.8lion was paid during the twelve mon
ended December 31, 2010 with the balance paid g@@i1. Additionally, we received $11.1 million mfoceeds from amendments of our t
loan agreement. These proceeds were offset byriliBn of principal payments of long-term debt atiet $4.7 million redemption of non-
controlling interest acquiring all remaining normtwlling ownership of LandTel.

Term Loan

The Company has a term loan (Term Loan) with twadigipating financial institutions. The Term Loaragzamended in November 2(
to provide for a draw feature available through May2011, under which the Company borrowed an eatdit $1.1 million used solely f
purchases of equipment. In May 2011, the Comparthdu amended its Term Loan, increasing the prladijalance by $0.1 million, extend
the maturity of the loan to May 2014 and removilng tequirement to maintain compensating cash basanc

Additionally, the amended Term Loan bears a redutedest rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging frar@5% to 3.25%, basedon ar.
of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a n@AAP financial measure as defined in the agreemlaterest is payable monthly along v
quarterly principal installments of $2.2 millionjttv the balance due May 31, 2014. As of Decembe2811, the Term Loan had outstant
principal of $23.5 million. The weighted averagtenest rate for the year ended December 31, 20514046, with an interest rate of 3.09
December 31, 2011.

The Term Loan is secured by substantially all tteets of the Company.

Our term loan agreement imposes certain restristinoluding our ability to obtain additional debtdncing and on our payment of ¢
dividends. It also requires us to maintain cerfaiancial covenants such as a funded debt to Aé§UEBITDA ratio of less than or equal to
to 1.0 and a fixed charge coverage ratio of nat than 1.5 to 1.0. At December 31, 2011, our AgjdisEBITDA exceeded the minimum lev
required by the: (i) fixed charge coverage ratio$#y2.7 million (or 37.9% of our Adjusted EBITDA fdhe trailing twelve months) a
(i) funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio by $21million (or 64.8% of our Adjusted EBITDA for thediting twelve months).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in any off-balance sheet arrangesme
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
At December 31, 2011, we had contractual obligat@md commercial commitments as follows:

2013 - 2015 - 2017 and
Total 2012 2014 2016 Beyond
(in thousands)

Contractual Obligations:
Debt obligation:

Term loan $ 23,45: % 8,70C $ 14,75¢ $ — 3 —
Equipment note 66 35 31 — —
Interest (1, 1,01¢ 60¢ 41C — —
Operating lease 2,34¢ 1,24¢ 951 14¢€ —
Other nor-current liabilities 14,18 — — — 14,18
Commercial Commitments:
Satellite and network servic 15,06¢ 8,21: 6,85¢ — —
$ 56,13 $ 18,80 $ 23,00: $ 14€ $ 14,18!

(1) Computed on the expected outstanding principlengal#hrough the term of the loan, at the intera®t in effect at December 31, 20
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP Measure)

The nonGAAP financial measure, Adjusted EBITDA, may not d@mparable to similarly titted measures used Hyeottompanie
Therefore, this noGAAP measure should be considered in conjunctioth wiet income and other performance measures @@pia
accordance with GAAP, such as operating incomeatrcash provided by operating activities. Furthfdjusted EBITDA should not t
considered in isolation or as a substitute for GAA®asures such as net income, operating incomeyootaer GAAP measure of liquidity
financial performance.

The following table presents a reconciliation of nat income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA.

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Net income (loss $ 9,752 $ (15,276 $ (19,620
Interest expens 1,24¢ 1,61¢ 5,14¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,58¢ 14,98 12,55¢
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢
(Gain) loss on retirement of property and equipn (165) 294 111
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — 17,19( 21,00¢
Stocl-based compensatic 1,53¢ 437 271
Initial public offering cost: — 1,82¢ 1,261
Income tax expens 6,50z 8,66¢ 5,45\

Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $ 3345 $ 29,74C $ 29,09

We evaluate Adjusted EBITDA generated from our afjiens and operating segments to assess the @btesttovery of historical capi
expenditures, determine timing and investment ket growth opportunities, extend commitments ateBite bandwidth cost to expand
offshore production platform and vessel market sharvest in new products and services, expandpen mew offices, service centers
SOIL nodes, and assist purchasing synergies.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, Adjus&d BA increased by $3.8 million, or 12.5%, from $29illion in 2010 to $33.
million in 2011 which resulted primarily from theaovery of the U.S. landased drilling market and increases in contracersaénd un
counts in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, partially offdey costs incurred in 2011 related to operating asibliclytraded company. During the y
ended December 31, 2010, Adjusted EBITDA incredse80.6 million, or 2.2%, from $29.1 million in 28Go $29.7 million in 2010 whic
resulted primarily from the expansion of our opiersd in Brazil and increased U.S. land rig counigeth by increased natural gas anc
prices.
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Iltem 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are subject to a variety of risks, includingefgn currency exchange rate fluctuations relatimdareign operations and cert
purchases from foreign vendors. In the normal ewoishusiness, we assess these risks and havéiststdipolicies and procedures to mar
our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currenciues.

Our objective in managing our exposure to foreigrrency exchange rate fluctuations is to reducerttpact of adverse fluctuations
earnings and cash flows associated with foreigneaoy exchange rates. We do not currently usedoreurrency forward contracts to he
our exposure on firm commitments denominated irifpr currencies, but evaluate this on a continaaldand may put financial instrument
place in the future if deemed necessary. Duringyttees ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 20.59226686, respectively of our reven:
were earned in non-U.S. currencies. At DecembeB10 and 2009, we had no significant outstandamgifin exchange contracts.

Our results of operations and cash flows are stibjeffuctuations due to changes in interest raté@warily from our variable interest r:
longterm debt. We do not currently use financial instemts to hedge these interest risk exposures,valttate this on a continual basis
may put financial instruments in place in the fetifrdeemed necessary. The following analysis cefléhe annual impacts of potential chai
in our interest rate to net income (loss) attriblegato us and our total stockholders’ equity basedour outstanding lontgrm debt on ar
December 31, 2011 and 2010, assuming those liabilitere outstanding for the entire year.

December 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Effect on Net Income (Loss) and Equit—Increase/Decrease

1% Decrease/increase in r: $ 23¢ % 32¢
2% Decrease/increase in ri $ 47z $ 64¢
3% Decrease/increase in r $ 706 $ 97C

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements, togetheh Wit related notes and report of independenttergid public accounting firm, are
forth on the pages indicated in Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéianting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officemaluated the effectiveness of
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2®L1. The term “disclosure controls and procesitiras defined in Rules 13%{e) an
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amef @rocedures of a company that are designedsiretthat information required to
disclosed by a company in the reports that it fdesubmits under the Exchange Act is recordedsga®ed, summarized and reported, w
the time periods specified in the SBCQules and forms. Disclosure controls and proaeslurclude, without limitation, controls and prouest
designed to ensure that information required taliselosed by a company in the reports that it fiessubmits under the Exchange Ac
accumulated and communicated to the commameanagement, including its principal executive pridcipal financial officers, as appropri
to allow timely decisions regarding required discice. Management recognizes that any controls eswkegures, no matter how well desig
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddrazhieving their objectives and management regciédg applies its judgment in
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evaluating the codtenefit relationship of possible controls and pchges. Based on the evaluation of our disclosungrgts and procedures
of December 31, 2011, our Chief Executive Officad a&hief Financial Officer concluded that, as oftsuate, our disclosure controls
procedures provide reasonable assurance that iafmmrequired to be disclosed by the Company é®nded, processed, summarized
reported, within the time periods specified in 8tC'’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by Rule 13a-15
(d) and 15dt5(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred duringdbarter ended December 31, 2011 that has matesafiigted, or is reasonal
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management report called for by Item 308(d3edjulation S-K is provided below.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |AL REPORTING

The management RigNet, Inc. and its subsidiarles Gompany) is responsible for establishing anchtamiing adequate internal con
over financial reporting. The Compasyihternal control system was designed to providsonable assurance to management and the B
Directors regarding the reliability of financialperting and the preparation of financial statemdatsexternal purposes in accordance
generally accepted accounting principles.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Even those systdetermined to be effective
provide only reasonable assurance with respedhamdial statement presentation and preparationh&gy because of changes in conditions
effectiveness of internal control may vary overdim

As of December 31, 2011, our management assessexfféittiveness of our internal control over finahceporting based on the crite
for effective internal control over financial repiog established in Internal Control lntegrated Framework, issued by the Committe
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdased on the assessment, management determatedetimaintained effective inter
control over financial reporting as of December 3111, based on those criteria. Management inclidéd assessment of internal control
financial reporting all consolidated entities.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registerebligc accounting firm that audited our consolidaferncial statements included
this Annual Report on Form 1IK; has issued an attestation report on the effestiss of internal control over financial reportiag o
December 31, 2011 which is included in Item 8. Reial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Accounting Fim

The independent auditor’s attestation report cabedoy Item 308(b) of Regulation &-is incorporated herein by reference to Repa
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ¢imaé Control Over Financial Reporting), included ltem 8. Financial Statements
Supplementary Data.

Limitations of the Effectiveness of Internal Contrd

A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absaggirance that the objective
the internal control system are met. Because ofrtherent limitations of any internal control systeinternal control over financial reporti
may not detect or prevent misstatements. Projextidrany evaluation of the effectiveness to fupeeiods are subject to the risk that con
may become inadequate because of changes in areddr that the degree of compliance with the psiand procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Ill is omittém this Annual Report on Form 10-as we intend to file our definitive Prc
Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhddghe “2012 Proxy Statementursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exda
Act of 1934, as amended, not later than 120 dalgs #fe end of the fiscal year covered by this AairiReport on Form 18 and certai
information included in the Proxy Statement is iprated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govenee

Certain information in response to this item isoiporated herein by reference to “Our Board of Btives and Nominees” andCorporat:
Governance’in the 2012 Proxy Statement to be filed with theCSEhformation on compliance with Section 16(a)tlbé Exchange Act
incorporated herein by reference to “Section 1&@jeficial Ownership Reporting Compliande”the 2012 Proxy Statement to be filed \
the SEC.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct arck €thode of conduct"gpplicable to our principal executive, financiatlaccountin
officers. Copies of both the code of conduct, ali a®& any waiver of a provision of the code of cocdgranted to any principal executi
financial and accounting officers or material anmeedt tothe code of conduct, if any, are available, withobtarge, on our website
WWW.rig.net.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

Information in response to this item is incorpodatesrein by reference to “Executive Compensationthe 2012 Proxy Statement to
filed with the SEC.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information in response to this item is incorpodateerein by reference toStcurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
Management” in the 2012 Proxy Statement to be filét the SEC.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

Information in response to this item is incorpodatesrein by reference to “Certain Relationships Rethted Transactionsh the 201
Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information in response to this item is incorpodakerein by reference to “Fees Paid to IndepenBegistered Public Accounting Firm”
in the 2012 Proxy Statement to be filed with theCSE

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(A) Consolidated Financial Statemen
1. Consolidated Financial Statements. The consolidfaacial statements listed in the accompan“index to Consolidate

Financial Informatio” are filed as part of this Annual Repc

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. Alledales have been omitted because the informatigoiresl to b
presented in them is not applicable or is showthénfinancial statements or related no

(B) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits adedias part of this Annual Report for Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report t
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

RIGNET, INC.

By: /s/ MARK B. SLAUGHTER March 7, 201z
Mark B. Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on ber
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Name Title Date

/sl MARK B. SLAUGHTER Chief Executive Officer, President a March 7, 2012
Mark B. Slaughte Director (Principal Executive Office

/s/ MARTIN L. JIMMERSON, JR Chief Financial Office March 7, 201z
Martin L. Jimmerson, J (Principal Financial & Accounting Office

/sl THOMAS M. MATTHEWS Chairman of the Boar March 7, 201z
Thomas M. Matthew

/sl JAMES H. BROWNINC Director March 7, 201z
James H. Brownin

/s/ DITLEF DE VIBE Director March 7, 201z
Ditlef de Vibe

/s/ CHARLES L. DAVIS IV Director March 7, 201z
Charles L. Davis I\

/s/ KEVIN A. NEVEU Director March 7, 201z
Kevin A. Neveu

/sl KEVIN J. CHARA Director March 7, 201z
Kevin J. C'Hara

/s/ KEITH OLSEN Director March 7, 201z
Keith Olsen

/s/ BRENT K. WHITTINGTON Director March 7, 201z

Brent K. Whittington
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Righec.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (thenigany”) as of December 3
2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statsnoéincome (loss) and comprehensive income Xlassh flows, and stockholderxjuity
for each of the three years in the period endeceBéer 31, 2011. We also have audited the Compadntgrnal control over financial report
as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria estadoli$n Internal Control —ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpiang
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Caomsamanagement is responsible for these financitdrsents, for maintaining effecti
internal control over financial reporting, and fts assessment of the effectiveness of internalrabaover financial reporting, included in 1
accompanying ManagemesitAnnual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&alporting. Our responsibility is to express an @piron thes
financial statements and an opinion on the Compsimgernal control over financial reporting basedoar audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet aodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimtigcial statements are free of mate
misstatement and whether effective internal cordxar financial reporting was maintained in all eré&l respects. Our audits of the finan
statements included examining, on a test basisleaee supporting the amounts and disclosures irfitla@cial statements, assessing
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovemaldial statement presentation. Our ¢
of internal control over financial reporting inclkedi obtaining an understanding of internal contk@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and euadutite design and operating effectiveness of matecontrol based on the assessed risk
audits also included performing such other procesl@s we considered necessary in the circumstaWeedelieve that our audits provid
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi, the compang’ principa
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected Ihe tcompanys board of director
management, and other personnel to provide reakaaburance regarding the reliability of finanecggorting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordance gétierally accepted accounting principles. A comfminternal control over financ
reporting includes those policies and procedures ({h) pertain to the maintenance of records tinateasonable detail, accurately and f:
reflect the transactions and dispositions of thgetssof the company; (2) provide reasonable asser#imat transactions are recordel
necessary to permit preparation of financial states in accordance with generally accepted acaogirgrinciples, and that receipts
expenditures of the company are being made onlgceordance with authorizations of management arectdirs of the company; a
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prerewati timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the compasay’
assets that could have a material effect on thanfial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the pogstl of collusion or imprope
management override of controls, material misstatésndue to error or fraud may not be preventedetected on a timely basis. Al
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesshe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk tha
controls may become inadequate because of changesnditions, or that the degree of compliance wiita policies or procedures n
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteemeferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position
RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,124nhd 2010, and the results of their operatiomsthair cash flows for each of the th
years in the period ended December 31, 2011, ifocmity with accounting principles generally accagptin the United States of Ameri
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, ihrahterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December
2011, based on the criteria established in Inte@ualtrol —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiing Organizations of t
Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 7, 2012



Table of Contents

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Total current assets
Property and equipment, r
Restricted cas
Goodwill
Intangibles
Deferred tax and other ass

TOTAL ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Income taxes payab

Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred revenu

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 8 anc

Stockholders’ equity:
RigNet, Inc. stockholder’ equity

Preferred stock—$0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shard®rized; zero and zero shares issued and

RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respéc

Common stoc—$0.001 par value; 190,000,000 shares authorized40301 and 14,760,687 sha

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011 an@l 28dpectivel)

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Total RigNet, Inc. stockholder¢ equity
Non-redeemable, nc-controlling interes
Total stockholders’ equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2011

2010

(in thousands)

$ 53,106 $ 50,43t
— 2,50(
26,35( 15,97:
3,581 3,41¢
83,03 72,32¢
32,65¢ 26,38(
— 7,50(
13,79¢ 13,84
5,84¢ 6,76¢
5,58¢ 2,97:

$ 140,92 $ 129,78
$ 545¢ $  4,86¢
7,11¢ 6,62
8,73t 8,65¢
5,267 4,751
1,547 1,30¢
28,11 26,20:
14,78t 23,48t
457 32t

48 631
14,13: 11,28:
57,53 61,92
15 15

116, 74( 110,11¢
(32,92 (42,440)
(610) 5
83,22: 67,60¢
167 162
83,38" 67,86(

$ 140,92 $ 129,78
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RIGNET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPRE HENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Revenue
Expenses:
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ametitin)
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of goodwil
Selling and marketin
General and administrati\
Total expenses
Operating income
Other income (expense)
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax expens
Net income (loss
Less: Net income (loss) attributable
Non-redeemable, nc-controlling interes
Redeemable, ni-controlling interes
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. stdcholders

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Net income (loss
Foreign currency translatic

Total comprehensive income (loss

INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE—BASIC AND DILUTED
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &tomders
Less: Preferred stock dividen
Less: Adjustment to redeemable, -controlling interest redemption val

Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coamstockholder

Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righet, common stockholders, ba:
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righ®t, common stockholders, dilut:

Weighted average shares outstanding, t
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
$ 109,35 §$ 92,921 $ 80,93¢
48,64 42,47¢ 35,16t
14,58¢ 14,98: 12,55¢
— — 2,89¢
2,27¢ 2,10 2,18i
26,96( 20,75¢ 16,44
92,46¢ 80,32! 69,24¢
16,89( 12,60( 11,68¢
(1,249 (1,618 (5,146
617 (399) 304
= (17,190 (21,009
16,25¢ (6,607 (14,169
(6,507) (8,66¢) (5,457)
9,75: (15,276) (19,620
234 292 29z
— 25 10
$ 951¢ $ (1559) $ (19,929
$ 9,75: $ (15,279 $ (19,620
(615) (93€) 1,49¢
$ 9137 $ (16,219 $ (18,129
$ 9,51¢ $ (1559) $ (19,929
— 3,16/ 2,10(
— 50 96
$ 951¢ $ (18,80) $ (22,119
$ 062 $ (3.3 $ (4.16)
$ 057 $ (3.39 $ (4.16)
15,381 5,571 5,31
16,81 5,571 5,31z
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RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss $ 9,75 $ (15,276 $ (19,620
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mshcfrom operation:
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — 17,19( 21,00¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 14,58¢ 14,98: 12,554
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,89¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,53¢ 437 271
Write-off/famortization of deferred financing co: 95 147 352
Deferred taxe (3,04¢) (1,42 (81¢)
(Gain) loss on sale or retirement of property agaigment (165) 294 111
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl (10,297 (3,249 3,71
Prepaid expenses and other as (312) 65E (63%)
Accounts payabl 44¢ 93¢ 60¢
Accrued expense 77¢€ (8593) 4,84¢
Deferred revenu 36¢ (24) (509)
Other liabilities 2,851 6,081 1,39¢
Net cash provided by operating activities 16,59: 19,89¢ 26,18¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditure (19,220 (13,48) (10,179
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 224 32 93
Decrease/(Increase) in restricted ¢ 10,00( — (9,225
Net cash used by investing activitie (8,996 (13,449 (19,309
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net oficaslance cos 4,63¢ 36,39¢ 137
Payment of preferred stock divider — (197 —
Subsidiary distributions to n-controlling interes (234) (271) (335)
Redemption of redeemable, 1-controlling interes — (4,657 (4,769
Proceeds from borrowing 75 11,067 35,00(
Repayments of lor-term debt (8,789 (8,81]) (40,440
Payments of financing fet — (55) (379)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activitie (4,310 33,48( (10,779
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale 3,28¢ 39,927 (3,890
Cash and cash equivalents
Balance, January 50,43¢ 11,37¢ 15,37¢
Changes in foreign currency translat (615) (871) (107
Balance, December 31 $ 5310¢ $ 5043t $  11,37¢

Supplemental disclosures

Income taxes pai $ 576 $ 4,44¢ $ 2,24:
Interest pai—other $ 1,16¢ $ 1547 $ 1,24(
Interest pai—stockholder: $ — 3 — 3 5,70¢
Non-cash investin—capital expenditure $ 2,20z $ 1,16z $ 1,651

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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Balance, January 1, 2009

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock
options

Preferred stock dividenc

Stocl-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Adjustment to redemption value of r-controlling interes

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income (loss

Balance, December 31, 20C

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock
options and warran

Preferred stock dividenc

Conversion of preferred stor

Sale of common stoc

Stocl-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Adjustment to redemption value of r-controlling interes

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income (loss

Balance, December 31, 201

Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock
options and warran

Issuance of restricted common stock, net of farfei

Sale of common stoc

Stoclk-based compensatic

Foreign currency translatic

Non-controlling owner distribution

Net income

Balance, December 31, 2011

RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Accumulated Total
Additional Other RigNet, Inc. Non-Redeemable Total
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’ Non-Controlling  Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity Interest Equity
(in thousands)

5,30¢ 5 11,30 (6,925) (555) 3,82¢ 73 3,901
15 — 137 — — 137 — 137
— — (2,100 — — (2,100 — (2,100
— — 277 — — 2717 — 2717
— — — — 1,49¢ 1,49¢ — 1,49¢
— — (96) — — (9€) — (96)
— — — — — — (2249) (2249)
— — — (19,927 — (19,929 292 (19,63()
5,31¢ 5 9,521 (26,847 941 (16,38() 141 (16,239
44¢ 1 9 — — 1C — 1C
— — (3,164 — — (3,169) — (3,169)
5,661 6 67,93( — — 67,93t — 67,93t
3,33 3 35,43¢ — — 35,43¢ — 35,43¢
— — 437 — — 437 — 437
— — — — (936) (93€) — (93€)
— — (50) — — (50 — (50
— — — — — — (277) (277)
— — — (15,599 — (15,597 29z (15,307)
14,76 15 110,11¢ (42,440 5 67,69¢ 162 67,86(
45 — 73 — — 73 — 73

13t — — — — — — —
50C — 5,561t — — 5,561¢ — 5,51¢
— — 1,03¢ — — 1,034 — 1,034
— — — — (615) (615) — (615)
— — — — — — (234) (234)
— — — 9,51¢ — 9,51¢ 234 9,75:
1544. $ 15 $ 116,74C $ (32,92) $ (610 $ 83,22: $ 16z $ 83,38¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 1—Business and Summary of Significant Accoumt§ Policies
Nature of Business

RigNet, Inc. (the Company or RigNet) provides reenobmmunication services for the oil and gas ingustrough a controlled a
managed Internet Protocol/Multiprotocol Label Switgy (IP/MPLS) global network, enabling drilling mwactors, oil companies and oilfis
service companies to communicate more effectivEfye Company provides its customers with voice, fédteo and data services in rdihe
between remote sites and home offices throughautvbrld, while the Company manages and operatemftestructure from its lantlase:
Network Operations Cente

The Companys corporate offices are located in Houston, TeXas. Company serves the owners and operators dfaséfdrilling rige
and production facilities, land rigs, remote officend supply bases in approximately 30 countrielsiding the United States, Brazil, Norw
the United Kingdom, Nigeria, Qatar, Saudi Arabisgapore and Australia.

Basis of Presentation

The Company presents its financial statements aordance with generally accepted accounting priesifin the United States (U
GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation and Reporting

The Companys consolidated financial statements include theoaats of RigNet, Inc. and all subsidiaries theregdf. intercompan'
accounts and transactions have been eliminatecbmsotidation. As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and920®n<¢ontrolling interest ¢
subsidiaries represents the outside economic owipeirgerest of Qatar, WLL of less than 3.0%.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statemts

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make egtsmand assumptions that af
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,dikelosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the financial statements anc
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringeleeting periods, as well as certain financiateinent disclosures. The estimates the
particularly significant to the financial statememclude the Company’s valuation of goodwill, imgibles, preferred stock derivatives, stock-
based compensation, income tax valuation allowandeuncertain tax positions. While management bedi¢hat the estimates and assump
used in the preparation of the financial statemargsappropriate, future results could differ frdmse estimates. Further, volatile equity
energy markets combine to increase uncertaintydh €stimates and assumptions. As such, estimateassumptions are adjusted when -
and circumstances dictate and any changes wikfbected in the financial statements in future @esi

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on-hahHighly-liquid investments purchased with matestof three months or less.
Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2010 the Company had $10.0 milliorestricted cash to satisfy credit facility reguments, of which $7.5 million w
noncurrent. The restricted cash was maintained infohe of minimum required balances in two of its kaaccounts. In May 2011, t
Company amended its credit facility which no longeguires these compensating balances.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as custoane billed in accordance with customer cont@cagreements. The Compi
reports an allowance for doubtful accounts for ptilb credit losses existing in accounts receivaldi@nagement determines the allowe
based on a review of currently outstanding recdasabnd the Company’s historical wridf-experience. Significant individual receivabkas
balances which have been outstanding greater tBata@s are reviewed individually. Account balanaesen determined to be uncollectil
are charged against the allowance.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which consists of (i) tefemunication and computer equipment and (ii) fumatand other, is stated
acquisition cost net of accumulated depreciatiogprieciation is provided using the straidihe method over the expected useful lives o
respective assets, which range from one to sevarsy&he Company assesses property and equipnidantdfairment when events indicate
carrying value exceeds fair value. Maintenancerapdir costs are charged to expense when incurred.

Derivatives

All contracts are evaluated for embedded derivatiwdich are bifurcated when (i) the economic charistics and risks of su
instruments are not clearly and closely relatethéoeconomic characteristics and risks of the predestock agreement, (ii) the contract is
already reported at fair value and (iii) such instents meet the definition of a derivative instrainand are not scope exceptions unde
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) guickaon derivatives and hedging.

Prior to the Company' initial public offering completed on December 2010 (IPO) and as of December 31, 2009, the Coynpar
identified embedded derivative features withingteferred stock agreements which qualified as dévigs and are reported separately 1
preferred stock. Fair values of these derivativesewdetermined using a combination of the expegtedent value of future cash flows ar
market approach. The present value of future clstsfwas estimated at the end of each reportingpgersing the Compang’most recel
forecast and its weighted average cost of capita¢ market approach used a market multiple on ¢ksted cash generated from operati
Significant estimates for determining fair valueluded cash flow forecasts, the Compamyeighted average cost of capital, projected ira
tax rates and market multiples.

In connection with the IPO, preferred stock deiixeg were settled upon conversion of preferredkstoccommon stock, therefore,
derivatives were outstanding at December 31, 2640 Note 2—Initial Public Offering, Preferred Stacid Warrants).

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of brand names and customeatioekhips acquired as part of the LandTel and &il@ acquisitions, as well
internal-use software. The Company’s intangiblegehaseful lives ranging from four to nine years ame amortized on a straiglie basis
Impairment testing is performed when events orucitstances indicate that the carrying value of tbget® may not be recoverable.
impairment indicators have been identified as oéémber 31, 2011.

Goodwill

Goodwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTel addCamp as the consideration paid exceeded thevdhiie of acquired identifiable r
tangible assets and intangibles. Goodwill is reei@ior impairment at least annually with additioeghluations being performed when ev
or circumstances indicate that the carrying valuthese assets may not be recoverable. The Conpenfigrms its annual impairment test
July 31st, with the most recent test being performed asubf 31, 2011. This test resulted in no impairmedt additional impairme
indicators have been identified through DecemberZill. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, goodwis $13.8 million. Goodw
increases or decreases in value due to the efféatesgn currency translation.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

During 2009, the Company identified a triggeringmeivassociated with the significant decline in Hwaded drilling activity for which ¢
impairment test was performed as of June 30, 2006@. Company recognized a $2.9 million impairmentgobdwill within its U.S. lan
reporting unit as a result of such test. Subsedyethie Company performed its annual impairment ¢esJuly 31, 2009 which identified
additional impairment indicators.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a tst@p process. The first step of the impairmentigessed to identify potential impairmi
by comparing the fair value of each reporting tmithe book value of the reporting unit, includiggodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit
determined using a combination of the reporting’aréxpected present value of future cash flows am@rket approach. The present valu
future cash flows is estimated using the Compsumyost recent forecast and the weighted averadeotaespital. The market approach us
market multiple on the reporting unit's cash getetdrom operations. Significant estimates for egggorting unit included in the Company’
impairment analysis are cash flow forecasts, then@ny's weighted average cost of capital, projected irectem rates and market multipl
Changes in these estimates could affect the egtihfair value of the reporting units and resulamimpairment of goodwill in a future period.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thigmbook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isrsidered to be impaired and the set
step of the impairment test is performed to meath@eamount of impairment loss, if any. The secstegh of the impairment test compares
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwilith the book value of that goodwill. If the boellue of the reporting uni’ goodwil
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, iempairment loss is recognized in an amount equahat excess. The implied fair value
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportimgit’s fair value to all of its assets and liabilitigher than goodwill in the same manner
purchase price allocation. Any impairment in theueaof goodwill is charged to earnings in the persoich impairment is determined.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is recognized in the consolidated balaheets, net of costs incurred, in connection wiitaining debt financing. De
financing costs are deferred and reported as actieduto the principal amount of the debt. Suchte@se amortized over the life of the ¢
using the effective interest rate method and inedLith interest expense in the Company’s consolitfitancial statements.

Revenue Recognition

All revenue is recognized when persuasive evidefi@ga arrangement exists, the service is compllegeamount is fixed or determina
and collectability is reasonably assured. Netwank/ise fee revenue is based on fixed-price, iddag-contracts and recognized monthly a:
service is provided. Generally, customer contrats® provide for installation and maintenance sewi Installation services are paid u
initiation of the contract and recognized over lifie of the respective contract. Maintenance chgsrgee recognized as specific services
performed. Deferred revenue consists of deferrsthliation billings, customer deposits and otha@ppyments for which services have no
been rendered. Revenue is reported net of anystsesaed and collected on behalf of a governmeanmtadbidty. Such tax is then remitted dire:
to the appropriate jurisdictional entity.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense for stoaged compensation based on the calculated faie &l options on the grant date of
awards. Fair value of options on the grant datietermined using the Blackeholes model, which requires judgment in estinggtiive expecte
term of the option, risk-free interest rate, expdctolatility of the Company’s stock and divideridlgt of the option. The Comparsypolicy i
to recognize compensation expense for service-bas@dds on straight-line basis over the requigt®ise period of the entire award. Stock-
based compensation expense is based on awardatelinexpected to vest.

Taxes

Current income taxes are provided based on thiates and rates in effect in the jurisdictions andrdries that the Company operate
and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxes tdfectax effect of net operating losses, foreigx ¢redits and the tax effects of tempo
differences between the carrying amount of asseddiabilities for financial statement and incona& purposes, as determined under en
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

established when management determines that ibig fikely than not that some portion or the entlederred tax asset will not be realiz
U.S. federal deferred tax liabilities are recordedthe unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiatiest are not permanently reinvested, ni
potential foreign tax credits; otherwise, no U.8eral deferred taxes are provided on foreign sido$éd. The financial effect of changes in
laws or rates is accounted for in the period ottéamant.

From time to time, the Company engages in transagtin which the tax consequences may be subjectdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngtased on interpretation of tax laws and reguls, which are subject to examinatior
various taxing authorities. Such examinations mesult in future tax and interest assessments bgeti@xing authorities The Compan
evaluates its tax positions and recognizes onhbenefits for financial purposes that, more likéign not, will be sustained upon examinai
including resolutions of any related appeals dgdition processes, based on the technical meritsegosition.

The Company has elected to include income taxeglatterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense.
Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar serves as the currency of measurearal reporting for the Compasytonsolidated financial statements. The Com
has certain subsidiaries with functional curren@&Norwegian kroner, British pound sterling, Aaditan dollar or Brazilian real. Functiol
currencies of all the Company’s other subsidiaaiesU.S. dollar.

Transactions occurring in currencies other thanftimetional currency of a subsidiary have been eomd to the functional currency
that subsidiary at the exchange rate in effechatitansaction date with resulting gains and logsgaded in current earnings. Carrying va
of monetary assets and liabilities in functionalrencies other than U.S. dollars have been traadskat U.S. dollars based on the U.S. exch
rate at the balance sheet date and the resultiigfo currency translation gain or loss is includeccomprehensive income (loss) in
accompanying financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidalmproving Disclosures about Fair Value Measuremewntsich amends Topic 820-16air
Value Measurement and Disclosures— Overdlhis guidance requires new disclosures regarfiiirgvalue measurements. This guidanc
effective for annual and interim reporting peridoisginning after December 15, 2009. The Company tadothis new guidance effect
January 1, 2010, which did not have a material chpa the Company’s financial position, cash flevresults of operations.

In December 2010, the FASB issued guidaBeesiness Combinations -Bisclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Informatiam
Business Combinatior. This guidance applies to any public entity asrdsf by Topic 805 that enters into business contigina that ar
material on an individual or aggregate basis. Thiglance requires that if a public entity presemsparative financial statements, the e
should disclose revenue and earnings of the cordbemdity as though the business combination(s) abatirred during the current year
occurred as of the beginning of the comparablerpaionual reporting period only. The provisions bfstguidance are to be appl
prospectively for business combinations for whieé &cquisition date is on or after the beginningheffirst annual reporting period beginr
on or after December 15, 2010. The Company willpadbis guidance for all acquisitions occurringeafanuary 1, 2011. The Comp
currently has no pending or probable business aoatibns and, as such, cannot yet determine thengimitémplementation effect of tf
standard.
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RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

In June 2011, the FASB issued the Accounting Stahdg@date 2011-05, “Presentation of Comprehensieerhe” (“Update 2011-0%”
which is effective for public entities for fiscaggrs, and interim periods within those years, begmafter December 15, 2011. Update 20%1-
provides amendments to Topic 220, “Comprehensigsrire,” to be applied retrospectively. Update 20%1r8quires that all noownel
changes in stockholdersguity be presented either in a single continutaiesient of comprehensive income or in two sepdrateonsecutiy
statements. In December 2011, the FASB issued Adoa Standard Update 2011-12 which amended thidatép201105 by deferring th
effective date of the requirement to reclassify outiccumulated other comprehensive income indefini The Company will adopt Upd;
2011-05, as amended, upon its effective date ofialgrl, 2012. The Company does not expect the emtopf Update 201D5 to have
material effect on its consolidated statementsicbine, balance sheets or statements of cash flows.

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting StatsdUpdate No. 2011-08, “Intangible§&seodwill and Other: Testing Goodwill 1
Impairment” (“Update 2011-08\hich permits an entity to first assess qualitataors to determine whether it is more likelyrthreot that th
fair value of a reporting unit is less than itsrgarg amount as a basis for determining whethéx iitecessary to perform the tstep goodwi
impairment test. The more-likely-tharmt threshold is defined as having a likelihoodnudre than 50 percent. An entity is not require
calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unléss entity determines that it is more likely thaot that its fair value is less than its carn
amount. Update 20108 is effective for annual periods beginning afiercember 15, 2011, although early adoption is albvwwihe Compar
did not elect early adoption of this standard axypket to adopt the provisions of Update 2@Bl-as of January 1, 2012. The Company doe
expect Update 2018 to have any impact on our financial position aasults of operations as it is a change in apiineof the goodwi
impairment test only.

Note 2—Initial Public Offering, Preferred Stock and Warrants
Initial Public Offering

On December 20, 2010, the Company completed aalipitblic offering (IPO) consisting of 5,000,00@eses of common stock pricec
$12.00 per share. The total shares sold in theioffeonsisted of 1,666,666 shares sold by sefitngkholders and 3,333,334 shares issue
sold by the Company.

As a result of the IPO, the Company received netgrds of approximately $35.4 million, after dethgtunderwriting discounts a
commissions of $2.8 million and additional offerirejated expenses of $1.8 million, of which $0.8lioni was paid during the twelve mon
ended December 31, 2010 with the balance paid gluhie three months ended March 31, 2011. From thesproceeds, the Company L
$0.2 million to compensate our key employees, iticlg executive officers and $0.2 million was usegay accrued and unpaid dividend:
preferred shares that were converted in conneetitinthe IPO.

On January 6, 2011, the underwriters of the IPQaised their over-allotment option (OvAflotment) for the sale of 750,000 share
common stock at $12.00 per share. The total shenlelsin the Overllotment included 250,000 common shares sold Byngestockholder
and 500,000 common shares issued and sold by thp&vy. Net proceeds to the Company from the sasharfes in the Ovekllotment wer
$5.5 million, after deducting underwriting discosiiaind commissions of $0.4 million and addition& g related expenses of $0.1 million.

The Company anticipates that the remaining netgads from the IPO and the Owlietment will be used for capital expenditut
working capital and other general corporate purpoaéiich may include the acquisition of other basses, products or technologies. Howe
RigNet has no agreements or commitments for angifspacquisitions at this time.

Preferred Stock

In connection with the IPO in December 2010, thenfany converted all preferred stock to 3,470,22esh of common stock, sett
preference rights through the issuance of 1,6784M&Bes of common stock, and redeemed accruededsdthrough the payment of ¢
million in cash and issuance of 513,003 sharesogfiroon stock in connection with the CompanyPO. Prior to the IPO, conversion .
redemption rights associated with preferred stoekevbifurcated based on an analysis of the featfrése preferred stock agreements (S
A, B, and C Preferred Stock), classified as nomesurand reported at approximate fair value.
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RigNet is authorized to issue ten million sharespodferred stock. As of December 31, 2011, no shafepreferred stock we
outstanding.

Warrants

The Company issued warrants in conjunction withtagerfinancing arrangements, which were exercisalplen issuance. Detacha
warrants are accounted for separately from the skatitrity as additional paid-capital. The allocation is based on the relataievalue of th
warrant compared to the total fair value of the teexurities at the time of issuance. Fair valueinsfruments were determined usin
combination of the expected present value of futagh flows and a market approach. The presené dltuture cash flows is estimated u
the Companys most recent forecast and the weighted averageotaspital. The market approach uses a marketipieilon the related ca
generated from operations. Significant estimategl&termining fair value included cash flow foresashe Companyg weighted average ¢
of capital, projected income tax rates and markeétipies. Fair value calculations also considerftievalue of the Compang’common stoc
at the grant date, exercise price of the warraxsected volatility, expected term, risk-free ietgrrate and dividend yield.

No warrants were issued in the year ended DeceB81he011. The assumptions used for warrants isisue: years ended December
2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009
Expected volatility 47.5% 60.(%
Expected term (in year 0.2 15

Risk-free interest rat 0.2% 0.9%

Dividend yield — —

RigNet has warrants outstanding with exercise pricE $0.04 and $7.00 per share. The following tahlenmarizes the Company’
warrant activity for the years ended December 81122010 and 2009:

Number of Weighted
Underlying Average
Shares Exercise Price
(in thousands)

Outstanding, January 1, 20 1,96¢ $ 3.74
Issuec 7 % 0.04
Exercisec —  $ —

Outstanding, December 31, 2C 197t $ 3.7¢
Issuec 22 $ 0.04
Exercisec (432) $ 0.04

Outstanding, December 31, 2C 1565 $ 4.7C
Issuec —  $ —
Exercisec (31) $ 0.04

Outstanding, December 31, 2C 1532 $ 4.7¢

The weighted average remaining life in years obtautding warrants as of December 31, 2011, 201868 was 4.0, 5.0 and 5.7 ye
respectively.
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Note 3—Business and Credit Concentrations
The Company is exposed to various business anit cisdc including interest rate, foreign currencyedit and liquidity risks.
Interest Rate Risk

The Company has significant interest-bearing liaed at variable interest rates which generaligggmonthly. The Compang’variabl
borrowing rates are tied to LIBOR and prime resgitin interest rate risk (see Note 7—"Long-Term Debrhe Company does not curret
use financial instruments to hedge these intergsexposures, but evaluates this on a continusibl@and may put financial instruments in p
in the future if deemed necessary.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company has exposure to foreign currency aska portion of the Comparsyactivities are conducted in currencies other e
dollars. Currently, the Norwegian kroner and théisir pound sterling are the currencies that condéderially impact the Comparg/financia
position and results of operations. The Compsijstorical experience with exchange rates fosehmurrencies has been relatively stable,
consequently, the Company does not use financ&ituments to hedge this risk, but evaluates it @ordinual basis and may put finan
instruments in place in the future if deemed nesrgsdg-oreign currency translations are reportedc@simulated other comprehensive inc
(loss) in the Company’s consolidated financialestants.

Credit Risk

Credit risk, with respect to accounts receivaldediie to the limited number of customers concesdrat the oil and gas industry. 1
Company mitigates the risk of financial loss froefallts through defined collection terms in eacht@xt or service agreement and peri
evaluations of the collectability of accounts reebie. The evaluations include a review of custoamedit reports and past transaction his
with the customer. The Company provides an allowdnc doubtful accounts which is adjusted whenGbenpany becomes aware of a spe
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligats or as a result of changes in the overall agfragcounts receivable.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Accounts receivabl $ 2808 $ 1859. $  15,34¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts, January (2,620 (2,620 (2,735
Current year provision for doubtful accou 65 — (29€)
Write-offs 81¢ — 411
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December (1,737) (2,620) (2,620)
Accounts receivable, n $ 26,35 $ 1597: $ 12,72

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company had omefisignt customer comprising 12.0%, 10.6% and 108%s revenue, respectivel
Liquidity Risk

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalenhdedawith major financial institutions which, amngés, exceed federally insu
limits. The Company monitors the financial conditiof the financial institutions and has not expecid losses associated with these acc
during 2011, 2010 or 2009. Liquidity risk is mandds/ continuously monitoring forecasted and actaash flows and by matching the matt
profiles of financial assets and liabilities (seat®&l7—"Long-Term Debt").
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Note 4—Acquisitions

Prior to 2010, the Company had acquired a 93.0%ralting interest in LandTel resulting in a 7.0%dez=mable, nokentrolling interes
in LandTel. In connection with this acquisitionet@ompany entered into an agreement which providedoneontrolling interest owners
right to sell their interest in LandTel to the Ccamnp, with a purchase price determinable based @ageseddpon formula. In August 2010, 1
Company acquired the remaining redeemable aairolling interest for $4.7 million in cash. A Becember 31, 2011 and 2010, LandTel
wholly owned subsidiary.

The Company uses the acquisition method of accogrtr acquisitions of nowentrolling interest. Under the acquisition mett
purchases or sales of neontrolling equity interests that do not resulithange in control are accounted for as equitystetions. As suc
the underlying asset and liability balances didai@nge for these acquisitions of non-controllingiiest.

The following table reconciles redeemable, non-ailirig interest for the years ended December 8102and 2009:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
(in thousands)
Balance, January $ 457¢ $ 9,34«
Adjustment to redemption valt 50 96
Acquisition of nor-controlling interes (4,657 (4,767
Non-controlling owner distribution — (111
Net income 25 10
Balance, December 3 $ — % 4,57¢

Note 5—Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill

Goodwill consists of amounts recognized from thquésitions of LandTel, included in the U.S. langhoeting segment, and OilCan
included in the eastern hemisphere reporting segnmdre goodwill primarily relates to the growth ppects foreseen for the compa
acquired, synergies between existing businesstenddquirees and the assembled workforce of thgiracjcompanies. Goodwill balances
changes therein, by reporting unit, as of andHeryears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 aréassfo

Eastern

Hemisphere U.S. Land Total
(in thousands)
Balance, January 1, 20. $ 2994 $ 10,89 $  13,88%
Foreign currency translatic (46) — (46)
Balance, December 31, 20 2,94¢ 10,89: 13,84
Foreign currency translatic (45) — (45)
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 2,90: $ 10,89 $ 13,79¢
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Intangibles

Intangibles consist of brand names and customeatioakhips acquired as part of the LandTel and &iif acquisitions, as well
internal-use software. The following table refleictngibles activities for the years ended Decam3fie 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Customer
Brand Relation-
Name ships Software Total
(in thousands)

Intangibles acquire $ 4,04t $ 9,77¢ $ 804 $  14,63(
Accumulated amortization and foreign currency tlatien, January 1, 20C (2,296 (2,22)) (397) (4,919
Balance, January 1, 20! 1,752 7,551 407 9,71¢
Additions — — 192 19z
Amortization expens (1,047 (859) (119 (2,020
Foreign currency translatic 16C 324 — 484
Balance, December 31, 20 86¢ 7,02 481 8,37:
Additions — — 571 571
Amortization expens (860) (907) a70) (1,937)
Foreign currency translatic (9) (223) (8) (240)
Balance, December 31, 20 — 5,89z 874 6,76¢€
Additions — — 27C 27C
Amortization expens — (904 (28¢) (1,190
Foreign currency translatic — (19 17 3
Balance, December 31, 20 $ —  $ 497 $ 87t $ 5,84¢

The Company estimates the lives of the brand namstpmer relationships and software at four yegight to nine years and five ye:
respectively. The following table sets forth anwmation expense for intangibles over the next figarg (in thousands):

2012 $ 1,19¢
2013 1,137
2014 1,07¢
2015 971
2016 762
Thereaftel 704

$ 5,84¢
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Note 6—Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated December 31
Lives 2011 2010
(in years) (in thousands)
Telecommunication and computer equiprr 1-5 $ 88,28t $ 72,591
Furniture and othe 5-7 5,47: 2,02i
93,76! 74,62«
Less: Accumulated depreciati (61,106 (48,244

$ 32,65F $  26,38(

Depreciation expense associated with property auipment was $13.4 million, $13.1 million and $10@Blion for the years end:
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Note 7—Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the followingditréacilities and longerm debt arrangements with financial institutionsre ir
place:

December 31,

2011 2010

(in thousands)
Term loan, net of unamortized deferred financingts $ 2345 % 32,03¢
Equipment note 66 10t
23,52( 32,13¢
Less: Current maturities of lo-term debt (8,73%) (8,65%)

$ 14,78 ¢ 23,48/

Term Loan

The Company has a term loan (Term Loan) with twadigipating financial institutions. The Term Loaragzamended in November 2(
to provide for a draw feature available through M&ay011, under which the Company borrowed an Buhdit $1.1 million used solely f
purchases of equipment. In May 2011, the Comparthidu amended its Term Loan, increasing the prladijalance by $0.1 million, extend
the maturity of the loan to May 2014 and removilng tequirement to maintain compensating cash basanc

Additionally, the amended Term Loan bears a redirtedest rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging frar@5% to 3.25%, based on ar.
of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a n@AAP financial measure as defined in the agreemeaierest is payable monthly along v
quarterly principal installments of $2.2 millionjtivthe balance due May 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2011, the Term Loan had outgtgratincipal of $23.5 million. The weighted aveesigterest rate for the year en
December 31, 2011 was 4.0%, with an interest ra%086 at December 31, 2011. At December 31, 2630,2 million was outstanding, w
an interest rate of 5.0%.

The Term Loan is secured by substantially all teets of the Company.
Equipment Notes

In December 2010, the Company acquired computdpernt under a thregear note in the amount of $0.1 million, with ateirest rat
of 5.5%.
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Covenants and Restrictions

The Companys Term Loan contains certain covenants and resmistincluding restricting the payment of cashidiwnds under defa
and maintaining certain financial covenants such esio of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a nGAAP financial measure as defined in
agreement, and a fixed charge coverage ratio. Ene Toan also requires maintenance of a restricésti balance. If any default occurs rel
to these covenants, the unpaid principal and anguad interest shall be declared immediately dukpayable. As of December 31, 2011
2010, the Company was in compliance with all comtsia

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company incurred legal and bank fees associgithdthe Term Loan, and certain amendments therelhich were capitalized a
reported as a reduction to long-term debt and oumeaturities of longerm debt. Deferred financing costs are expensawyuke effectiv
interest method over the life of the agreement.tReryears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, edéfénancing cost amortization of $
million is included in interest expense in the Camy's consolidated financial statements.

Debt Maturities

The following table sets forth the aggregate ppatimaturities of londerm debt, net of deferred financing cost amoritiat(in
thousands):

2012 $ 8,73t
2013 8,75
2014 6,032

Total debt, including current maturiti $ 23,52(

Note 8—Operating Leases and Commercial Commitments
Operating Leases

The Company leases office space under lease agneemiring on various dates through 2015. The @amy recognized expense ur
operating leases of $1.5 million, $1.2 million ad@d.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2@DIL0 and 2009, respectively. As
December 31, 2011, future minimum lease obligatiase as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 1,24¢
2013 63¢
2014 312
2015 14€
2016 —
$ 2,34
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Commercial Commitments

The Company enters into contracts for satellitediaadth and other network services with certain fuevs. As of December 31, 2011,
Company had the following commercial commitmentatesl to satellite and network services (in thodsn

2012 $ 8,21:
2013 5,49
2014 1,36¢
2015 —
Thereaftel —

Note 9—Related Party Transactions

One of the Company’ directors is the president and chief executivfeeaf of a drilling corporation which is also a tmser of th
Company. Revenue recognized for the years ende@ritser 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $0.6 million6 $aillion and $0.1 millior
respectively, for services performed by the Compgartpe ordinary course of business.

Additionally, during the year ended December 311®0he Company had related party transactions stitckholders related to 1
conversion of preferred stock to common stock amitlends paid on preferred stock (see Notel@itial Public Offering, Preferred Stock €
Warrants”). During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compiso had the following related party transactiovith stockholder:
including members of the Company’s Board of Direstoelated to stockholder notes previously issued:

Year Ended
December 31, 20C
(in thousands)

Stockholder notes:

Repayment of notes to office $ 20C

Repayment of notes to other stockholc $ 8,37¢
Interest expense related to stockholder note:

Accrued and imputed interest expe $ 3,21¢

Payment of interes $ 5,70¢

Note 10—Fair Value Measurements
The Company uses the following methods and assongpto estimate the fair value of financial insteunts:
» Cash and Cash Equivalen— Reported amounts approximate fair val
* Restricted Casl— Reported amounts approximate fair val
» Accounts Receivabl— Reported amounts, net of the allowance for doulatfigbunts, approximate fair valt
» Accounts Payable, Including Income Taxes Payabledafsccrued Expense— Reported amounts approximate fair val

* Long-Term Debt— The carrying amount of the Company’s floatirage debt approximates fair value since the inteass pai
are based on sh-term maturities and recent quoted rates from firemestitutions.

» Preferred Stock Derivative— All preferred stock derivatives were settled inttiagely prior to the Compang’IPO in Decemb
2010 (see Note 2—"“Initial Public Offering, Prefadr8tock and Warrants”prior to settlement, all preferred stock derivagiveert
reported at approximate fair valt
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Fair value is the price that would be received ¢ty an asset or paid to transfer a liability in erderly transaction between mai
participants at the measurement date. For itentsatkeanot actively traded, fair value reflects piniee in a transaction with a market particip
including an adjustment for risk, not just the marykmarket value. The fair value measurement standstabkshes a fair value hierarchy 1
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques ugedheasure fair value. As presented in the tableviy the hierarchy consists of three bi
levels:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvaatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities hade the highest priority.

Level 2—Inputs are observable inputs other thanegiprices considered Level 1. Level 2 inputs aseketbased and are direc
or indirectly observable, including quoted prices §imilar instruments in active markets; quotettgs for identical or simili
instruments in markets that are not active; or atdm techniqgues whose inputs are observable. Wobservable inputs
available, directly or indirectly, for substantiathe full term of the asset or liability, the inghent is categorized in Level 2.

Level 3—Inputs are unobservable (meaning they ceflee Company assumptions regarding how market participantsldvprice
the asset or liability based on the best availaéifiermation) and therefore have the lowest prioryfinancial instrumens leve
within the fair value hierarchy is based on thedstvlevel of any input that is significant to treerfvalue measurement. Rigl
believes it uses appropriate valuation technigsesh as markdtased valuation, based on the available inputseasore the fe
values of its assets and liabilities. The Compamgluation technique maximizes the use of obséiaputs and minimizes the t
of unobservable inputs.

The Company had no derivatives as of December(1 &r 2010. Derivatives not designated as hedgistguments as of December
2009 consisted of preferred stock conversion addmgtion rights of $30.4 million, which were acctehfor at fair value based on leve
inputs. The fair value of preferred stock derivatiiabilities classified as Level 3 changed asofe during 2010 and 2009:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009
(in thousands)
Balance, January $ 30,44¢ $ 8,41
Unrealized (gains) losses included in earni 17,19( 21,00¢
Derivative related to preferred stock dividel 2,10¢ 1,02¢
Conversion of preferred stor (49,744 —
Balance, December 3 $ — $  30,44¢

Dividends were paid on Series B and C Preferreckstothe form of additional shares, each with @sion rights, which are bifurcal
and reported at fair value (see Note 2—"Initial Rubffering, Preferred Stock and WarrantsThe Level 3 amounts representing the chan
fair value of derivatives included in the Compangonsolidated financial statements for the yeadeé December 31, 2010 and 2009,
$(17.2) million and $(21.0) million, respectively.

The Company’s noffinancial assets, such as goodwill, intangibles mogperty and equipment, are measured at fair yblased on lev
3 inputs, when there is an indicator of impairmant recorded at fair value only when an impairnedgrge is recognized. See Note-5
“Goodwill and Intangibles,”for discussion of an impairment of goodwill reparten 2009. The impairment charge recognized in .
incorporated fair value measurements based on &igluts.

Note 11—Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

The Company, in the ordinary course of businesg, éiaimant or a defendant in various legal prooeg] including proceedings as
which the Company has insurance coverage and thasenay involve the filing of liens against ther@uany or its assets. The Company |
not consider its exposure in these proceedingsithdally or in the aggregate, to be material.
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Taxes

The Company and the U.S. Internal Revenue SerViR8)(agreed to the final assessments related taudit of the Compang’ 200t
income tax return in August of 2011. The final lssttent did not have a material change to our firposition or results of operations for
year ended December 31, 2011. The IRS is currgetfiorming an audit of the Compée's 2010 income tax return. It is unclear if the &adic
the appeals process will be completed within tha heelve months and the Company is unable to dfyathite expected settlement or outcc
of the audit at this time as the IRS has not redifihe Company of all potential issues. The Comphrgs not anticipate significant change
the remaining unrecognized tax benefits withinrbgt twelve months.

Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has three stock-based compensatios atatlescribed below.
2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In May 2010, the Board of Directors adopted the@Q@mnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan). Under the02Bthn, the Board of Directc
or its designated committee is authorized to isswards representing a total of three million shaesommon stock to certain directc
officers and employees of the Company. Awards maynbthe form of new stock incentive awards or amsi including (i) incentive or non-
qualified stock options, (ii) stock appreciatioghis, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stouakits, (v) performance stock, (vi) performa
units, (vii) director awards (viii) annual cash émtive awards, (ix) cash-based awards, (x) sulistittawards or (xi) other stodkased award
as approved by the Board of Directors or its destigth committee. The stock incentive awards andogtgranted under the 2010 plan
generally expire at the earlier of a specified etrafter termination of service or the date spedity the Board of Directors or its design
committee at the date of grant, but not more tlearyears from such grant date.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpgaanted 144,110 shares of restricted stock ttaicedirectors, officers ai
employees of the Company under the 2010 Plan. iRestrshares have no exercise price and are coadidgsued and outstanding comr
stock. Restricted shares issued to officers andl®mes, totaling 116,942 shares, generally vestr avdour year period of continu
employment, with 25% of shares vesting on eachheffirst four anniversaries of the grant date. Retetd shares issued to directors, tote
27,168 shares, generally vest over a two year gp@fi@ontinued service, with 50% of shares vestingach of the first two anniversaries of
grant date. As of December 31, 2011, 8,868 shafeediricted stock have been forfeited and 135,84ares of restricted stock w
outstanding.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyplso granted 208,444 stock options to certaiicef§ and employees of 1
Company under the 2010 Plan. Options granted duhisgperiod have an exercise price ranging from.$0 to $18.00, a contractual tern
ten years and vest over a four year period of noetl employment, with 25% of options vesting onheaicthe first four anniversaries of
grant date.

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In March 2006, the Board of Directors adopted tigNet 2006 LongFerm Incentive Plan (2006 Plan). Under the 200& Rlze Board ¢
Directors is authorized to issue options to pureh@&gNet common stock to certain officers and erygéds of the Company. In general,
options granted under the 2006 Plan have a conatht#rm of ten years and a fogear vesting period, with 25.0% of the options wesbr
each of the first four anniversaries of the graated The 2006 Plan authorized the issuance of thiien options, which was increased to 1
million in January 2010, net of any options retufoe forfeited. As of December 31, 2011, the Conyplaas issued 981,125 options undel
2006 Plan, of which 30,624 options have been esed¢i200,626 options have been returned or fodfeitel 749,875 options are outstanc
The Company will issue no additional options unither2006 Plan as the Company’s Board of DirectassrBsolved to freeze the 2006 Plan.
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2001 Stock Option Plan

The 2001 Performance Stock Option Plan (2001 Ries)authorized to issue options to purchase Rigbi®amon stock to certain office
and employees of the Company. Options granted uheée2001 Plan vest either (a) over a fgear term, with 25.0% of the options vesting
each of the first four anniversary dates of thengma (b) over a thregear term, with 25.0% of the options vesting 30dafter the grant de¢
and 25.0% vesting on each of the first three amsarg dates of the grant. Vested options, whichehast been forfeited, are exercisabl
whole or in part during the option term, which doed exceed ten years. The 2001 Plan authorizeés#ivance of 0.6 million options. As
December 31, 2011, the Company has issued 130@&&hs under the 2001 Plan, of which 79,557 optitenge been exercised, 22,660 opt
have been returned and 28,750 options are outsign@ihe Company will issue no additional optionslemthe 2001 Plan as the Company’
Board of Directors has resolved to freeze the Z8iah.

Share Appreciation Rights (SARS)

In August 2006, in connection with RigNgtacquisition of LandTel, LandTel issued a totaB@76 share appreciation rights to cel
employees, using a baseline share price of $108e0Ghare. The value of these SARs is based owatlue of the LandTel subsidiary or
These SARs will be settled in cash upon exercisbdigers and are classified as liability awardshsy Company. Since August 2006, 4,
SARs have been forfeited. As of December 31, 281tbfal of 4,838 SARs remain outstanding, exerdésabd will expire in August 2016. |
other SARs have been issued by the Company otherttiose issued by LandTel in August 2006. The Gmyhas not issued nor doe
currently have plans to issue any additional SARany other awards which would be classified dalality awards or settled in cash.

During 2011, share appreciation resulted in aneiase in the value of the SARs of $0.5 million whieas recognized to compensa
expense. For the years ended December 31, 201Q00%9] the fair value of SARs was less than $0.lianil As of December 31, 2011,
SARs have been exercised and no cash paymentyétlveen made to the SARs holders.

There are no dividends related to stock optiorstricded stock, SARs or common stock.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the&uwois stockbased compensation plans for the years ended Dece3hp 201!
2010 and 2009 was $1.5 million, $0.4 million and3@illion, respectively, and accordingly, redudecbme for each period.

There were no significant modifications to the éhstockbased compensation plans during the years endeehiiber 31, 2011, 2010 €
2009. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, there B8r@ million and $0.8 million, respectively, of &btunrecognized compensation «
related to unvested equity awards granted and &gbéa vest, under the 2010 Plan, the 2006 Plartten8001 Plan. This cost is expected t
recognized on a remaining weighted-average pefidd@years.

All outstanding equity instruments are settledtock. The Company currently does not have any asvacdounted for as a liability. T
fair value of each option and restricted stock awiarestimated on the grant date using a Blackeles option valuation model, which
certain assumptions as of the date of grant:

» Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsieglent to the expected term of the opti

» Expected Term—expected life adjusted based on management’s dstBhate for the effects of ndransferability, exercis
restriction and behavioral consideratic

* Risk-Free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contractual temhshe options, is based on the U.S. Treasund
curve in effect at the time of gra

» Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com['s historical dividend rate at the date of g1
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The assumptions used for grants made in the yedesdeDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were asv&llo

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Expected volatility 50% 58% 42%- 60%
Expected term (in year 7 4 4
Risk-free interest rat 2.8% 2.7% 2.2-3.1%

Dividend yield — — —

Based on these assumptions, the weighted averagefae of options granted, per share, for theryemded December 31, 2011, 2
and 2009 was $9.73, $3.92 and $2.92, respectiBalyed on these assumptions, the weighted averagealiae of restricted stock granted,
share, for the year ended December 31, 2011 wa2%H1Bhe following table summarizes the Comparstbck option activity as of and for
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Balance, January 81C $ 7.1% 74 $ 6.7¢ 604 $ 7.4
Granted 20¢€ $ 17.9¢ 137 % 8.4¢ 194 % 5.32
Exercisec 14) $ 5.54 @a7”n $ 0.57 (16) $ 8.9¢
Forfeited (28) $ 11.3¢ (53) $ 7.8E (39) $ 8.57
Expired — % — — % — — 3 —

Balance, December 3 97¢ % 9.3¢ 81C $ 7.1 74z % 6.7¢

Exercisable, December 2 58t $ 7.12 41€ $ 6.92 287 $ 6.51

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Intrinsic value of options exercist $ 24C % 197 $ 32
Fair value of options veste $ 43t $ 33z % 234

The weighted average remaining contractual tergrears for equity awards outstanding as of andhferyears ended December 31, 2
2010 and 2009 was 7.0, 7.0 and 7.6 years, respbctitvt December 31, 2011 equity awards vestedexpected to vest totaled 1.0 million w
awards available for grant of approximately 2.7lionil.
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The following is a summary of changes in unvesteditg awards, including stock options and restdcs¢ock, as of and for the ye
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant
Underlying Date Fair
Shares Value
(in thousands)

Unvested equity awards, January 1, 2 425 $ 1.5¢
Granted 194 ¢ 2.92
Vested 147 $ 1.5¢
Forfeited (16) $ 1.4¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 45€ $ 2.14
Granted 137 % 3.91
Vested (167) $ 1.9¢
Forfeited (32 $ 2.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 394 $ 2.82
Granted 35z $ 13.2(
Vested 189 $ 2.31
Forfeited (38 $ 9.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 51¢ $ 9.5¢

Note 13—Income (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are computed bglidgvnet income (loss) attributable to RigNet commnstockholders by the numbel
basic shares outstanding. Basic shares equal thieafothe common shares outstanding, weightedtHferaverage days outstanding for
period. Basic shares exclude the dilutive effectaimon shares that could potentially be issuedtdufie conversion of preferred stc
exercise of stock options, exercise of warrantsadisfaction of necessary conditions for continyeissuable shares. Diluted EPS is comp
by dividing net income (loss) attributable to Righdemmon stockholders by the number of diluted ehautstanding. Diluted shares equa
total of the basic shares outstanding and all pisnissuable shares, weighted for the averages daitstanding for the period. The Comg
uses the treasury stock method to determine thé\aileffect. The following table provides a recitintion of the numerators and denomina
of the basic and diluted per share computationsdédincome (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coom stockholders:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &tualders $ 9,51¢ $ (15,59) $ (19,92)

Less: Dividends accrued on preferred st — 1,05¢ 1,07¢

Less: Derivatives related to preferred stock dinke(See Note -Fair Value Measurement — 2,10¢ 1,02«

Less: Adjustment to redeemable, -controlling interest redemption value (See Nc¢-

Acquisitions) — 50 96
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder $ 9,51¢ $ (18,80) $ (22,119
Weighted average shares outstanding, k 15,387 5,571 5,312
Effect of dilutive securitie 1,427 — —
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 16,81« 5,571 5,31Z
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All equivalent units were anti-dilutive for the yeaended December 31, 2010 and 2009. Aittitive share equivalents excluded from
earnings per share computations totaled 4.8 milioth 4.4 million for the years ended December 8102and 2009, respectively, and relate
outstanding preferred shares, options and warrants.

Note 14—Segment Information

Segment information has been prepared consisteht tthve components of the enterprise for which spafinancial information
available and regularly evaluated by the chief afieg decisiormaker for the purpose of allocating resources asaéssing performance. 7
Companys reportable segments are business units whichatgpén different regions and are each managed ahar Accordingly, th
Company has three reportable segments:

Eastern Hemisphere.Our eastern hemisphere segment provides remote aoications services for offshore drilling ri
production facilities, energy support vessels atgtioremote sites. Our eastern hemisphere segrapntes are performed out
our Norway, Qatar, United Kingdom and Singaporeebasffices for customers and rig sites located len @¢astern side of t
Atlantic Ocean primarily off the coasts of the U.lKlorway and West Africa, around the Indian Ocea®atar, Saudi Arabia a
India, around the Pacific Ocean near Australia, itldin the South China Se

Western HemisphereOur western hemisphere segment provides remote coiations services for offshore drilling ri
production facilities, energy support vessels atiioremote sites. Our western hemisphere segmeevites are performed out
our United States and Brazil based offices foramustrs and rig sites located on the western sideeoAtlantic Ocean primarily ¢
the coasts of the United States, Mexico and Branitf within the Gulf of Mexico, but excluding lands and other lan@iased site
in North America

U.S. Land.Our U.S. land segment provides remote communicatservices for drilling rigs and production faddg locate
onshore in North America. Our U.S. land segmentises are performed out of our Louisiana basedeffor customers and
sites located in the continental United Sta

Corporate and eliminations primarily representsllonated corporate office activities, derivativdueation adjustments, interest expen
income taxes and eliminations.
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The Companys business segment information as of December(@l], and 2010 and for the years ended December031, 2010 an
2009 is as follows:

Eastern Western Corporate and Consolidated
Hemisphere Hemisphere U.S. Land Eliminations Total
(in thousands)
2011
Total revenue $ 68,158 $ 22,17 $ 19,34« $ (319 $ 109,35!
Total expense 42,49 19,52¢ 15,59¢ 14,85! 92,46"
Interest expens @ — (86) (1,1672) (1,249
Other income (expense), r 43€ 222 3 (48) 61<
Income tax expens — — — (6,502) (6,502)
Net income (loss 26,097 2,87(C 3,66¢ (22,88() 9,75
Total asset 67,34¢ 58,98¢ 27,34¢ (12,759 140,92:
Capital expenditure 9,01t 8,314 2,191 247 19,767
2010
Total revenue $ 61,39 $ 19,01: $ 12,84f $ (326 $ 92,92
Total expense 38,86¢ 15,25¢ 12,64 13,55:¢ 80,32:
Interest expens — (10 (83) (1,52%) (1,619
Other income (expense), r (119 (396 17 99 (399
Income tax expens — — — (8,669 (8,66¢)
Net income (loss 22,40: 3,351 134 (41,169 (15,27¢)
Total asset 45,01¢ 54,58¢ 25,574 4,60¢€ 129,78!
Capital expenditure 6,532 5,51t 963 81 13,09:
2009
Total revenue $ 60910 $ 11,22 $ 9,85( $ (1,059 $  80,93¢
Total expense 35,95¢ 9,10z 14,04t 10,141 69,24¢
Interest expens (34%) — (45%) (4,34¢) (5,14¢
Other income (expense), r 342 (84 43 3 304
Income tax expens — — — (5,457 (5,457
Net income (loss 24,71 2,20t (4,5372) (42,009 (19,620
Total asset 42,93¢ 21,85¢ 25,66 (1,644 88,81(
Capital expenditure 1,16¢ 9,16( 29 13t 10,49:.

The Company provides customers with two primarydpo lines —onshore communications and offshore communicati@Qrshor
communication products are represented by the Mdrsl segment. The majority of the eastern hemigpbegment and western hemisp
segment operations relates to offshore communitatioducts primarily provided to jackup, semi-subsitde and drillship rigs.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 ary] #®Company earned revenue from both our domastl international operatic
as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Domestic $ 35,02: % 25957 % 18,04¢
International 74,33: 66,96¢ 62,89
Total $ 109,35! % 92,92 $ 80,93¢
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Note 15—Income Taxes

Income Tax Expense

The components of the income tax expense are:

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total current

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total deferrec

Income tax expens

The following table sets forth the components abime (loss) before income taxes:

Income (loss) before income taxe:
United State:
Foreign

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

$ (137) $ — % 42
08 9 72

5,99¢ 3,721 4,791

5,95¢ 3,73¢ 4,90¢

1,22( 3,04¢ (841)

(60) 157 (122)

(619) 1,73( 1,51¢

547 4,93: 552

$ 6,50z $ 8,66¢ $ 5,45i

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

$ (5799 $ (25319 $ (34,050
22,05: 18,70; 19,88;
$ 1625 $ (6,607 $ (14,169
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Income tax expense differs from the amount compbtedpplying the statutory federal income tax @t85.0% to income (loss) befc
taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

United States statutory federal income tax $ 5,68¢ $ (2,317 $ (4,957%)
Non-deductible expense 491 91C 3,021
Non-deductible financial expens — 6,01¢ 7,191
U.S. tax on foreign earnings, net of tax cre (32 5,37¢ 1,75¢
Changes in valuation allowanc 1,004 (2,927 70t
Tax credits (237 (1,087 (2,049
State taxe 38 (163) (129)
Effect of operating in foreign jurisdictior (984) (1,47 (714
Non-controlling interest in U.S. subsidia — (95) 4
Changes in prior year estima (25%) (88) (969)
Changes in uncertain tax bene 73t 4,91¢ 1,39¢
Revisions of deferred tax accou (14%) (517 —

Other 94 10¢ 20€
Income tax expens $ 6,50z $ 8,66¢ $ 5,451

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The Companys deferred tax position reflects the net tax effexftthe temporary differences between the carrgimgpunts of assets ¢
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax reporting. Significamponents of the deferred tax asset:
liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 98 $ 56
Federal, foreign and state tax crel 7,36¢ 5,21
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,36¢ 5,59:
Allowance for doubtful accoun 75¢ 1,37¢
Accruals not currently deductib 33t 68<
Stock-based compensatic 43¢ —

Other 43 15¢
Valuation allowanct (5,769 (4,947)
Total deferred tax asse 9,637 8,13:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortizatic (565) (1,137
Tax on foreign earning (5,007 (5,030
Other (33 (181)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (5,599 (6,34¢)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ 4,03t % 1,78¢

At December 31, 2011, on an as filed basis, the gzomw had a federal net operating loss carry forvedr$i3.5 million which will expir
in varying amounts beginning in 2029, state netrajieg loss carry forwards of approximately $2.2liovi which will expire in varyini
amounts beginning in 2024, and foreign net opegdiisses of $0.1 million of which $19,000 expira2016. As of December 31, 2011,
Company, on an as filed basis, has U.S. domestiggio tax credit carry forwards of $2.4 million whibegin expiring in varying amounts
2018. The amount reported on an as filed basisdiffer from the amount recorded in the deferred &ssets of the Compamyfinancia
statements due to the utilization or creation ge&sin recording uncertain tax benefits.
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In assessing deferred tax assets, the Companydesgssihether a valuation allowance should be rexbfdr some or all of the defer
tax assets which may not be realized. The ultimeddéization of deferred tax assets is dependent tipe generation of future taxable incc
during the periods in which the temporary differemi@ecome deductible. Among other items, the Cognpansiders the scheduled revers:
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxalieome and available tax planning strategies. ABefember 31, 2011, a valuation allowanc
$5.8 million had been recorded for primarily USdeal deferred tax assets that were not more littedn not to be realized. While the Comg
expects to realize the remaining net deferred &seta, changes in future taxable income or inaes Imay alter this expectation and rest
future increases to the valuation allowance.

U.S. federal deferred income taxes, net of foréggncredits of $5.0 million have been provided loose foreign subsidiaries for which
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2010ewerlonger considered permanently reinvestedtauke need to service the Company’
debt obligations. Certain subsidiaries prior to 20and all foreign subsidiaries as of January 1,12®0ave undistributed earnings which
considered permanently reinvested for which $4.aniin U.S. federal deferred taxes, net of foretgx credits, have not been recognize
of December 31, 2011.

During 2009 and 2010, the Company acquired the irénganon<controlling interest of LandTel. At the time of tlequisition in 201(
the Company recorded $4.2 million of deferred tases and related valuation allowance to additipadd in capital. This entry was neces:
to account for the book versus tax basis differéndbe assets as a result of the acquisition.

Because the Company records the valuation allowandie net deferred tax asset, no provision ierced for the deferred tax liabil
related to other comprehensive income. The futewensal of the valuation allowance related to otmenprehensive income will be recorde
income tax expense.

The Company has elected to include income taxeelatterest and penalties as a component of indarmexpense. As of December
2011, $0.1 million has been included in the incame payable accounts. In 2010 and 2009, no amaamsitbken included in the income
payable accounts. The amount included in incomestapense not related to uncertain tax benefitdHeryear ending December 31, 201
$0.2 million.

Uncertain Tax Benefits

The Company evaluates its tax positions and reeegninly tax benefits that, more likely than nol| e sustained upon examinati
including resolution of any related appeals ogétion processes, based on the technical meritsegbosition. The tax position is measure
the largest amount of benefit that has a greater 59.0% likelihood of being realized upon settlamét December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2!
the Companys uncertain tax benefits totaling $14.1 million 1& million and $5.2 million, respectively, are oefed as other liabilities in t
consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the Corspgnogs unrecognized tax benefits are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance, January 9,11C $ 7,11C $ 4,04(
Additions for the current year t: 1,54¢ 1,39/ 3,07(
Additions related to prior yea 2,88¢ 2,45 —
Reductions related to settlements with taxing arttiles (1,669 — —
Reductions related to lapses in statute of limote 173 — —
Reductions related to prior yee (975) (1,847 —

Balance, December 3 $ 10,73( $ 9,11C $ 7,11(
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As of December 31, 2011, the Companygross unrecognized tax benefits which would ihghe annual effective tax rate uj
recognition were $9.5 million. In addition, as oé&mber 31, 2011, the Company has recorded redatats, net of a valuation allowanc
$3.4 million. The related asset might not be recoephin the same period as the contingent taxliigtaind like interest and penalties does |
an impact on the annual effective tax rate. The amyg recognized interest and penalties relatechtecognized tax benefits in income
expense. As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2089C¢mpany has accrued penalties and interest oebsipmtely $4.6 million, $3.5 millio
and $1.9 million, respectively. The Company hasgeized $1.1 million, $1.6 million and $0.7 milliar interest and penalties in income
expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, &4 @009, respectively. To the extent interest@amhlties are not assessed with re:
to uncertain tax positions, accruals will be redliaad reflected as a reduction to income tax expens

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8lefal jurisdiction, and various states and forgigisdictions. Due to net operati
losses, all of the Compars/federal filings are still subject to tax examioas. With few exceptions, the Company is no longdrject to th
foreign income tax examinations by tax authorif@syears before 2001.

The Company and the U.S. Internal Revenue SerViR8)(agreed to the final assessments related taudit of the Compang’ 200t
income tax return in August of 2011. The final lssttent did not have a material change to our firposition or results of operations for
year ended December 31, 2011. Currently, the Cowy’s United States corporate tax filings are undeiereyor the 2010 tax year. It is uncl
if the audit and the appeals process will be coteplavithin the next twelve months and the Companynable to quantify the expec
settlement or outcome of the audit at this timehesIRS has not notified the Company of all po&nissues. RigNet does not anticif
significant changes in the remaining unrecognizedoenefits within the next twelve months.

Note 16 — Supplemental Quarterly Financial Informaton (Unaudited)
Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidatedhfire information for 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
2011 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
in thousands, except per share date

—~

Revenue $ 24467 $ 26,197 $ 28,90¢ $  29,78¢
Operating incom $ 3,05¢ $ 437: % 508: $ 4,38(
Net income (loss $ 23 % 2,201 $ 547t % 2,05¢
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder $ (25 $ 2,12 3 5451 $ 1,972
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righ®t, common stockholder

basic $ —  $ 014 $ 0.3t $ 0.12
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righ®t, common stockholder

diluted $ —  $ 0.1z % 03z $ 0.12
Weighted average shares outstanding, k 15,24! 15,42( 15,44: 15,44
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 15,24 16,89¢ 16,84( 16,82:
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2010 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
(in thousands, except per share date

Revenue $ 21820 $ 2255( $ 2423 $ 24,317
Operating incomi $ 1,867 $ 2,824 $ 3,88t % 4,021
Net income (loss $ (7) $ (11,05) $ 482 % (4,699
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder $ (800) $ (1194) ¢ (552) $ (5,514
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righ&t, common stockholder

basic $ (0.15) $ (2.29) $ (0.10) $ (0.87)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Righ®t, common stockholder

diluted $ (0.15) $ (2.29) $ (0.10) $ (0.87)
Weighted average shares outstanding, k 5,31¢ 5,31¢ 5,31¢ 6,321
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 5,31¢ 5,31¢ 5,31¢ 6,321

During the quarters ended March 31, June 30, Sdm@eB80 and December 31, 2010, the Company rec@adédrge to net income (lo
of $0.2 million, $12.2 million, $0.0 million and #tmillion, respectively, related to the increasé¢he fair value of derivatives embedded wi
its preferred stock. In connection with the IPO pbteted in December 2010, preferred stock derivatiwere settled upon conversior
preferred stock to common stock, therefore, novdékies were outstanding at December 31, 2011 &id.2See Note 1Business ar
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” foret@ompany’s accounting policy related to derivaive
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Exhibit 10.%
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (“Agreementijcluding the attached Exhibits A and B, which amade a part hereof for all purpos
between RigNet, Inc. (“Company”) and Mark B. Slatagh(“Executive”) is effective as of February 2@12 (“Effective Date”).The Compan
and Executive agree as follows:

1. TERM AND POSITION: The Company agrees to employ Executive, and Eikecagrees to be employed by the Company, i
Positions and for the Term stated on Exhibit A.iBgithe Term of this Agreement, Executive shallatevhis full time and undivided attent
during business hours to the business and affatteedCompany, except for vacations, illness oapaxity; however, nothing in this Agreerr
shall preclude Executive from: (i) engaging in dtadrie and community activities, and (ii) managimg personal investments, provided
such activities in subparts (i) and (ii) do not erally interfere with the performance of his dsti@nd responsibilities under this Agreemr
The Board of Directors of the Company (“Boardhall give Executive written notice of any suchiaties that it reasonably believes materi
interfere with the performance of his duties hedmirand provide Executive with a reasonable pesfdéne to correct such interference.

2. COMPENSATION: While Executive serves in the Positions set fathExhibit A, Executives annual base salary, as set fort|
Exhibit A, shall be paid in accordance with the Qamy’s standard payroll practices for its executiffecers. Executives compensation as
employee of the Company shall also include annoalub opportunities and periodic loterm incentive awards, in cash and/or in Com
stock, as determined appropriate from time to thoyehe Compensation Committee of the Board or tbar8 itself, and pursuant to the te
and conditions set forth in applicable plan docutsen

3. BENEFITS: Executive shall be allowed to participate in etlmpensation and benefit plans and receive allyiitgs that th
Company makes available to its other similarly atiéal senior executives and also to participatdse employee benefit plans and progi
that the Company makes available to the Comaaxpiployees in general, subject to the terms anditons of applicable plan documel
Nothing in this Agreement is to be construed toigaie the Company to institute, maintain, or refrdiom changing, amending,
discontinuing any benefit program or plan, so lasguch actions are similarly applicable to theeced executives or employees, as applic

4. INDEMNIFICATION : In any situation where under applicable law tleenpany has the power to indemnify, advance expeonsesi
defend Executive in respect of, any claims, judgii€ines, settlements, loss, cost or expenseu(irng attorneysfees) of any nature relatec
or arising out of Executive’activities as an agent, employee, officer oraimeof the Company or in any other capacity inahhine is acting
serving on behalf of or at the request of the Camp@ “Claim”), the Company shall fully indemnify Executive to theximum exter
permitted by law and promptly on written requesinfr Executive advance expenses (including attornfses) to Executive and defe
Executive to the fullest extent permitted by lawlaess Executive has been grossly negligent or wlififengaged in misconduct in 1
performance or nonperformance of his duties thahésbasis for such Claim, which nonperformancdl shelude a failure of Executive
inform the Board of matters that cot




reasonably be expected, at such time, to be miyeimgurious financially to the Company. Furthdéxecutive shall not be entitled to ¢
indemnity or defense from the Company for any ctaimnought by Executive against the Company or famts brought by the Compa
against Executive. This contractual indemnificatairExecutive by the Company hereunder shall notidemed or construed as operatir
impair any other obligation of the Company respegrtExecutives indemnification or defense otherwise arising ofuthis or any othe
agreement or promise or obligation of the Compamjen any statute, articles of incorporation, bydaw otherwise.

5. D&O INSURANCE: The Company will obtain and maintain throughdut fTerm officer and director liability insuranceveoing
Executive in an amount believed by the Board todasonable for the Company, given its size andiies, but in no event shall the cover
for Executive be less (in amount or scope) tharctherage provided for any other officer or direaibthe Company. Such insurance cove
shall continue as to Executive after he has cetsé@ a director, officer or executive of the Compavith respect to acts or omissions
occurred prior to such cessation. Insurance contget by this Section shall inure to the benefiEgkcutive, his heirs and the executors
administrators of his estate.

6. BUSINESS EXPENSES The Company shall promptly pay all reasonable pmaperly documented business related exp:
reasonably incurred by Executive in the performarfdeis duties under this Agreement.

7. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT: The Company and Executive agree that either pagy, upon at least 30 days written notic
the other, terminate Executive’s employment; predidhowever, that Executiveemployment may be terminated by the Company &arst
only as provided below. Subject to Section 28 piplacable, as soon as practical, and not later 8tadays, following his termination date,
Company shall pay Executive (or, if applicable, &ixére’'s estate within 90 days of Executiveleath) (i) any earned but unpaid base si
(if) any accrued but unused vacation up to a marinod four weeks, plus up to the maximum unusedyeaver of vacation provided in t
Companys written vacation policy then in effect, and (ai) reasonable, properly documented, and unreisdslibusiness expenses incurre
him prior to his termination.

8. SEVERANCE PAY AND BENEFITSIin addition to the termination payments in Secfiprthe Company shall provide severz
payments to Executive as provided in this Sectiand, to the extent applicable, Section 9 below.

(a) Termination without Cause or Resignation foo@®&eason If the Company terminates Executisegmployment without Cause ¢
other than for death or Disability, or Executivemiéates his employment for Good Reason, the Cognphall pay Executive a Cash Sever:
Amount and provide Executive with the severanceebenset forth in subparagraphs (i) through (Mpbe(collectively, the “Severance Pagy”
The Severance Pay shall be subject to Section @2aithe extent applicable, Section 28.

(i) The Cash Severance Amount shall be the amaapr@vided in Exhibit A hereto. The Company shaly phe Cash Severar
Amount to Executive in a lump sum by wire transfarthe first day of the seventh month following teenination date.
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(ii) Provided Executive timely elects continued emge under the Compasygroup health plan pursuant to Section 4980B €
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“CqUEQPBRA”), the Company shall pay on Executigdiehalf the full premium required
such continued coverage elected for his applic&dBRA period but not to exceed 18 months; providemyever, such COBRA premit
shall be paid to Executive on a fully grossed-upratiax basis, if necessary for Executive not tsligiect to tax under Section 105 of the Code.

(iii) An amount equal to the annual bonus that widuhve been paid to Executive had he remained gebltihrough the end of t
calendar year in which his employment terminatede calculated based on the level of achievemfetiiteoCompanys financial targets und
the Company’s Management Incentive Program (orsarmgessor to such plan) (“MIP&t the end of the calendar year, provided than(y
such determination shall be made without applicatib any modifier that is based on individual pemfance, and (ii) such bonus amc
achieved, if any, shall be prorated based on diéracthe numerator of which is the number of daf£xecutives employment during tl
applicable calendar year and the denominator othvis 365. This prorated amount shall be paid dutire immediately following calenc
year, and not later than, when the MIP participanéspaid

(iv) If applicable, an amount equal to the unpaithwal bonus for the preceding calendar year thaildvbave been paid
Executive had he remained employed through theafatee bonus payments under the MIP for the pr&dendar year, which payment shal
made without application of any modifier that issed on individual performance. This amount shalpai in the calendar year in which
employment terminates, and not later than, wheiie participants are paid.

(v) During the 12- month period following Executigetermination of employment, the Company shall glevExecutive wit
outplacement services of Executive's choosingctie of which shall not exceed $20,000.

(b) Termination Due to Death, Disability, VoluntaResignation or by the Company for CauseExecutives employment is terminat
by the Company or Executive due to his Disabilityog the Company for Cause, or Executive dies durnarily resigns his employment w
the Company without Good Reason, then as soonaasiqal on or following his termination, the Compashall pay Executive or his estate
applicable, the salary and benefits listed in ®&ecTi of this Agreement If Executiveetermination is due to his death or Disabilityauhdition tc
the termination payments in Section 7, Executivehiar estate, if applicable, shall be entitled tdyothat Severance Pay provided ur
Section 8(a)(iii) and (iv), subject to Section 22dato the extent applicable, Section 28. If Exaels employment is terminated by
Company for Cause or Executive voluntarily resiffon the Company without Good Reason, Executivdl siod be entitled to Severance Pay.

(c) Definitions. The following are definitions of terms used iistand other sections of this Agreement.
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(i) Cause. “Cause” means (i) Executive’plea of guilty or nolo contendre, or convictiohaofelony or a misdemeanor involvi
moral turpitude; (ii) any act by Executive of fraaddishonesty with respect to any aspect of the@my’s business including, but not limii
to, falsification of Company records; (iii) Exeotdis intentional and continued failure to perform dhigies (other than by reason of an illnes
a disability); (iv) intentional engagement in misdoict by Executive that is materially injurious ttee Company (monetarily or otherwis
(v) Executives breach of Sections 12 or 13 of this Agreemern};cemmencement by Executive of employment withuanelated employe
(vii) material violation by Executive of any Compawritten policies, including but not limited to wmarassment and/or natiscriminatiot
policies; (viii) Executive’s gross negligence iretherformance of Executiveduties; provided, however, Executive shall notdbemed to ha
been terminated for Cause under clauses (ii) thrquij) above unless the determination of whetBause exists is made by a resolution
adopted by the affirmative vote of not less thamed¢Hourths of the entire membership of the Board (editlg Executive, if a member) a
meeting of the Board that was called for the puepofsconsidering such termination (after 15 days#ice to Executive and an opportunity
Executive, together with Executivetounsel, to be heard before the Board and, soregbly possible, to cure the breach that is tleged bas
for Cause) finding that, in the good faith opiniminthe Board, Executive was guilty of conduct cansihg Cause and specifying the particu
thereof in detail.

(i) Good Reason “Good Reason” means (i) a material adverse chan@aecutives position, authority, duties or responsibilit
(i) a reduction in Executive’ base salary or the taking of any action by theng@my that would materially diminish the annual tx
opportunities of Executive from those provided tee€&utive immediately prior to the Effective Datéi) the relocation of the Compary’
principal executive offices by more than 50 milesni where such offices are located on the Effechie¢e or Executive being based at
office other than the principal executive officdglte Company, except for travel reasonably reglirethe performance of Executigetiutie:
and reasonably consistent with Executs/gavel prior to the Effective Date, (iv) a maétbreach of this Agreement by the Company, otlg
failure of a successor to the Company to assumagneement. Executive shall provide written notieany such reduction, failure, changs
breach upon which Executive intends to rely asbhgis for a Good Reason resignation within 45 ddythe occurrence of such reducti
failure, change or breach. The Company shall h&velays following the receipt of such notice to resnehe condition constituting su
reduction, change or breach and, if so remedied,tarmination of Executive’ employment hereunder on the basis of the cirams!
described in such notice shall not be consider&bad Reason resignation. If the Company does noedg the condition that has been
subject of a notice as described in this paragnajthin 45 days of the Comparg/receipt of such notice, Executive must terminas
employment within 120 days following the occurreradesuch condition in order for such terminationb® considered for Good Reason
purposes of this Agreement.

(i) Disability . “Disability” means Executive (i) is unable to fmm substantially Executive’duties with the Company with
without reasonable accommodation as a result opaggical or mental impairment that is reasonakfyeeted to last for a continuous perio
not less than 12 months, as supported by a widghémon by a physician selected by Executive, aids(receiving longterm disability benefi
under the Company’s insured long-term disabiligrpl



9. COMPANY EQUITY: The provisions of this Section 9 are in additiorany rights of Executive under Sections 7 anah@® shall b
deemed to be incorporated into each Company eguwigrd agreement with Executive outstanding as efBffective Date and shall cont
over any provision in such award agreement thigisis favorable to Executive.

(a) If Executive terminates his employment for Gd®ebhson or Executive’employment is terminated by the Company for aaso!
other than Cause and such termination occurs witihinyears on or after the “change of control eyeas defined in the Treasury Regulati
issued under Section 409A of the Code (a “Chang€anftrol”), all Company stock options, restricted stock awanad any other Compa
equitybased awards of Executive automatically shall wedull notwithstanding anything in any award agremt to the contrary and,
applicable, shall remain exercisable for the tepectied in the applicable award agreement.

(b) If Executives employment with the Company ceases due to deddisability, all Company stock options, restrictgdck awards ai
any other Company equityased awards of Executive automatically shall irestill notwithstanding anything in any award agrest to th
contrary and, as applicable, shall remain exertasfain the term specified in the applicable awagteament.

(c) If any award of Company stock option, restidicstock or any other Company equltgsed award of Executive is not assume
continued by the Compars/successor after a Change of Control, such awdainatically shall vest and become exercisablecaqtyable i
full, as the case may be, on the date of the Chah@entrol.

10. NO OFFSET OR MITIGATION Executive shall not be required to mitigate theant of any payment or benefit provided for ul
this Agreement by seeking other employment or etlser nor shall the amount of any payment or benqebtided for in this Agreement
reduced as the result of his employment by anathgsloyer or his selémployment, except that any welfare severance patgr@ welfar
benefits that Executive is entitled to receive parg to a Company severance welfare benefit plariigployees in general shall reduce
amount of welfare severance payments and welfameftie otherwise payable or to be provided to Exgewnder this Agreement, but only
the extent they are duplicative and such reduaa@mplies with the requirements of Section 409Ahef Code.

11. PROMISE TO PROVIDE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION ANOTRADE SECRETS In connection with his employment with
Company under this Agreement, the Company pron@spsovide Executive with valuable Confidentialdmihation and Trade Secrets (defi
below) regarding the Company and its clients arslaruers or other third parties, which is not gelhekaown outside the Company and wt
gives the Company a competitive advantage. The @osnplso promises to provide Executive accesstaignts and customers and to pro
Executive the unique opportunity to develop bussnedationships with such clients and customeredyam the Company’s longtanding
relationship, reputation and goodwill with thesiiels and customers. Executive acknowledges thigipgeof, and continuing access to,
Confidential Information and Trade Secrets regaydime Company and its clients and customers, andsacto the Comparg/clients an
customers and the benefit of the Company’s Istagnding relationships, reputation and goodwilhwis clients and customers allows Exect
a unique opportunity and advantage in developirginass relationships with these clients and custemviich he would not have otherwn
had.




12. CONFIDENTIALITY :

(a) NON-DISCLOSURE. Executive recognizes and agrees that he will ls@eess to confidential information of a specialioique
value concerning the Company (“Confidential Infotima”). Confidential Information refers to any informatiompt generally known in ti
Business, which was obtained from the Company é&ndffiliates, or which was learned, discoveredveli@ped, conceived, originated
prepared by Executive in the scope of his employtiexecutive also recognizes that a portion oftibsiness of the Company is dependet
trade secrets (“Trade SecretXonfidential Information and Trade Secrets incluolg, are not limited to, any information, whethangible o
intangible and in whatever medium, relating dingcit indirectly to any proposed or existing bussmegstems, strategies and models, prog
acquisitions, joint ventures or other strategimsections, pricing strategies, technical data awkhow, finances, research, developm
clients, customers, prospective clients and custonoentractual relationships, markets, marketingusiness plans, manufacturing, persol
products, services, formulas, inventions, proces$esnulations, extracts, techniques, equipmentthous, designs, and drawings
engineering concepts of the Company and its dfffia whether created, produced, manufactured, \tised, licensed, utilized, unc
development or otherwise obtained by the Compardy iemaffiliates through contractual or other rilaships, as well as all informati
generated by the Company and its affiliates thatains, reflects, or is derived from such inforraatiwhich contains or otherwise reflects ¢
generated from such information and any other imfdion which is identified as confidential by therpany. Executive acknowledges
agrees that the Confidential Information and Tr&®berets the Company is providing Executive under #igreement is new Confident
Information and Trade Secrets to which Executive riit have access or knowledge of prior to sigivig) Agreement. The protection of t
new Confidential Information and Trade Secretswali as past Confidential Information and Trade r8ecthat became known to Execu
during employment with the Company up to the EffecDate, against unauthorized disclosure or ugé @sitical importance to the Compa
Accordingly, Executive agrees that he will maintamn confidence and shall not disclose or use, eithging or after the Term of tt
Agreement, any past or new Confidential Informatéond Trade Secrets belonging to the Company araffitiates, whether or not in writt
form, except to the extent required to performchiies on behalf of the Company.

(b) RETURN OF INFORMATION. All data, records and other written material pmegl or compiled by Executive, furnisl
directly or indirectly to Executive by the Compaawyits affiliates, or to which Executive may hawess while in the employ of the Comp:
shall be the sole and exclusive property of the @amy, and none of such data, documents or otherniaftion, or copies thereof, shall
retained by Executive upon termination of Execusvemployment. Executive shall deliver promptly te Company at termination, or at .
other time the Company may request, without retgirdiny copies, notes, or excerpts thereof, all manua, diaries, notes, records, plan
other documents relating, directly or indirectly,any Confidential Information and Trade Secretsienar compiled by, or delivered or mi
available to, or otherwise obtained by Executive.




(c) LEGAL OBLIGATION . In the event Executive is required by any coutegislative or administrative body (by oral quess
interrogatories, requests for information or docntagsubpoena, civil investigation demand or simileocess) to disclose any Confider
Information and Trade Secrets, Executive shall jpl@the Company with prompt notice of such requeetrin order to afford the Company
opportunity to seek an appropriate protective artfehe Company is unable to obtain or does neksich protective order and Executivi
in the opinion of counsel, compelled to disclosehsC@onfidential Information and Trade Secrets, Idmare of such information shall not
deemed to be a violation of this Agreement.

13. RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS As consideration for the provision of, and asagneement ancillary to receipt of, new Confide
Information and Trade Secrets to Executive anddtier undertakings in this Agreement, and for tpecdic purpose of enforcing t
provisions of Section 12 hereof, and as a meapsatect the Company’s goodwill, Executive herebseag to the following:

(2) NON-COMPETITION . To the maximum extent permitted by law, during Trerm of this Agreement and for a period of
years after the termination of Execu’s employment for any reason, Executive agrees Wititout the prior written consent of the Comp:
Executive shall not directly or indirectly, withthe Geographic Area, whether as an owner, emplafieer, director, investor, independ
contractor, consultant, or otherwise, in any jobction or capacity, participate or engage in theiBess, or work for or provide services to
person, partnership, entity, business, association¢orporation engaged or involved in the Businedthin the Geographic Area. T
Geographic Area means the states of Texas, Loaigpithin the parishes listed in Exhibit B), Coldega Wyoming, or any other state in
United States or any other country worldwide in eththe Company engages in Business on, or has etigagBusiness within two ye:
before, the date of Executive’s termination frora @ompany. Business means providing Internet pobioased voice, data and video netw:
and software application management services fishofe drilling companies, oil companies andfigld service companies. Nothing in t
Agreement prohibits Executive from owning a passimeestment interest of less than 5% in a publitigded company. Executi
acknowledges that the foregoing noompetition covenant may restrict his ability torlwdor certain companies, but that he will rec
sufficient monetary and other consideration frore ompany hereunder to justify such restriction #mat the restriction is reasonal
Executive acknowledges that he considers the céstrs contained in this Section 13 to be reas@abt necessary for providing consider
for his employment and for the purpose of presgrand protecting the valuable Confidential Inforimatand Trade Secrets of the Comg
and its clients and customers, and the Companysgwib, reputation, and relationships with its dlie and customers.

(b) NON-SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES. During the Term of this Agreement and for a periof two years after tl
termination of Executives employment for any reason, Executive shall rmthis own behalf or on behalf of any other pergmartnershiy
entity, association, or corporation, (i) hire oekéo hire any employee of the Company, (ii) in atltyer manner attempt directly or indirecth
influence, induce, or encourage any such emplof#eecCompany to leave such employment, or (ii§ asdisclose to any person,
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partnership, entity, association, or corporatiog exfiormation concerning the names, addresseqhelee numbers, mail addresses, or ott
personnel-related information regarding any suchleyees; provided, however, the foregoing shallprohibit any general advertising.

(c) NON-SOLICITATION OF CUSTOMERS. During the Term of this Agreement and for a periof two years after ti
termination of Executives employment with the Company for any reason, Etkeeshall not, for his own behalf or on behalfasfy othe
person, partnership, entity, association, or capon, solicit, transact, or attempt to transacsiBass with any person, firm or other entity 1
is or was a customer of the Company and with whorachtive (i) directly or indirectly managed, or hkdowledge of, business by -
Company, (ii) had contact or transacted businedsetwalf of the Company, or (iii) was involved im,lead knowledge of, the Company acti\
investigating with a view to conducting businessotively pursuing a plan to conduct business,esthe Effective Date of this Agreemen
two years prior to the termination of his employmesith the Company, whichever is shorter. Executienowledges that this restrictior
necessary in order for the Company to preservepastect its legitimate proprietary interest ingisodwill, client and customer lists, and o
Confidential Information and Trade Secrets; prodideowever, the foregoing shall not prohibit anygml advertising that is not directec
customers of the Company.

14. WORK PRODUCT:. Executive shall promptly and fully disclose t@ tGompany all Work Product which Executive concgj\seeate
or develops during his employment with the Companmtyether conceived or developed during regular wgrkours or otherwise and whet
on Company premises or otherwise. All such WorkdBod shall be the exclusive property of the Compdxecutive shall: (i) assist t
Company in obtaining appropriate legal protectimel(gding patent, trademark, and copyright protactifor the rights of the Company w
respect to such Work Product, and (ii) executedaluments and do all things necessary to (a) ofstach legal protection, and (b) vest
Company with full and exclusive title thereof. Allork Product shall be considered, to the maximuter@possible, work made for hire by
Company within the meaning of Title 17 of the Udit8tates Code. To the extent the Company doeswotsach Work Product as a w
made for hire, Executive hereby assigns to the Gompll rights to such Work Product. “Work Produntéans designs, writings, progra
software, technical data, specifications, knloow, processes, methods, business confidentialnrgtion, inventions, discoveries, and work
well as the patents, copyrights, and other intali@cproperty and proprietary rights therein, conee, created or developed by Executive
behalf of the Company reasonably related to the f@2omy's existing business, contemplated business, arsbmehle expansions of st
business. The term “worksheans computer programs, software, writings, drgsvimrtwork and all works of authorship under tbpyeight
laws of the United States.

15. SEVERABILITY AND REFORMATION: If any provision of this Agreement is held toibegal, invalid or unenforceable under i
present or future law, and if the rights or obligas of Executive or the Company under this Agreetmeould not be materially and advers
affected thereby, such provision shall be fullyesable, and the remaining provisions of this Agreetishall remain in full force and effect
shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid oremfiorceable provision or by its severance herefrand in lieu of such illegal, invalid
unenforceable provision, there shall be added aaiioaily as a part of this
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Agreement a legal, valid and enforceable provisismsimilar in terms to such illegal, invalid or aferceable provision as may be possible,
the Company and Executive hereby request the douwthom disputes relating to this Agreement arensttbd to reform the otherwi
unenforceable provision in accordance with thigtifacl5.

16. WARRANTY AND INDEMNIFICATION : Executive warrants that he is not a party to ather restrictive agreement limiting
activities in his employment by the Company. Exaeufurther warrants that at the time of the signof this Agreement, Executive knows
no written or oral contract or of any other impediththat would inhibit or prohibit continued empfoegnt with the Company. Executive sl
hold the Company harmless from any and all suitc@daims arising out of any breach of such restécagreement or contracts.

17. NONDISPARAGEMENT : The parties shall refrain, both during and aftexr Term, from publishing any oral or written staent:
about each other (including with respect to the Gany, its affiliates, or any of their respectivéiadrs, employees, agents, or representat
that are disparaging, slanderous, libelous, orrdefary.

18. NOTICES: Notices and all other communications shall baviiting and shall be deemed to have been duly givken personal
delivered or when mailed by United States regist@recertified mail. Notices to the Company shalldent to 1880 South Dairy Ashford, S
300, Houston, Texas 77077 attention: General CéuNsgices and communications to Executive shalksbet to the address Executive r
recently provided to the Company.

19. NO WAIVER: No failure by either party at any time to givetine of any breach by the other party of, or touiegcompliance witl
any condition or provision of this Agreement shedldeemed a waiver of any provisions or conditmfirthis Agreement.

20. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF: Executive acknowledges that the breach of arth@tovenants contained in Sections 12 and 13yivl rise
to injury to the Company. Accordingly, Executiveregs that the Company shall be entitled to injwectelief to prevent or cure breache
threatened breaches of the provisions of this Agesg and to enforce specific performance of theseand provisions hereof in any cour
competent jurisdiction, in addition to any othegdéor equitable remedies, which may be availdbiecutive further acknowledges and ag
that the enforcement of a remedy hereunder by viagjunction shall not prevent Executive from eagia reasonable livelihood. Execu
further acknowledges and agrees that the covermamisined herein are necessary for the protectfothed Companys legitimate busine
interests and are reasonable in scope and cohtetiting herein shall prevent either party from pimg a legal and/or equitable action age
the other party for any damages caused by sucigéreach of this Agreement.

21. ARBITRATION : Any dispute about the validity, interpretatioffeet or alleged violation of this Agreement (anlférable dispute)’
must be submitted to confidential arbitration inudton, Texas. Arbitration shall take place befoneeaperienced employment arbitr:
licensed to practice law in such state and selentadcordance with the Model Employment Arbitrat®rocedures of the American Arbitrat
Association. Arbitration shall be the exclusive ezip of any arbitrable dispute. The Company shall ladl fees, costs and
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expenses of arbitration, including those of Exe@utinless the arbitrator finds that Executive aediin bad faith and provides otherwise
respect to the fees, costs and expenses of Exeguytiovided, however, in no event shall Executieechargeable with the fees, costs
expenses of the Company or the arbitrator. Shoold @arty to this Agreement pursue any arbitrablepdie by any method other tl
arbitration, the other party shall be entitled éxaver from the party initiating the use of suchthod all damages, costs, expenses
attorneys’fees incurred as a result of the use of such metRotlithstanding anything herein to the contrargthing in this Agreement sh
purport to waive or in any way limit the right ofiyaparty to seek to enforce any judgment or degigio an arbitrable dispute in a cour
competent jurisdiction. Each party hereby irrevéganbmits to the exclusive jurisdiction of thetstand federal courts in Houston, Texas
the purposes of any proceeding arising out of Aigjigeement. However, this arbitration agreementlstatlapply to any claim: (i) for workers’
compensation or unemployment benefits; or (ii) ymPany for injunctive and/or other equitable refi@f unfair competition and/or the t
and/or unauthorized disclosure of Trade SecretSamfidential Information, including but not limited, matters described in Sections 12
13. With respect to matters referred to in thedoieg subparagraph (ii), the Company may seek and obtaimatjve relief in court, and th
proceed with arbitration under this Agreement.

22. RELEASE AGREEMENT: Executive agrees that, as a condition to recgitive Severance Pay, Executive shall execute arg
release agreement in a form provided by the Comfthey‘Release”)which shall include, without limitation, a waivencrelease of all clain
arising out of Executive’ service as an employee of the Company, its sialigisl or any of their affiliates and the termioatiof sucl
relationship. Such claims include all claims basadany federal, state or local statute, includirtheut limitation the Age Discrimination
Employment Act of 1967, as amended, Title VIl oé tBivil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Civijirs Act of 1866, the Employ
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amendet excluding all vested benefits and rights Exieeuhas under any employee ber
plans, and the Texas Commission on Human Rights Po¢ Company will deliver the Release to Executiuithin seven days followir
Executives termination. In order for Executive to receive 8everance Pay, the Executive must deliver a gdyopeecuted copy of the Relei
within the particular time period specified theraivhich shall be no later than 45 days following telivery of the Release to Executive (¢
deadline, the “ Release Deadlifig not revoke it, and any applicable revocation pergad forth in the Release must have exp
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Execut’s termination is due to death, or Executive di¢srdfis termination date and before the expir:
of the Release Deadline without having executed Reéease, the Release Deadline shall be extendedet®0th day after the date
Executives death. The properly executed Release must actialleceived by the Company, or its duly autharimpresentative, at the addi
specified by the Company by the Release Deadlineetoonsidered timely. If Executive (or Execute'state) does not properly execute
Release by the Release Deadline, or effectivelpkes the executed Release within the applicablecagion period set forth in the Rele:
Executive (or Executive’ estate) will receive only such compensation avtkebts as are required by Section 7 and applidalteand will no
be entitled to any Severance Pay.
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23. GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement will be governed by and constriredccordance with the laws of the State of Texdboul
regard to conflicts of law principles.

24. SUCCESSORS

(a) This Agreement is personal to Executive ancheut the prior written consent of the Company sinall be assignable
Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of ckast and distribution. This Agreement shall inwehe benefit of and be enforceable
Executive’s legal representatives.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit ofl &e binding upon the Company and its successarassigns.

(c) The Company shall require any successor (whetinect or indirect, by purchase, merger, congtiah or otherwise) to all
substantially all of the business and/or assete@fCompany to assume expressly and agree to petfis Agreement in the same manner
to the same extent that the Company would be reduio perform it if no such succession had takextel As used in this Agreeme
“Company” shall mean the Company as defined in this Agreerardtany successor to its business and/or assefsrasaid which assur
and agrees to perform this Agreement by operatidavoor otherwise.

25. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This instrument contains the entire agreemeriExacutive and the Company with respect to the st
matter hereof and all promises, representationdenstandings, arrangements, and prior and contempous agreements (written or ¢
between the parties with respect to the subjectembéreof, are terminated hereby, except that likexs obligations contained in Sections
through 16 of Executive’s August 15, 2007, Emplopin&greement continue in effect.

26. SURVIVAL/SEVERABILITY/HEADINGS:: It is the express intention and agreement optiréies that Sections 8 through 25, 27
28 of this Agreement shall survive the terminatafnthe Term. In addition, all obligations of the rBpany to make payments under
Agreement shall survive any termination of this égment on the terms and conditions set forth is thgreement. The invalidity
unenforceability of any one or more provisions i tAgreement shall not affect the validity or exfability of the other provisions of tl
Agreement, which shall remain in full force andeeff Article and section headings contained in Adseement are provided for convenie
and reference only, and do not define or affecttieaning, construction, or scope of any of the isioms of this Agreement.

27. TAX WITHHOLDING : The Company shall be entitled to withhold frony @empensatory payments that it makes to Execuiivke
this Agreement or otherwise all taxes required fyyliaable law to be withheld therefrom by the Compa

28. SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE

(a) General Suspension of Payment§ Executive is a “specified employeeds such term is defined within the meanin
Section 409A of the Code, any payments or bengéiy@ble or provided as a result of Executive’s teation of employment that would
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otherwise be paid or provided prior to the firsy dd the seventh month following such terminatiathér than due to death) shall instea
paid or provided on the earliest of (i) the firstycbf the seventh month following Executive’s temation, (ii) the date of Executive'death, ¢
(i) any date that otherwise complies with Codetim 409A. In the event that Executive is entittedeceive payments during the susper
period provided under this Section, Executive shatleive the accumulated benefits that would hasenbpaid or provided under t
Agreement within the suspension period on the estriiay that would be permitted under Section 4068the Code. In the event of any s
delay in payment, the deferred amount shall be pa& lump sum and shall bear interest at the LIB@f in effect on his termination d
until paid.

(b) Release Paymentdn the event that Executive is required to exeautelease to receive any payments from the Coynibex
constitute nonqualified deferred compensation urgkation 409A of the Code and Execut&/érmination date and the Release Deadlin
the end of the revocation period, if any) fall imot separate calendar years, any payments requireé tade to Executive (or Executive’
estate) in the earlier year that are treated aquudified deferred compensation for purposes ofeC8dction 409A shall be deferred and pa
the later calendar year. Any payments which arayeel under this provision shall be paid to Exeeuiiva lump sum not later than the dat
the Companys first full payroll cycle after the Release Deadli(or the end of the revocation period, if any) anany case not later than
end of the applicable month. Any payments thatdaferred pursuant to this provision shall bearrggeat the LIBOR rate in effect on
termination date until paid.

(c) Reimbursement Payment$he following rules shall apply to payments off @mounts under this Agreement that are treat
“reimbursement paymentsihder Section 409A of the Code: (i) the amountpiemses eligible for reimbursement in one calegdar shall nc
limit the available reimbursements for any othderdar year (other than an arrangement providinghfe reimbursement of medical exper
referred to in Section 105(b) of the Code); (ii)eExtive shall file a claim for all reimbursemenypeents not later than 30 days following
end of the calendar year during which the expemg® incurred; (iii) Company shall make such reinsement payments within 30 di
following the date Executive delivers written netiof the expenses to Company; and (iv) the Exeelstiight to such reimbursement paym
shall not be subject to liquidation or exchangedioy other payment or benefit.

(d) Separation from ServiceFor purposes of this Agreement, any referencietonination” of Executives employment shall |
interpreted consistent with the meaning of the tésaparation from serviceth Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and no pmmtof the
Severance Payments shall be paid to Executive farittre date Executive incurs a separation fromisemunder Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i).

(e) General Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreemeslating to the timing of any benefits or paymeintsthe exter
required to comply with applicable law, includingciion 409A of the Code, or to prevent the impositdf any excise taxes or penalties
Company or Executive, the commencement of paymerirovision of any payment or benefit shall be defé to the minimum exte
necessary so as to comply with any such law ovéidathe imposition of any such excise tax or pgnal

12



() Death. If Executive dies after his termination of empiwgnt but before all payments due under this Agreeihave been mac
such payments shall be made to Executive’s estate.

29. LEGAL FEES: The Company shall reimburse Executive for hisosable legal fees incurred in advising him witbpect to revie'
of this Agreement before signing.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Executive hexecuted this Agreement n multiple originals tcefffective for all purpost
as of the Effective Date.

RIGNET, INC. “E XeECUTIVE "

/sl MARTY JIMMERSON /sl MARK B. SLAUGHTER
Marty Jimmerson Mark B. Slaughter

This February 20, 201 This February 20, 201

13



Name:
Position:

Reporting:

Term:

Annual Base Salary:

Annual Bonus:

Equity Grants

Cash Severance Amou

Exhibit A
to Employment Agreement
between RigNet, Inc.
and the Executive Named Below

Mark B. Slaughter
Chief Executive Officer and President

Executive shall report solely to the Board of Dioes of the Company. All other employees shall repa
Executive, except: (1) the Chief Financial Offieerd the General Counsel, both of whom shall, intewhdto
reporting to Executive, also report to the Auditn@oittee of the Board; and (2) the Director of IntdrAudit
and the Internal Audit Department, which shall metirectly to the Audit Committee of the Board thvbnly at
administrative reporting line to Executi\

The Term of the Agreement shall continue untiltérenination of Executiv's employment for any reasc

$330,000.00. Executive’base salary may be increased from time to timead increased may not be therei
decreasec

Commencing on the first day of each calendar yéiteoCompany (each calendar year being a “Bonued8,
Executive shall participate in the Company’s anrh@ius program (Management Incentive Program oP*MI
for such Bonus Period, subject to the MIP’s terfhecutives target bonus potential for a Bonus Period sha
be less than 100% of his annual base salary. Tinep@oy shall pay Executive his bonus amount, if dog g
Bonus Period within four months of the end of sBadmus Period

Executive shall be eligible to receive periodic iggwgrants under the terms of the Comg's lon¢-termr
incentive plan with a value, to be determined ia sole discretion of the ComparyBoard of Directors or i
Compensation Committee, as applicable, ranging Bétrto 200% of Executivs Annual Base Salar

Two times the sum of (i) the amount of Executsv&drget bonus for the Bonus Period in which himteatior
date occurs and (ii) Execut’s then annual base sala

A-1



Parachute Tax Grc-Up:

In the event it shall be determined that any payn@rExecutive, whether under this Agreement oeptlise
would be subject to the excise tax imposed by 8ea&tbP99 of the Code, or any interest or penaltiesrecurre:
by Executive with respect to such tax (such tagetber with any such interest and penalties, haftei
collectively referred to as the “Excise Tax”), tt®mpany shall pay Executive a “Gross-Up Paymamtar
amount such that after payment by Executive oftatles imposed upon the Grddp- Payment, includin
without limitation, any additional Excise Tax onetlisrosstJp Payment, Executive retains an amount o
Gross-Up Payment equal to the initial Excise Taxci5GrosdJp Payment shall be paid no later than the
Executive is required to pay the Excise T
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Exhibit B
to Employment Agreement
between RigNet, Inc.
and the Executive Named in Exhibit A

The following parishes in Louisiana are includedha Geographic Area applicable to the non-comipatjrovision in Section 13(a).

Acadia

Allen
Ascension
Assumption
Avoyelles
Beauregard
Bienville
Bossier
Caddo
Calcasieu
Caldwell
Cameron
Catahoula
Claiborne
Concordia
DeSoto

East Baton Rouge
East Carroll
East Feliciana
Evangeline
Franklin

Grant

Iberia
Iberville
Jackson
Jefferson
Jefferson Davis
Lafayette
Lafourche

B-1



LaSalle
Lincoln
Livingston
Madison
Morehouse
Natchitoches
Orleans
Ouachita
Plaguemines
Pointe Coupee
Rapides

Red River
Richland
Sabine

St. Bernard
St. Charles
St. Helena
St. James

St. John

St. Landry
St. Martin

St. Mary

St. Tammany
Tangipahoa
Tensas
Terrebonne
Union
Vermilion
Vernon
Washington
Webster
West Baton Rouge
West Carroll
West Feliciana
Winn

B-2



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-171278 on Form S-8Registration Statement No. 333-
178506 on Form S-3, of our report dated March 7220elating to the consolidated financial statetmef RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (the

“Company”), and the effectiveness of the Compaimtsrnal control over financial reporting, appeagrin the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
RigNet, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2011.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Slaughter, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the‘Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttde a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madejisietading with respect
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementadimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of opgerst and cash flows of the Registrant as of, amdth® periods presented in 1
report;

The Registrans' other certifying officer and | are responsible égtablishing and maintaining disclosure contawld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatneg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isig prepared

b. designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataroece with generally accepted accounting princjj

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsatlisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures as of the end of the period coveyetiis report based
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Regit's internal control over financial reporting thatcored during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Reayigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrang’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxhon our most recent evaluation of internal @rdver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the RegistrastBoard of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknassethe design or operation of internal controéiofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Begistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /s/ MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: March 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Martin Jimmerson, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the‘Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttde a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madejisietading with respect
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementdadimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of opgerst and cash flows of the Registrant as of, amdth® periods presented in 1
report;

The Registrans’ other certifying officer and | are responsible dgtablishing and maintaining disclosure contawld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange ¢
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatreg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

b. designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princjj

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsatlisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures as of the end of the period coveyetiis report based
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Regit's internal control over financial reporting thatcorred during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Reayigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxhon our most recent evaluation of internal @rdver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the RegistrantBoard of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Begistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refioancia
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /s/ MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 7, 2012



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, Zddd with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parMark Slaughter, Chief Executive Officer ofdglet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 7, 2012 /sl MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, Zddd with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parMartin Jimmerson, Chief Financial Officer BfigNet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 7, 2012 /sl MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 99.1

= RigNet, Inc.
R I N et 1880 S. Dairy Ashford
Suite 300

always connected. mtr?g .’nB( o

March 5, 2012
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

IHS-Petrodata, Inc.
3200 Wilcrest Dr., Suite 170
Houston, Texas 77042

Re: Consent to Use of Data
Dear Sir or Madam:

RigNet, Inc. (“RigNet”) requests your consent ttecin its annual report on Form 10-K and any amagrts thereto, certain data
contained in &igBase Current Activitgdata download dated December 30, 2011. Furtherm@@lso request to cite IHSetrodata, Inc. as tl
source of such data.

If this is acceptable, please indicate your conseour use of the data by countersigning thigfefPlease email or fax the executed
consent to Martin Jimmerson at (281) 674-0101 atyrjanmerson@rig.net, and return the original axed consent to Martin Jimmerson at
1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texa3777 Please call the undersigned at (281) 674-@ittBany questions you may have.
Given the urgency of this request, your prompt aitien to this matter is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

RigNet, Inc.

/s/ Martin Jimmerso
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

CONSENT GRANTED:

IHS-Petrodata, Inc

By: /s/ Tom Marst
Name: Tom Marsl|
Title: Director, IO
Date: March 6, 201

1880 SOUTH DAIRY ASHFORD, SUITE 300, HOUSTON, TEXA3077 PHONE 281.674.0100 FAX 281.674.0101
http://www.rig.net




Exhibit 99.2

= RigNet, Inc.
R I N et 1880 S. Dairy Ashford
Suite 300

always connected. mtr?g .’nB( o

March 5, 2012
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

Spears & Associates, Inc.
8908 S. Yale, Suite 440
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74137

Re: Consent to Use of Data
Dear Sir or Madam:

RigNet, Inc. (“RigNet”) requests your consent ttedn its annual report on form ¥and any amendments thereto, certain data comt
in the December 201Drilling and Production Outlook Furthermore, we also request to cite Spears &diates, Inc. as the source of such
data.

If this is acceptable, please indicate your conseour use of the data by countersigning thigfefPlease email or fax the executed
consent to Martin Jimmerson at (281) 674-0101 atyrjanmerson@rig.net, and return the original axed consent to Martin Jimmerson at
1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texa3777 Please call the undersigned at (281) 674-@ittBany questions you may have.
Given the urgency of this request, your prompt aitien to this matter is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

RigNet, Inc.

/s/ Martin Jimmerso
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

CONSENT GRANTED:
SPEARS & ASSOCIATES, INC

By: /s/ John Speal
Name: John Spea
Title: President
Date: March 6, 201

1880 SOUTH DAIRY ASHFORD, SUITE 300, HOUSTON, TEXA3077 PHONE 281.674.0100 FAX 281.674.0101
http://www.rig.net




